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Cover photo The complete gumdigger and camp cook c.1911. Pos ing by the door of the 
Urlich bakery at Ahipara this digger is holding rounds of bread baked in his camp o en (at 

feet). Among his few household utensils were a tea-billy a shallow basin and a bucket (at 
rear). The frame of the shanty was made of tea-tree poles and bits of lumber covered o er 
with sacks sewn together. Additional shelter and privacy for the dwelling was often 
provided b erecting a tea-tree windbreak. Source: Alexander Turnbull Library Wellington 
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Introduction 

Publication in 1979 of Now Respected, Once Despised was groundbreaking. 
The fifst English language study of Yugoslavs (mainly Croatians) in New 
Zealand it demonstrated a need among members of a small, long-established 
immigrant group, and especially their descendants for a book about their 
history of immigration. It demonstrated also, within the official constraints of 
the time the availability of information with which to begin a celebration of 
particular successes, an examination of some features of the settlement 
process, and the daunting task of challenging popular �m�i�s�c�o�n�c�~�p�t�i�o�n�s� that 
had arisen and injustices that had occurred in the course of settlement. 

The number of published studies has increased substantially since 1979 and 
includes five books, a number of shorter monographs and uni ersity theses 
as well as a host of book chapters and articles in various academic journals 
and more popular magazines. Among the books there can be no doubt that 
Stephen Jelicich's From Distant Villages spanning a hundred years of 
settlement stands as a profusely illustrated signal achievement. That said, 
there can be no doubt also concerning the significance of: Senka Božic­
�V�r�b�a�n�
�i��� sTarara: Croats and Maori in New Zealand, a topic which had 
previously been elusive and shamefully neglected; Never Lost for Words an 
engaging collection of stories and personal memories by New Zealand-born 
author Amelia Batistich; The Winemaker: George Fistonich and the Villa 
Maria Story a well earned biographical celebration by Kerry Tyack and 
recently P.D. (Des) Mataga s The Stayers a carefully compiled register and 
other lists of Dalmatians who arrived before 1916 and settled in New 
Zealand. Nor should one ignore the value of shorter items such as: A Life 
Span a biography of Mate Glamuzina and his family by Jane Wordsworth' 
The Figs and the Vines: Gumdigging in Kaipara produced by the Dalmatian 
Pioneer Trust to mark the 1997 unveiling of Dargaville s gumdigger 
memorial' and Once Upon a Time There was a Maori and a Croatian edited 
by Annabel Whaanga for publication by the Te Whanau o Waipareira Trust. 

Finally the numbers of theses book chapters and articles in academic 
journals and popular magazines is too large to permit individual items to be 
mentioned here but they warrant careful attention for the often carefully 
researched insights they yield. Subjects covered by this diverse body of 
literature include: biographies of Croatian women in North Auckland the 
Croatian immi gr ant press studies of the fishing and wine industries 
gumdigging language change family genealogy immigration policy horse 
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Foundations 

racing, modern Yugoslavia s demise and related issues during the 1990s of 
both individual and inter-generational ethnic and national identity. I 

Two other developments need to be mentioned here. First is the "Papers 
Past" service administered by the National Library of New Zealand. 
Containing (as at December 2013) more than 3,000 000 pages of digitised 
material from 83 newspapers and periodicals published in cities and towns 
throughout the country over the period 1839-1945 it can be accessed on-line 
and is free of charge. A simple search procedure for a family name or subject 
yields within minutes a full list of references from the entire collection with 
the ability to print whatever is desired. To say that Papers Past" has 
revolutionised the nation s historical and genealogical research is not an 
exaggeration. 

The second development has been the 'Archway facility offered by 
Archives New Zealand. Available on-line it provides users with a listing of 
archival material held according to a nominated subject or topic indicating 
the level of availability and conditions of access. Copies of much of this 
material - for example historical probate files, bankruptcy files etc - may 
be ordered at a reasonable cost. A very important recent addition to 
'Archway has been the digitised version of personal military records held 
by Archives New Zealand for servicemen during World War L Hailed by 
historians and genealogists alike this material is also available on-line free 
of charge. Coupled with the publications outlined above these two 
developments leave little room for doubt about the material available for a 
new edition of the 1979 book in order to provide an up-to-date 
comprehensive integration of original research and the diverse findings of 
other researchers. 

With such a book as the objecti e work commenced in 2008 to collect and 
collate the research material and resources required. This task was more or 
less completed by the end of 2012. It quickly became clear that the book 
envisaged would be a major project of about 15 chapters. This would include 
extensively revised and expanded sections covering the gumdiggers enemy 
aliens (for military service during World War I) winemakers and 
orchardists community cultural and sports clubs the movement into towns 

I Readers interested in tracing particular items in this bod of research and other literature 
for the period 1980-2005 can do so ia bibliographic listings under the subject index 
headings of " Croatian s Dalmatians and Yugoslavs in successive olumes of New 
Zealand and International Migration: A Digest and Bibliography. See: Trlin and Spoonle 
(1986) Trlin (1992) Trlin and Barnard (1997) Trlin (2005) and Trlin and Bedford (20 l O). 
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Introduction 

and cities (especially into cafes and restaurants) and social integration or 
assimilation. However, new chapters would be required on the pioneers 
(1857-1880), farm in g and fishing, World War II and its community 
consequences, Yugoslavia's demi se and the repercussions during the early 
1990s, the second (New Zealand-born) generation and segmented 
assimilation (using interviews conducted in the mid -1990s) independent 
sporting achievements and contemporary celebrities. 

Writing began in 2010 with good progress made until the beginning of 2013 
when everything ground to a halt. A rapidly developing personal health 
problem was diagnosed as an aggressive brain tumour. Neurosurgery was 
required to accurately locate and reduce the tumour before aradiotherapy 
programme was started. The surgery and radiotherapy were successful but 
the side effects of the tumour and/or medical intervention included a 
significant loss of hearing a pronounced loss of the sense of physical 
balance the development of double vision and bouts of physical tiredness, 
all of which seriously affected my ability to work. A rethink on the scope of 
the book was unavoidable. With the future uncertain it was necessary to be 
utterly pragmatic and to limit the volume to five chapters dealing with the 
percei ed foundations of Croatian immigration and settlement as outlined 
below. 

Chapter 1 almost completely new, focuses on Croatian pioneers who arri ed 
from 1857 to 1880. It tackles questions the same as those which have 
challenged researchers investigating the immigration and settlement of 
pioneer Cro ati ans in other overseas destinations. U sing naturalisation 
records probate files other research material and especially the Papers 
Past resource, particular attention is given to: identifying individual 
pioneers by name birthplace and date of arrival· settlement location and 
employment· employment difficulties· marriage and family relationships· 
and to problems and difficulties encountered in old age. The chapter 
concludes with a discussion of the significance of pioneers in relation to 
subsequent immigration and settlement via the crucial process of chain 
migration. 

Chapter 2 a completely new chapter, presents 12 pioneer biographies to 
capture the rich detail of individual life stories. The selection of the pioneers 
featured was determined by two factors: first the quality and scope of 
available information· and second to gain recognition for those who have so 
far been ignored, to provide more detailed accounts of those who have 
already gained some recognition and to correct errors made by previous 
writers. In essence this chapter complements Chapter 1 and augments (with 
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Foundations . 

some necessary corrections) Chapter 7 of Steven lelicich s From Distant 
Villages. 

Chapter 3 on chain migrants is an amalgam revision and expansion of 
material published in two chapters in Now Respected, Once Despised. This 
chapter is crucial to an understanding of the foundations of settlement and to 
an appreciation of what followed. It has three objectives: first to identify the 
characteristics of migrants from the 1890s to 1939 and changes that have 
occurred' and second to show how the flow of arrivals and their 
characteristics has been shaped by ew Zealand s immigration restrictions 
and policies which have reinforced the process of chain migration. The 
chapter includes a detailed discussion of the causes of migration before 1914 
in order to correct a persistent belief that the a oidance of military service 
was the primary cause of migration rather than a complex set of factors that 
included a history of foreign control limited en ironmental resources 
population growth and the intrusion of new socio-economic values and 
aspirations. 

Chapter 4 focuses on the gumdiggers the occupation early Croatian arrivals 
have been most closely identified with and which has been romanticised as 
part of the settlement saga. An extensively re ised and expanded version of a 
previously published chapter. it has two objecti es: fust to correct the 
romantic iew of gurndigging' and second to identify the primary sources 
and causes of opposition to the gumdiggers which led to the introduction and 
impact of the K auri Gum Industry Act 1898. With regard to the fust 
objecti e particular attention is given to living and working conditions on 
the gumfields' religion, re cr ation and alcohol' earnings and hardships' 
occupational change necessitated by the volatility of gum markets and 
prices' and the life of omen on th gumfields. For the second objective the 
primary focus is upon th cau s of opposition by British diggers as well as 
small farmers reli ant on gumdigging to supplement household incomes and 
finance farm de elopm nt. but the role of ' racial or ethnic prejudice is 
another factor that cannot be o rlooked. Finally the pro isions of the Kauri 
Gum Industry Act are id ntifi d and their impact noted as a stimulus for 
citizenship via naturalisation and further occupational change. 

Chapter 5 focuses upon Croatians a Au trian enemy a1iens during the 
First World War. Prompt d b R v l Lochor s ill-informed summation of 
their military and Horn rvic 2 this chapt r - re is d and expanded to 
incorporate previousl una ailabl information - aim to put the record 

2 See Lochore (1 951 :43). 
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Introduction 

straight via two objectives. In pursuit of the first objective - identification of 
obstacles to and the actual record of military service - the chapter begins 
with an examination of ethnic tension on the gumfields and nationality as a 
barrier to enlistment. This examination concludes with a new section that 
reviews the military service record of two groups of recruits· namely 
Croatian immigrants and the New Zealand-born sons of Croatian pioneers or 
close followers. For the second objective - the Home Service record - the 
examination starts with the continuation of gumfield tension as Croatian 
immigrants were believed to take advantage of the absence of servicemen to 
demand higher wages, buy farmiand at low prices and to pose a threat to the 
families of absent servicemen. With nationality persisting as an obstacle to 
military recruitment attention is given to factionalism among Croatian 
leaders and the belated introduction of Home Service (drainage works and 
railway building) with the appointment of John Cullen as Commissioner in 
charge of Jugoslavs . Cullen s role and performance· s reviewed as is the 
actual record of Home Service. The chapter concludes with a look at loyalty 
internments and justice as well as the post-war repatriation of a number of 
those who were intemed. 

The book s Conclusion has three tasks. Of these the first is the con entional 
pro ision of a concise summary of the main fmdings for each chapter. In the 
course of executing the first task the second task is to brief1y note the 
influence of some of the main findings in relation to subsequent 
de elopments in Croatian immigration and settlement. Bearing in mind 
features and points arising from the first two tasks the third task for the 
benefit of readers keen to make a contribution is to identify aspects or topics 
concerning the foundations and beyond which are still in need of research. It 
hardly needs to be said that the second and third tasks are important to a 
healthy understanding and appreciation of the Croatian community s history 
and present position but the third task also has the potential to exercise a 
powerful influence upon the community s future vigor resilience and 
survi al in ew Zealand s evolving multicultural society. 

Place Names, Family Names, Dalmatians and Croatians 

Place names for islands towns and villages etc. are spelt in their proper 
roatian form with diacritical marks for the letters ��� �
� š and ž as in 
r �~�i�a���e� �K�o�r�
�u�l�a� and Pelješac. For family names however with one 

xc ption author Senka �B�o�~�i���- �V�r�b�a�n�c�i���)� the diacritical marks ha\ e been 
remo d - with or without the addition of an h - to broadly conform to the 

nglish spelling and pronunciation commonly used in ew Zealand b the 
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Foundations . 

person or family concerned. For example: �A�r�n�e�r�i��� becomes Arnerich' 
�B�o�n�a�a�i��� becomes Bonashic or Bonasich; and �`�t�i�g�l�i��� becomes Stiglich. 

Because the immigrants be they settlers or sojoumers have at various times 
been referred to as "Austrians Dalmatians", "Croatians' 'Slavs and 
"Jugoslavs it was decided to adopt the broad generic term "Croatians 
where possible to simplify matters to affrrm a common cultural identity and 
avoid unnecessary confusion. No slight is intended to those who for one 
reason or anpther pre fer to think of themselves purely and simply as 
"Dalmatians" . 
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1 
Pioneers 

On 30 April 1857 the frigate Novara, refitted earlier in the year at the 
shipyard s of Pula on the Istrian peninsula left Trieste for the first around­
the-world mission of the f1edgling Austrian imperial navy. Authorised by 
Archduke Ferdinand Maximillian with the permission of his brother 
Emperor Franz Joseph the voyage was primarily a scientific expedition as 
well as a sail-training exercise for the ship s crew and an opportunity to 
proclaim the Austro-Hungarian Empire s status as a world power. 
Commanded by Kommodore Bernhard von Wiillerstorf-Urbair the 
expedition - with seven scientists and 345 officers and crew of whom 175 
were Croatians from Austro-Hungarian territory on the Adriatic coast - took 
two years and three months to complete its voyage which included a short 
visit to Auckland (22 December 1858 to 8 January 1859). During this visit 
Dr Hochstetter, the expedition's geologist, examined and reported on the 
Drury coalfield so well that the Auckland Provinciai Government persuaded 
him to stay on for another nine months in order to conduct mineral 
geological and agricultural surveys of the Auckland and Nelson provinces.3 

The overall success of the Novara expedition was marked by high honours 
for some of the scientists significant advances in oceanographic research 
and contributions to geological research, while the collections of zoological 
botanical and cultural material assembled en route enhanced the reputation 
of Austria s museums.4 

During the voyage a Croatian sailor, Djordj �R�a�d�i��� died of dysentery near 
New Zealand s Stewart Island and was buried at sea on 14 September 1858. 
Three and a half months later, while the Novara was visiting Auckland 
another Croatian crewman Mato Cergonja died of heart failure. A letter to 
the editor of the Daily Southern Cross provides a succinct description of 
Cergonja s funeral: 

On Monday, January 3 rd, the boatswain of the jrigate (Novara who 
died on Saturday [lst January l859J after having received the 
sacraments of the Church, and all the consolations of religion, was 
interred in the Catholic cemetery [Grafton Gully]. The procession took 

3 See Fleming (20 l O) for a concise account of Hochstetter s work in New Zealand. 

4 See Scberzer (1863) for an authoritative account of the Novara o age. Modem reprints 
are a ailable via the internet. 
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place from the Albert Barracks. Two of the clergy of St. Patrick's 
Cathedral, the chaplain of the frigate, and six sanctuary pupils of the 
Cathedral, composed the clergy. The commodore, officers, the usual 
part of musicians, and a large number of the sergeants and privates of 
the frigate accompanied the deceased to the burial ground. The funeral 
rites were performed in a most impressive and edifying manner by the 
chaplain of the frigate assisted by the two curates of the Cathedra!. 5 

Although the deaths of �R�a�d�i��� and Cergonja are poignant markers of early 
Croatian contact with New Zealand the Novara s visit also gave rise in later 
decades to beliefs that it was closely linked with the beginning of Croatian 
settlement here. 

In particular it was believed that: one or more Croatian sailors deserted 
during the ship s visit to Auckland; and that many of the ship s young 
Croatian sailors on their return home were full of praise as they spread the 
,word about New Zealand among their kith and kin in villages along the 
Adriatic coast. 6 Neither belief stands up to scrutiny. Having examined the 
ship' s crew records Stephen J e1icich found that while desertions did occur in 
Rio de Janeiro Shanghai Hong Kong and Singapore no one deserted in 
Auckland.7 As for the second belief it has to be said that few (if any) of the 
Croatian sailors had a chance to see much of New Zealand and its 
opportunities that would induce others to come and settle. There is no 
evidence that they were welcomed ashore and hosted by unnamed fellow 
countrymen who could ha e been li ing in Auckland. They may of course 
have had plenty to say later about their limited shore leave experiences in 
pubs, the attractions of local women, celebrations of Christmas and New 
Year, contacts with the strange and fearsome Maori 8 and about some 

5 Daily Southern Cross 7 January 1859. p.3. 

6 Totich (1948) for example, asserted that: 
The Dalmatians, on returning to their home parts, "YI ere full ofpraise for New 
Zealand, and of the treatment received from its people, and in succeeding 
years many oung men resolved to go out to the new land and dig for the 
precious gum they had heard o much about. 

7 Jelicich (2008:26). 

8 Two Maori - Wirimu Toeto Tumohe (32 ears old) and Hemara Te Rerehau Paraone 
(aged 20) - were on board the avara when it departed from Auckland. It has been reported 
that the were at first depressed b shipboard life but soon became reconciled to it and fast 
became fa ourites with the crew' (Cameron 1958:206). Te Rerehau kept a journal hand­
written in te reo Maori that co ered a substantial part of their time awa . In Vienna they 
were placed in the Imperial-Ro al Printing House and trained in the skills of printing. When 
they returned to New Zealand after a two-year absence the brought with them a printing 
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1. Pioneers 

features of interest around the port. Like sailors on all naval vessels 
however they would otherwise have been kept busy with various 
maintenance or cleaning activities and subject to normal military discipline 
during their short visit. 

Other possibilities are that Croatian sailors visited New Zealand on wha1ing 
vessels during the early decades of the 1800s or deserted from Austrian 
lumber ships in Kaipara Harbour and other ports around Northland and the 
Coromandel Peninsula during the 1860s and 1870s. Once again, however 
there is no proof, nor any prospect of unequivocal proof one way or the 
other. Croatian sailors may, of course, have deserted from some of the 
hundred s of vessels calling at ports around New Zealand at thiE time. Here 
the evidence rests upon stories handed down by descendants and others 
concerning a handful of men such as: Francisco Violich, Paul Lupis and 
Martin Macale who are believed to have jumped ship. in the South Island; 
and Romolo Scopinich, who is said to have deserted from a ship at Great 
Barrier Island. Their stories are fascinating but fail to account for the 
appearance of dozens of other Croatian pioneers at about the same time and 
(with the exception of Paul Lupis) for the evolving nature and characteristics 
of Croatian settlement during the decades that followed. 

Bearing the above in mind one is still left with many questions concerning 
the foundations of Croatian settlement in New Zealand, questions much the 
same as those which have challenged writers deal ing with Croatian pioneers 
in the United States of America Canada, southern Africa and Australia. 9 

Who were the pioneers when did they arrive and why did they come? Where 
did they settle how did they earn a living and did theyendure any particular 
hardships? What do we know of their marriages and family relationships? 
Did they encounter any particular problems or difficulties during the last 
years of their lives? And finally how significant were the pioneers origins 
and their life in New Zealand to subsequent patterns of Croatian immigration 
and settlement? Answers to these questions are presented within the limits 
imposed by available information in the following pages and (from a 
biographical perspective) in Chapter 2. 

press and type that was used to publish a Maori language newspaper for the Kingitanga 
(King Movement). For further details on their lives experiences and role in printing for the 
Maori people see: Scherzer (1863)' Cameron (1958)' and a television documentary (The 
Flight of Te Hookioi) produced by Tearapa Kabi and Alexander Behse fITst screened on 
Maori Television 21 October 2009. 

9 For example see Prpic (1971) Eterovich CI 979) Mursal0 (1981) Rasporich (1982) and 
Šutalo (2004). 
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Names and Origins 

The first two known pioneers - William Jacob Marsh and Nicolas Viccovich 
both naturalised in New Zealand - arrived c. 1857, a year or more before the 
Novara visited Auckland. Nicolas Viccovich (possibly �V�i�c�k�o�v�i���,� �V�i�s�k�o�v�i��� or 
�V�i�a�k�o�v�i��� - he was illiterate and unable to sign his own name) was thought to 
be a Montenegrin when first identified as a pioneerIo because he was born in 
Cetinje, some 12km southeast of the port of Kotor on the Adriatic coast. 
Now, however there are at least three reasons to believe that he may have 
been a Croat: first, until 1918 Croats accounted for about 70 percent of the 
Kotor region' s population· second ethnic Croats are known to have settled 
across the borders of neighbouring regions or countries (notably 
Hercegovina Bosnia Serbia and Austria)· and third his surname (be it 
�V�i�c�k�o�v�i��� �V�i�s�k�o�v�i��� or Viško �i���)� appears in a number of central Dalmatian 
localities (e.g. Hvar Makarska and �T�u�
�e�p�i�)�.� 

The case of William Jacob Marsh on the other hand is clear cut. Like many 
Croatians in the United States and some in New Zealand he apparently 
changed or phonetically adapted his true name (unknown but possibly 
something like Vilim Jakob �M�a�r�a�i���)� to an English equivalent. What really 
matters, however is that William for the purpose of naturalisation in 1876 
declared he was born (c.1833) in Ragusa (i.e. Dubrovnik) and an 
'Austrian' national - contrary to a later belief that he was Hungarian by 
birth , . 11 Exactly why William Marsh and Nicolas Viccovich came to New 
Zealand is unknown but as both identified themselves as miners they were 
possibly among the first to seek their fortunes on the Nelson goldfields near 
Collingwood (where a small gold-rush occurred in 1857) before trying their 
luck in the 1860s on the goldfields of Otago and Westland respectively. 

A third significant pioneer Pa el (Paul) Lupis generally believed to be New 
Zealand s first Dalmatian settler is thought to have arrived a year after 
William Marsh and Nicolas Viccovich. Born at Nakovan on the Pelješac 
Peninsula Paul s date of arri al and some other details are open to question. 
His application for naturalisation granted in 1903 indicates that he was born 
c.1848 and arri ed c. 1866 at about 18 years of age. On the other hand his 

)0 See Trlin (1979:34-35). 

l) Don (1936:228). 
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1. Pioneers 

birth certificate states he was born in 1834 and it has been claimed that he 
went to sea at age 18, arriving in New Zealand in 1858 at age 24.12 

William Jacob Marsh 
Source: Don (1936) 

These discrepancies are troubling but may perhaps be explained by the fact 
that Paul (like Nicolas Viccovich) was illiterate and relied on someone else 
to fill in the required details for his naturalisation application. In completing 
this application Paul's declared duration of residence in New Zealand may 
ha e been calculated not on the basis of his date of arrival but in terms of his 
actual years of residence excluding time spent abroad on three long visits to 
Dalmatia during the 1880s and 1890s. Paul died at Mangawhai a small 
Northland settlement located northeast of Kaiwaka) in 1916 and his gra e 
was marked with a special headstone in 2008 to celebrate 150 years of 
Croatian settlement in New Zealand. 

12 lelicich (2008:35). 

11 

1. Pioneers 

birth certificate states he was born in 1834 and it has been claimed that he 
went to sea at age 18, arriving in New Zealand in 1858 at age 24.12 

William Jacob Marsh 
Source: Don (1936) 

These discrepancies are troubling but may perhaps be explained by the fact 
that Paul (like Nicolas Viccovich) was illiterate and relied on someone else 
to fill in the required details for his naturalisation application. In completing 
this application Paul's declared duration of residence in New Zealand may 
ha e been calculated not on the basis of his date of arrival but in terms of his 
actual years of residence excluding time spent abroad on three long visits to 
Dalmatia during the 1880s and 1890s. Paul died at Mangawhai a small 
Northland settlement located northeast of Kaiwaka) in 1916 and his gra e 
was marked with a special headstone in 2008 to celebrate 150 years of 
Croatian settlement in New Zealand. 

12 lelicich (2008:35). 

11 



Foundations 

Another 94 pioneer arrivals have been identified for the period 1860-1880 
(see Table 1). All but one of these men were identified by name birthplace 
and nationality using the Register of Persons Naturalised in New Zealand 
before 1948 and then retrieving their individual naturalisation records from 
among those held by Archives New Zealand in Wellington. Further 
information about some of them was obtained from Ilija Šutalo s book 
Croatians in Australia. The tally of 94 additional arrivals however needs to 
be treated with caution as the actual total was probably much higher. Why? 
Because �n�o�~� all of the early arrivals remained in New Zealand or had a 
compelling reason to bother with naturalisation, and when those who didn t 
become naturalised British subjects departed these shores (or died) very few 
left any records of their arri al and departure dates or traces of their activities 
while here. 

Good examples to illustrate this point are Thomas Pavletich John Pavletich 
Michael Bogdan and Vincent Vragnizan. John and Thomas Pavletich were 

. either brothers or cousins and had previously worked in Australia. Thomas 
arrived in Dunedin in 1862 where he remained as a successful hoteli er until 
his death in 1877. There is no evidence that he applied for naturalisation 
(though he may ha e been naturalised in Australia) but he left ample 
evidence of his presence and activities (see Chapter 2). On the other hand 
John Pavletich pop s up and immediately drops out of sight when his 
partnership with Francisco Violich as co-proprietor of the Commercial Hotel 
at Little Grey Junction Westland was dissolved in March 1872. I3 There is 
no sign that John applied for naturalisation and no record has yet been found 
of when he arrived in or departed from New Zealand (perhaps returning to 
Australia). Much the same can be said about Michael Bogdan; on 25 October 
1866 he married Caroline Alison (of Edinburgh Scotland) in Westland and 
two months later gave notice that his Stafford Town hotel partnership with 
'Raimond Pasthick was dissolved. It appears that Michael remained as the 
Welcome Hotel owner funded improvements and an extension to the 
building but left his wife to manage it while he pursued interests in mining.14 

Again like John Pa letich there is no evidence that Michael applied for 
naturalisation nor any record of either his date of arrival or departure but he 

13 Grey River Argus 27 March 1872, p.3. For details on the life of Francisco Violich see 
Chapter 2. 

14 See: West eoas! Times, 30 October 1866 p.2 (re marriage)' 28 December 1866 p.3 (re 
dissolved partnership)" 12 October 1867 pA (re improvements to and enlargement of 
Welcome Hotel)' and 4 October 1867, pA (re court case where Bogdan is successful as the 
plaintiff in a matter of illegal possession of a share in a mining claim). 
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1. Pioneers 

is known to have arrived in Australia in 1873 where he lived and worked as a 
gold-miner in New South Wales. IS The fmal example here is that of Vincent 
Vragnizan, a miner on the Thames goldfields during the late 1860s and early 
1870s. When he arrived is unknown but in 1869 he obtained a Miners Right 
licence to work in the Waikawau area and was a listed shareholder for 
registration of the Tapu Evening Star Gold Mining Company.16 The last we 
hear of Vincent is in a public notice at the beginning of 1873. Placed by his 
relation Peter Vragnizan (see Chapter 2) the notice states: 

l hereby caution all persons from negotiating a bill of exchange drawn 
by me and accepted by Vincent Vragnizan the same being an 
accommodation bill without consideration.17 

In layman s terms, a written order had beeninade by Peter and accepted by 
Vincent for payment of an accommodation account. Vincent may have 
returned to Dalmatia or moved on to Australia, the United States or 
elsewhere. While there were probably a number of others like Thomas 
Pavletich who stayed but were never naturalised there were undoubtedly 
many sojourners like John Pavletich Michael Bogdan and Vincent 
Vragnizan about whom little or nothing is known. 

It must also be acknowledged here that another (probably very small) group 
of pioneer arrivals - about whom even less is known - consists of persons 
wholly or partly of Croatian descent born outside of Croatia who may 
likewise have had no reason or need to bother with naturalisation. A good 
example is that of Peter Daves Covich. Born in Malta c.1836 of unknown 
parentage but possibly the son or grandson of a Dalmatian sailor or merchant 
plying his trade in the Mediterranean Peter arrived about 1864 and appears 
to have lived for all or most of the time in or near Christchurch. He traded as 
a grain merchant under the name of Peter Daves initially in a partnership 
and then on his own after the partnership was dissolved in July 1878. 
Bankrupted in August 1879 but discharged of his debts in April 1881 Peter 
died of pulmonary phthisis (tuberculosis of the lungs) in June 1883 aged 

15 Šutalo (2004:241). According to Šutalo Michael Bogdan (a.k.a. Bogden) was born in 
Dubrovnik. 

16 See: www.KaeLewis.com· GoldminersofNewZealand1861-1872 (reMiner.sRight 
licence)· and Daily Southern Cross 2 November 1869 p.S (re Tapu E enin g Star Gold 
Mining Company). 

17 Auckland Star 7 January 1873 p.3. 
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47 years. Leaving an estate valued at less than f21 O, he was survived by wife 
Sarah Daves Covich (nee Buckett) and four daughters. 18 

Finally, it should be noted that although the Register of Persons Naturalised 
in New Zealand before 1948 is invaluable for migration research it is not a 
complete catalogue of all persons naturalised prior to 1948. Missing from the 
Register are some indi iduals known to have been naturalised between 1900 
and 1948.19 Common sense therefore suggests that a number of persons 
naturalised pre-1900 and in particular between 1850 and 1880, may also 
have been omitted. 

Table 1: The Pioneers, 1857-1880 

Arrived Name** Birthplace*** Naturali ation 
(est.)* 

Date Age Occupation Re idence 

1857 MARSH William Ragusa [Dubro nikl 1876 43 Miner Teviot, Otago 
Jacob 
VJCCOVlCH, Cettinge [Cetinje m. 1887 53 Miner Lyell , Westland 

icolas Boko Kotor ka] 

1860 MIKOZ, Giaccomo Buccari [Bakar m. 1899 53 Labourer Greymouth, 
Rij ka] Westland 

RADOVE icolo Oulban [? Albona 1881 44 heep farmer MacKenzie 
now Labin, Istra] Country, 
m. Tri t Canterbury 

, JOLICH, CaJlamona 1877 34 Miner Greymouth 
Franci co [Kolo ep nr. Westland 

Dubro nikl 

1861 BEANOVJTCH, Fil.lme [Rijeka] 1894 54 enler Auckland 
Mark 
CARO. an1U I Zara [Zadar] 1898 71 Labourer Port halmers, 

Dunedin 
CVl , Andre .. Li a [ tok Vi ] 1879 �~�2� Fishmonger Dunedin 
MARTIN , Giusepp Li a [Otok Vi] 1884 48 Min r Reefton 

Westland 
ZVPPlClCH, Antonio DaJmatia n.o.s. 1898 57 Farmer Wooden d, 

Canterbury 

18 See: The Press 27 o ember 1877 p.l adverts co1.S· 23 Jul 1878 p.l ad verts col.8· 26 
August 1879 pA ad erts co1.7; 21 September 1880, p.3· and 12 March 1881 p.1 ad verts 
co1.8 (for details of Peter Da es Co ich s business acti ities, partnership dissolution 
bankruptcy and discharge of debts). Details of his birthplace death estate value, 
marriage/relationship and family are as recorded in his death certificate (registration number 
1883004104) and probate file (Archi es New Zealand reference: CH 171 CH808/l883). 

19 For example the author s father Mate Trlin) who was naturalised in 1937. 
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1. Pioneers 

Arri ved Name** Birthplace*** Naturalisation 
(est.)* 

Date Age Occupation Residence 

1862 BEROZ Giovanni Nerezy �[�N�e�r�e�~�i�a���a�,� 1882 54 Miner Hokitika, 
Island of �B�r�a�
�]� WestJand 

CARINA, Thomas Portore [Kraljevica 1868 31 Publican Whitianga, 
m Rijeka] Coromandel 

JURlSS Anthony Spalato [Split] 1906 73 Sailmaker Christchurch 
MATHEWSON, Com isa [Komiža, 1902 -8 Labourer Port Chalmers 
Mathew Island of Vis] Dunedin 
PAVLETICH, Buccari [Bakar m . ot applicable 
Thomas Rijeka] 
PETRONIO, Peter Not stated 1884 58 Miner Maori Gully, 

Westland 
SARGOGNA, Fiume [Rijeka] 1874 42 Ferryman L eli Westland 
Giuseppe 
VITAGLICH , Comisa [Komiža 1887 50 Labourer Westport, 
Simeone Island of Vis] Westland 
VUCETICH, Lesina [Is land of 1870 31 Farmer Ashle district, 
Giorgio Hvar] Canterbury 
VUKOTA, Juan Ragusa [Dubrovnik] 1882 44 Fishmonger L ytte I ton 
(John) Canterbury 

1863 COV ANCEVICH Dalmatia n.o.s. 1869 30 Licensed Hokitika, 
Mitchell [poss. Island of victualler Westland 

Hvar] 
HARACICH Mark Lussinpiccolo [Mali 1899 66 Stevedore Port Chalmers, 

Lošinj Island of Dunedin 
Lošinj] 

KATTA, Francis Trieste 1900 54 Draper Stratford 
Taranaki 

MOLOSOVlCH, Cutti E?] 1902 65 ettler Maori Creek. 
Chris. Westland 
PERIN, Antonio Berbigno [Brbinj , 1870 31 Butcher Greymouth 

Dugi Island] WestJand 
SUPERINA, Francis Fiume [Rijeka] 1887 44 Goldminer Dungan ille, 

Westland 
TOMANOVICH , Cattaro [Kotor, 1909 74 Miner Gibbston, Otago 
Pietro Boka Kotorska] 
VRAGNIZAN, Peter Cittavecchia 1871 31 Storeman Auckland 

[ tari grad Island of 
H ar] 

1864 DUIMOVICH , Trieste 1901 72 Gumdigger ea es ille, 
Vincent Coromandel 
GARGLIECEVICH Vri snich [prob. 1908 69 Miner Go1dsborough, 
John Vrisnik, Island of Westland 

Hvar] 
OBUGLIEN Antonio Ragusa [Dubrovnik] 1870 31 Settler Onehunga. 

Au k.1and 
POPOVI CH, Vincent Dalmatia n.o .. 1899 64 Miner Go1dsborough 

[prob. 1!.land of Westland 
H ar] 

ARICH Antonio Tri este 1899 60 Miner Thames. 
Coromandel 

E TCH, Nicolas Fiume [Rijeka] 1902 61 Telegraph Waipu, orthland 
linesman 

VINCENT John Dalmatia n.o.s. 1869 42 Licensed Hokitika, 
i ctu all er WestJ an d 
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FoundatiQns 

Arrived Name** Birthplace*** Naturalisation 
(est.)* 

Date Age Occupation Residence 

1865 ace Bazio l?] 1896 58 Miner Call aghans, 
Westland 

GROSSI, Braggio Perasto [perast, 1899 68 Fisherman Nelson 
Boko Kotorska] 

ROSE, John Fiume [Rijeka] 1903 65 Carpenter Caversham, 
Dunedin 

COPINICH, Romolo Lucerne [Island of 1894 55 Fisherman Batley orthland 
Lošinj] 

1866 ARNERICH, Paul Brazzo [Island of 1884 48 Miner Goldsborough, 
�B�r�a�
�]� Westland 

DARBY, Joseph Dalmatia n.o.s. 1904 65 Fisherman Appleb , Nelson 
LUPIS Paul akarona 1903 55 Gumdigger Auckland 

[Nako an, Pelješac] 
RADOV[NICH. Citta ecchia 1890 53 Labourer Lyttelton, 

icholas [ tarigrad. Island of Canterbury 
H ar] 

SIMOTICH, Mariano ot spec. [probo 1882 44 Mariner Lyttelton 
Opatija m. Rijeka] Canterbury 

VOCASSA VICH ot pee. [prob. 1886 46 Goldminer Goldsborough, 
Andrew Kotor, Boko Westland 

Kotorska] 

1867 Zlarin [1sland of 1901 69 Miner 
Zlarin nf. Šibenik] 

D1AMANTE, Loui Bueeari [Bakar m . 1899 53 Miner Kumara, 
Rijeka] Westland 

PO CHICH, 010 ea [Volo ko 1899 48 Miner and Canoe Creek, 
Ra mond m. Rij ka] farmer Westland 

1868 UA, amuel 1901 65 Fisherman Ri erton, 
Southland 

SCOPTNICH. John Lu sin [1sland of 1883 41 Miner Foxes Westland 
Lo inj] 

VlSCOVICH, Jo ph I tria [probo Labin, 1882 37 Mariner Port Chalmers 
Istra] Dunedin 

VUCA OVICH, Cotora [Kotor 1891 44 Goldminer Kumara 
Tripo Boka Kotor ka] Westland 

1869 BLASCH, Carlo Fiume [Rijeka] 1880 37 Miner Coromandel 
M1THELEH, Rago a [? Ragusa, 1899 66 Miner Greymouth, 
icholas Dubro nikl Westland 
TIGLEY. Frank Trie te 1882 38 Labourer Ashburton, 

Canterbury 
TADICH , amuel Li a [Island of Vis] 1881 35 Miner Goldsborough 

Westland 

1870 BOGDAN. Anton Juliana [?] 1910 74 Labourer Bab Ion, 
orthland 

INGER, Bela uko ar 1874 29 Warehou eman Dunedin 

1871 GELLETY, Anton ' 1883 33 Labourer Lyttelton, 
anterbury 

TIGLICH. Antonio 1904 62 Dealer Dunedin 
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Arrived Name** Birthplace*** Naturalisation 
(est.)* 

Date Age Occupation Residence 
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PO CHICH, 010 ca [Volo ko 1899 48 Miner and Canoe Creek, 
Ra mond nr. Rij ka] farmer Westland 

1868 LlA, amuel 1901 65 Fisherman Ri erton, 
Southland 

SCOPTNICH. John Lu sin [1sland of 1883 41 Miner Foxes Westland 
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1. Pioneers 

Arrived Name** Birthplace*** Naturalisation 
(est.)* 

Date Age Occupation Residence 

1872 TARABOCHIA, Lussinpiccolo [Mali 1890 38 Labourer Wellington 
Thomas Lošinj, Island of 

Lošinj] 

1873 PUP]CH Theodore Herzegovina n.o.S. ]896 41 Miner L eli, Westland 
VOCASOVITCH, Cotaro [Kotor, 1905 58 Labourer Reefion, 
Thomas Boka Kotorska] WestJand 

1874 ARNERICH, Simon Brazza [Island of 1884 33 Miner Goldsborough, 
�B�r�a�
�]� WestJand 

DEVESCOVI, Istria [probably 1887 37 Goldminer DiJlm anstown 
Antonio Rovinj, Istra] Westland 
PARTEL Giacomo Ziano [?Zizano, 1903 52 Labourer • Rothesay 

Island of Žižanj Of. Dunedin 
Pašman] 

TOKAECH Louis Trieste ]887 32 Mariner apier, Hawkes 
Bay 

1875 BOCOY, Antony Dalmatia n.o.s. 1887 26 Labourer Carterton, 
Wairarapa 

LOUS]CH, Louis Trieste 1900 49 Storekeeper Kumara, 
WestJand 

RANZI , John Dalmatia n.o.s. ]887 37 Labourer apier. Hawkes 
Bay 

SME1TH James Cherso [lsland of 1899 54 Labourer BaJclutha, Otago 
Cres] 

TANICH John Kastua [?] m. 1899 45 Miner Wellington 
Trieste 

ZEA TECH, Joseph Lagosta [lsland of 1885 40 Boardinghouse Eltham. Taranaki 
Lastovo] keeper 

1876 BACOVICH, erezy �[�N�e�r�e�~�i�a���e� 1890 34 Labourer Hunterville 
Jerome Island of �B�r�a�
�]� Manawatu 
HARLIWICH , Zakotorac, Pelješac 1894 37 Miner Roxburgh, Otago 
Matthew 
POLLY A, George Ragusa [Dubrovnik] 1887 39 eaman Greymouth. 

Westland 
RAGOSfN John Trieste 1896 60 Sailmaker Rangiora, 

Canterbury 
SIMICH Charles Dalmatia [? Igrane 1894 39 Fisherman Helens ille, 

or �T�u�
�e�p�i� m. orthland 
Makarska] 

STANICH, John Gasbum [?] 1886 30 Goldminer Foxes, WestJand 
VLACH , Antonio Dalmatia n.o.s. 1889 35 Goldminer Dill m an stown , 

WestJ an d 
VlDULICH , John Lussin [Lošinj] ]890 37 Labourer Lyttelton. 

Canterbury 

1878 ARN RICH, Paolo Brazza [Island of 1884 31 Miner Goldsborough 
G. �B�r�a�
�]� Westland 
GEORGE, William Zagreb 1908 52 Miner BlackbaJI, 

Westland 
GO PODNETICH, Dol [Dol , Island of 1893 33 Miner Westport 
Frank �B�r�a�
�]� Westland 
MACALE , Martin Sebenico [ ibenik] ]925 69 Farmer Tuturau, 

outhland 
EPIO Antonio Trieste 1891 38 Miller Riccarton, 

Canterbury 
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Foundations 

Arrived Name** Birthplace*** Naturalisation 
(est.)* 

1879 

1880 

* 

** 

*** 

VELLA, Mariano 

BEROZ. John 

FELICE, Ouze 

GASPARlCH, 
Antonio 
LUPI . Florius 

LU SICH, icholas 
MOHOVICH 
Antonio 
POBER Joani 

TillA , Frank 

BO A ICH. John 
STRETZ, John 

Date Age Occupation 

Macar ca 1896 41 
[Makar ka nr. Split] 

ezzi [?Knezze? 1908 46 
po . Kneže, Is. of 
�K�o�r�
�u�l�a�]� 

Lussinpiccolo [Mali 1899 65 
Lošinj, Island of 
Lošinj] 
Parenzo �[�p�o�r�e�
 �,� 1887 29 
Istra] 
p Iješac 1912 44 

t. Juan [?] 1893 36 
Moschenze [? 1884 27 
Mo ���e�n�i�c�e �,� I tra] 
Fiume [Rijeka] 1908 68 

Buccari [Bakar nr. 
Rijeka] 

1890 32 

1899 50 
1890 42 

heepfanner 

Miner 

Mariner 

Boatman 

Fisherman 

toreman 
Labourer 

ail or 

Fisherman 

Labourer 
Fisherman 

Re idence 

Mana Island, 
Wellington 

Hokitika, 
Westland 

Coromandel 

Oargaville, 
orthland 

Whitianga, 
Coromandel 
Auckland 
Ak aro a, 
Canterbury 
Mitchelltown 
Wellington 
Taumutu, 
Canterbury 

Wellington 
Taumutu, 
Canterbury 

The date of arrival is based upon the length of residence in New Zealand as declared in 
an individual s natura1isation file. Since such declarations are reliant on memory and 
were often made man ears after the event they may be subject to some error and 
rounding off (e.g. 15 y7 ears becoming either 15 or 16 years). The date of arrival 
therefore must be regarded as an estimate. In some cases the estimate has been 
corroborated b additional information included in the migrant s naturalisation file or 
other sources (e.g. newspaper reports records held by descendants). 

Many of these pioneers probably had (at best) a rudimentary command of English and 
some were illiterate unable to sign their own name but made a mark witnessed by an 
approved person. There is therefore an obvious need for caution with regard to the 
correct spelling of surnames and the accurate recording of other details by persons 
unknown. Where possible and appropriate the spelling of a sumarne has been amended 
here to conform to the spelling commonly used in New Zealand by the person 
concerned (Sentsch = Sentch' Tarabachea = Tarabochia' Harle it ch = Harliwich' 
Simmich = Simich; and Bonashic = Bonasich). The twelve pioneers whose names are 
highlighted in bold type (e.g. MIKOZ, Giaccomo) are featured with biographic 
profiles in Chapter 2. 

The strong Italian influence upon Dalmatia and Istria is reflected in the use of Italian 
place names b almost all of these pioneers. Where possible the modem Croatian place 
name has been included in parentheses. 

Source: Naturalisation files held at Archives New Zealand National Office Wellington. 

18 

Foundations 

Arrived Name** Birthplace*** Naturalisation 
(est.)* 

1879 

1880 

* 

** 

*** 

VELLA, Mariano 

BEROZ. John 

FELlCE, Ouze 

GASPARlCH, 
Antonio 
LUPl . Florius 

LU SI CH, icholas 
MOHOVICH 
Antonio 
POBER Joani 

THJA , Frank 

BO A ICH. John 
STRETZ, John 

Date Age Occupation 

Macar ca 1896 41 
[Makar ka nr. Split] 

ezzi [?Knezze? 1908 46 
po . Knde, Is. of 
Korcula] 
Lussinpiccolo [Mali 1899 65 
�L�o�~�i�n�j �,� Island of 
�L�o�~�i�n�j�]� 

Parenzo [porec, 1887 29 
Istra] 
P IjeSac 1912 44 

t. Juan [?] 1893 36 
Moschenze [? 1884 27 
Mo cenice, I tra] 
Fiume [Rijeka] 1908 68 

Buccari [Bakar nr. 
Rijeka] 

1890 32 

1899 50 
1890 42 

heepfanner 

Miner 

Mariner 

Boatman 

Fisherman 

toreman 
Labourer 

ail or 

Fisherman 

Labourer 
Fisherman 

Re idence 

Mana Island, 
Wellington 

Hokitika, 
Westland 

Coromandel 

Oargaville, 
orthland 

Whitianga, 
Coromandel 
Auckland 
Akaroa, 
Canterbury 
Mitchelltown 
Wellington 
Taumutu, 
Canterbury 

Wellington 
Taumutu, 
Canterbury 

The date of arrival is based upon the length of residence in New Zealand as declared in 
an individual s naturalisation file. Since such declarations are reliant on memory and 
were often made man ears after the event they may be subject to some error and 
rounding off (e.g. 15 Y7 ears becoming either 15 or 16 years). The date of arrival 
therefore must be regarded as an estimate. In some cases the estimate has been 
corroborated b additional information included in the migrant s naturalisation file or 
other sources (e.g. newspaper reports records held by descendants). 
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unknown. Where possible and appropriate the spelling of a surname has been amended 
here to conform to the spelling commonly used in New Zealand by the person 
concerned (Sentsch = Sentch' Tarabachea = Tarabochia' Harle itch = Harliwich' 
Simmich = Simich; and Bonashic = Bonasich). The twelve pioneers whose names are 
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1. Pioneers 

Names 

With the above in mind, attention can now be turned to the pioneers listed in 
Table 1. Some of these men from central Dalmatia are well known for their 
role as founders of Croatian settlement in New Zealand (e.g. Paul Lupis 
Paul Arnerich and Mariano Vella). Others because of where they settled and 
the effects of assimilation, are probably known only by their descendants 
(e.g. Francisco Violich, Stephanus Beban, Antonio Zuppicich Thomas 
Pavletich Giorgio Vucetich, Raymond Poschich and Frank Thian). Sadly, 
there are also some who will be unknown, having left New Zealand only a 
decade or so after their arrival (e.g. Andrew Cuiss Peter Vragnizan and Bela 
Singer) or forgotten because they died without children to carry their family 
name over successive generations (e.g. Nicolo Radove, Mark Beanovitch, 
John Garg1iecevich, Andrew Baretich, Mariano Simotich and Jerome 
Bacovich). 

Whether known or not, questions invariably arise about the spelling of their 
sumames the use of Italianate first names and the Anglicisation of both first 
names and surnames. The spelling or misspelling of sumames can be 
explained in part by a rudimentary command of English among the pioneers, 
even after a decade or more of residence in New Zealand and the fact that at 
least a quarter of the pre-1870 arrivals and about a fifth of those who arrived 
during the 1870s were illiterate. Often unable to sign their name on 
naturalisation documents (e.g. Mark Beanovitch Giovanni Beroz Anthony 
Juriss Nicolo Radove Nicholas Smitheleh and Antony Bocoy) they made a 
mark witnessed by an approved person. A need for caution is therefore 
o bvious with regard to the spelling used by an unrelated person seeking to 
capture a pioneer s pronunciation of their sumame and other personal details. 

Suspicions concerning the possible Italian (rather than Croatian) ethnicity of 
men with first names such as Braggio Giacomo Giorgio Giovanni and 
Giuseppe are understandable but unwarranted. Such names reflect the 
cultural impact of a history of foreign control over Istria and most of 
Dalmatia by the Republic of Venice (1420-1797) and the administrative role 
played by an Italian ethnic minority during a century of Austrian rule (1813-
1918). Indeed Italian was the official language until 1909 when Croatian 
finallyattained an equal status. As a result the peasant dialects of Istria and 
Dalmatia were a rich mixture of both Croatian and Italian. Little wonder 
therefore that: in Dunedin, Thomas Pavletich was often called upon to act as 
a court interpreter or translator for cases invol ing either Italians or 
Austrians . and that in Auckland Peter .Vragnizan once acted as an 

interpreter and guide for Italian naval officers visiting the Thames goldfields 
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Foundations 

(see Chapter 2). Nor is it surprising to fmd Nicolo Radove s neighbour a 
South Canterbury sheep station owner with a good ear for language, noting 
in his diaries that Nicolo s friends were Italian speakers.2o Such an 
observation could help to explain a persistent but mistaken belief that Nicolo 
was aSicilian. 

The Anglicisation of names was probably inevitable for pioneers who were 
illiterate, but was otherwise a matter of convenient simplification for daily 
use. Hence first names such as Andrija Ante Franjo Josip Mate and 
Tomislav could be transformed into Andrew Anthony Francis or Frank, 
Joseph Mathew and Thomas respectively. More far-reaching was the 
removal from surnames of diacritical marks for the consonants ��� �
� and Š21 

-

with or without the addition of an h - to broadly conform to English spelling 
and pronunciation. Coupled with other adjustments and variations in spelling 
we find, for example that: �A�r�n�e�r�i��� becomes Arnerich; �B�o�n�a�a�i��� becomes 
Bonashic or Bonasich· �`�t�i�g�l�i��� becomes Stiglich; and �V�u�k�a�s�o�v�i��� becomes 
Vocassavich Vucaso ich or Vocasovitch. Finally, in its extreme forms 
Anglicisation could entail: the adoption of a new sumarne, possibly to 
conceal a person s identity (e.g. Joseph Darby)· the possible shortening of a 
Croatian name to a more familiar English form (e.g. John Rose)· 
construction of a phonetic English equivalent (e.g. William Jacob Marsh)· 
and the literal translation of a Croatian name into English (e.g. Mathew 
Mathewson which could have been Mate �M�a�t�o�v�i���)�.� 

Whatever the ariations in spelling or other changes to names appearing in 
Table 1 it is important to remember that such variations and changes were 
not limited to New Zealand s Croatian pioneers. Similar features can be 
observed among pioneers in Australia and have been discussed with regard 
to Croatians and other South Slavs in the United States of America. 22 

Origins 

Another legacy of centuries of Venetian control and the role of Italian 
administrators during the 1800s was the use of Italian place-names 

20 Pinne (1971: 168 . 

2 1 The consonant ��� (popularl called soft �� �)� in English pronunciation is between ch of chalk 
and tu of tune· �
� (popu larI called hard cJ in English is equi alent to ch as in church· and • 
is equivalent in English to sh as in shed. 

22 For Australia see v utalo (2004:239-259) and for the United States see Go orchin 
(1961: 195-197) and Prpic 1971 :227 -230). 
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1. Pioneers 

throughout Istria in the north and southwards along the Adriatic coast. 
Fortunately, directories matching previous Italian and current Croatian place­
names23 facilitated the identification of birthplaces specified by 79 of the 97 
known pioneers in their applications for naturalisation. Of the rest nine were 
either too general (i.e. "Dalmatia") or failed to state their birthplace and nine 
birthplaces could not be traced - possibly as a result of errors arising from a 
misplaced reliance upon others to assist with the completion of official 
documents. 

As shown in Table 1, the birthplaces identified included towns villages and 
islands along the Adriatic coast from Trieste in the north to Kotor in the 
south. Within this region however, nine points of origin in three clusters 
accounted for 58 (73.4 percent) of the 79 pioneers with identified 
birthplaces. The three clusters comprised: (a) the ports of Trieste Rijeka, 
Bakar and Lošinj Island in the north; (b) the islands of Vis �B�r�a�
� and Hvar 
plus the Pelješac Peninsula in central Dalmatia· and (c) the ports of 
Dubrovnik and Kotor in the south. Similar to the origins of Croatian pioneers 
in Australia,24 this geographic pattern attests to the lead role of seaports and a 
seafaring tradition that attracted thousands of young adventurous Croatians 
from successive generations to participate in Europe s voyages of discovery 
and commerce from the fifteenth century onwards. It is also a pattern that 
distinguishes the Croatian pioneer phase of migration from that of mass 
emigration to North and South America, southern Africa and Australasia. 
Beginning during the 1880s the period of mass emigration drew heavily 
upon the hinterlands of Rijeka (Fiume) and Zagreb in the north, and included 
thousands of migrants from villages on the narrow coastal strip between Split 
and the Pelješac Peninsula in central Dalmatia as well as the neighbouring 
inland districts of Vrgorac and Imotska. The role of pioneers in shaping the 
subsequent flow of migrants and their settlement will be discussed later in 
this chapter. 

Employment 

, Gold! Gold! Gold! ' The cry that drew thousands of men from all corners of 
the world to California (1848-1855) and Victoria Australia (1850s) also 
drew thousands of fortune hunters to New Zealand. The majority of the 

23 The three directories employed for this task were: 
• Eterovich and Spalatin (1964:369-374 Appendix C) 
• http://simple.wikipedia.org!wikilList of Italian place names in Dalmatia; and 
• http://en.wikipedia.org!wiki/List ofItalian place names in Istria. 

24 �~� 

See Sulato (2004: 18-19). 
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Croatian pioneers were among those responding to gold discoveries in 
Otago Westland and on the Coromandel Peninsula, thereby playing a role in 
the rapid growth of settlement in these areas during the 1860s and 1870s. At 
least ten of these pioneers came with the benefit of experience on the 
Victorian goldfields. �2 �~� Others of course, came: to provide a service for 
miners as publicans' to satisfy a deep-seated desire for land as farmers; for 
work as contractors or labourers in timber milling road building etc.' to take 
up various jobs in small settlements and especially the ports that were 
beginning to expand' and in some cases to pursue a traditional occupation as 
a fisherman, sail maker or marin er. But it was mining initially for gold and 
later coal (by some die-hards) that was the occupation of choice for perhaps 
as many as two-thirds of the pioneers at some stage during their working 
li ves in New Zealand. 

Gold-miners 

As usual, only a few of these fortune hunters were favoured by Lady Luck. 
Among the rest: some sooner or later gave up without any reward for their 
efforts; a few made just enough to get into some other enterprise (e.g. as a 
farmer or publican) that became a fallback position or got out of mining 
completely' and the remainder committed themselves to years of umemitting 
labour with varying degrees of success. It is worth noting here that 33 of the 
97 known Croatian pioneers were still employed as miners when naturalised 
in 20 cases over 19 years after their date of arrival (see Table 1). 

Two of those blessed by Lady Luck at least initially were Antonio Obuglien 
from Dubrovnik and Carlo Blasch from Rijeka who arrived in New Zealand 
c.1864 and c.1869 respectively. Both worked on the Coromandel Peninsula. 
Before he went to the Thames goldfield Antonio Obuglien is belie ed to 
have been employed in the market garden of an old Irish woman in a 
settlement near Auckland but was dismissed when he dared to show an 
interest in his employer s daughter Mary - a lass deemed to be above his 
station in life. Turning to gold-mining he invested in a one-sixth share in the 
Manakau mine a small piece of ground not quite one acre in extent situated 
near some of the richest mines in the Thames area. Reports differ as to how 

25 Using the work of v utalo (2004) those known to have previously been miners in 
Australia with an estimatedlknown date of arrival in New Zealand are: Mark Beanovitch 
(1861) Thomas Pa letich (J 862) Mitchell Covancevich (1863) Pietro Tomanovich (J 863), 
Vincent Popo ich (J 864) icolas Sentsch (a.k.a Nicholas Sentch) (1864) John Vincent 
(1864) Paul Americh (1866) Stephanus Beban (1867) and Ra mond Posch i ch (J 867). 
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much Antonio made but it appears that after a year or so he and a fellow 
shareholder sold their combined one-third share in the mine for f8 000 each. 
Needless to say, his former employer now had good reason to see Antonio in 
a different light and he married his sweetheart.26 

Using his new found wealth, in 1871 Antonio bought a vessel the Royal 
Alfred, employed in the Thames trade with Auckland and in the same year 
was the naIve, unsuspecting victim of a confidence trickster who absconded 
with f750.27 In the late 1870s and early 1880s he often figured in press 
reports for yields from the Old Gold Calf, Queen of Beauty and Caledonian 
mines. But Lady Luck proved to be fickle deserting him later in life. When 
some children found him in 1898 lying in Bella Street, Thames bleeding at 
the mouth, dying from a burst blood vessel, .. Antonio Obuglien 'was 61 years 
old known to be suffering from "miner s complaint" (a respiratory problem), 
and reduced to employment as a watchman for the Thames-Hauraki 
Company at its new works on the Queen of BeautY mining site. Twenty 
years earlier the same mine had contributed to his prosperity and yet friends 
and supporters now had to call a meeting to consider the best means to raise 
funds for the assistance of his widow and remaining dependant children. 28 

Carlo Blasch' s stroke of luck was less spectacular but no less significant as a 
source of capital for later ventures. Examining a large tree that had been 
blown down in a storm he is believed to have found gold specimens worth 
fl 400 embedded in its roots.29 Being a prudent man Carlo also made his 
own luck with insurance against misfortune and avoided any substantial loss 

26 Antonio Obuglien 's story is based on two reports: ' The Thames Goldfield. Reminiscences 
of the Past. (From an old Mining Reporter s Note Book) Thames Star 17 December 1892 
p.l· and ' The Story of a Thames Mine", Otago Witness 5 September 1874 p.6 (reprinted 
from the Th am es Advertiser). As for how much he made with his lucky strike the 1874 
report states that "Messers. Cassin and Obuglien sold their [one-] third share [in the 
Manakau mine] for the sum of f16,000 to the old Thames Investment Compan . .' whereas 
the 1892 report states' f20 000 did he dig up .. . in the course of a year ... ' 

27 See: A uckland Star 25 April 1871, p.2 (re purchase of vessel)' and Daily Southern Cross, 
16 September 1871 p.3 (re loss of f750). It seems that Antonio Obuglien was too open­
handed and trusting with his new found wealth for in 1875 he found himselfha ing to go to 
court to recover (successfully) an interest free loan of f40 - see Thames Star 16 April 1875 
p.2. 

28 Thames Star 24 January \898, p.2 (re his death etc.) and 28 January 1898 p.2 (re 
assistance for his widow and children). 

29 Cited by Rhodes (1937:21) who gives no date for when the incident occurred. 
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in May 1886 when his boardinghouse in Grafton Road Auckland was 
destroyed by fIre. The building and furniture were insured for f650.3o Ten 
years later his prosperity, enterprise and continuing prudence were marked 
by newspaper advertisements for applications to register three businesses as 
non-liability companies: The Star of Tokatea Gold Mining Company (in 
which he had 4,168 shares of2 shillings each, totalling f416 8s); The Waihi 
Welcome Gold Mining Company (with l 000 shares of ls each, f50); and 
The Trilby Gold Mining Company (9 930 shares of ls each, f496 5s).3) 

Unlike Antonio and Carlo, all but a handful of the other miners worked hard 
from the outset and - aside from f1eeting instance s of good luck and 
prosperity - had little to show for three or more decades of labour. In 
Westland .for example, the probate fIles of John Scopinich Giovanni (a.k.a. 
John) Beroz and Paul Arnerich reveal that their estates and effects were 
valued at less than f60 f90 and f104 respectively. John Gargliecevich and 
Raymond Poschich were a bit more successful. Having mined in and around 
Goldsborough from his arrival until his death in 1916 John left an estate of 
less than f600 while Raymond working near Barrytown until he died in 
1912, left an estate of under f220.32 

A similar difference was found between the estates of Peter Tomanovich and 
Martin Macale in Otago. Peter had mined in Australia before coming to 
Otago and by the late 1860s had taken up residence in Gibbston where he 
built a small house on a one-acre section planted an orchard kept bee hives 
and carried on mining until late in his life. It was once rumoured he hid a 
cache of gold under a dead cow near his property but when Peter died an 
inventory of his belongings revealed a fortune consisting of little other than 
a tobacco tin 'containing 70 gold so ereigns .33 As for Martin Macale it 
appears that he became one of the more successful miners because he had the 
good sense to get out while the going was good and turned his attention to 
farming. 

30 Star, 22 May 1886 p.3. 

31 See: Observer 23 May 1896 p.9· 20 June 1896 p.7· and 1 August 1896, p.16. 

32 The probate files for Gio anni Beroz (CAlF/20702/CH300/48IHK39311890) Paul 
Americh (AAOMl602911 20/6679 John Scopinich CAIF 120702/CH3001561HK218011908) 
John Gargliecevich (CAIF1207021 CH300/60fHK25511 919) and Ra mond Poschich 
(AAOM/6029/261116107) are held b Archi es New Zealand Wellington. Photocopies 
have been lodged with the Dalmatian Historical and Genealogical Society Auckland. 

33 Cook (1985:31-32). 
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Born in Šibenik (1855), and a late pioneer arrival (1878) Martin Macale had 
previously worked as a sailor and is thought to have brief1y lived in the 
United States of America. Before mining he is believed to have been 
engaged in various types of employment, including a contract for the 
construction of a water race, railway line construction in centralOtago and 
on steamship s at Lake Wakitipu.34 His success as a miner was rooted in an 
unrelenting commitment to the tasks in hand. In 1884 for example he and a 
partner were praised for their diligence in developing the Golden Shoe- one 
of five claims pegged out at the head of Sandhill Creek near Macetown in 
Otago. 

They are both miners of the most practical and persevering type, and 
they deserve to reap the richest reward for the manner in which they 
have stuck to their undertaking ... for the work they are doing 
unassisted would not be thought any discredit to a company of 
cap ita lis ts with a nominal capital of ten or twenty thousand 
pounds ... but in this case two men - poor working miners - without 
assistance, set to work to spend their all on a venture. Alas! that such 
men are so scarce.35 

Over a decade later Martin s hard work and perseverance was noted again 
for another venture in Otago. 

An arduous piece of work has been brought to a successful issue ... Mr 
Macale, after about a twelve-months' work, has got in the waters for 
sluicing purposes, and the operation of gold-getting will shortly 
begin.36 

And even while he was operating the Gibbston SaddIe pit during the 1890s 
to obtain coal of irregular quality using a method of opencast strip extraction 
without much system" a government report still conceded that he was 
working hard .37 

34 
Welford (2000:3-5). 

35 
Olago Witness 2 February 1884 p.16. 

36 
Otago Daily Times 31 October 1896 p.6. 

37 
Cook (1985:47). 
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37 
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Martin Macale on the farm at Tuturau in the 1920s 

It was when his Saddie pit lease was passed to the Gibbston Coal Pits Co. in 
190 l that Martin turned to farming a sensible career change no doubt 
influenced by his marriage in 1884 to Scots-born 19 year-old Janet Gray, and 
the rapid growth of their family. Ten children were born between 1885 and 
1906. Drawing on savings from 20 years of work mainly in mining he 
bought a property (2,563 acre s of tussock grazing land) in the Hokonui 
district near Lumsden in 1901. Martin sold this farm in 1907 and in the 
following year bought three adjoining sections (totalling 1,014 acres) in an 
area known as the Black Swamp38 near Balfour township where the family 
remained for about 14 years. After the sale of this property he took on a 
farm at Tuturau in 1923 which he worked until retirement in 1929.39 

�~�1�a�r�t�i�n� s overall success as a miner and farmer was marked after his death 
(1938) by the grant of probate for an estate valued at E7 921 plus (as listed 
in his will) sums owed to him for ad ances amounting to E3 315 made to six 

38 See: Tuapeka Times 1] September 1907 p.3 re sale offreehold property near Lumsden)' 
and Otago Witness, 13 May 1908 p.26 (re purchase of properties on the Black Swamp). ee 
also Welford (2000:4-5 and 25-27). 

39 Welford (2000:31). 
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of his children 'for special purposes". It was a substantial estate for the time 
especially as he is believed to have lost money from a mortgage left on the 
Tuturau property during the depression years of the early 1930s.4o 

Whatever the outcome of their endeavours, at one time or another the miners 
all faced various problems, including: the frustrations of prospecting and 
hardships in their living and working conditions; compliance with 
regulations implemented to maintain law and order; legal clashes with other 
miners or landholders; debts arising from unsuccessful prospecting or 
expensive site development work (e.g. for dams and head races to obtain 
water for sluicing); and the ever present hazard of accidental injury in the 
course of tree-fell ing , building tunnelling and working with explosives. 
Some of these matters were well illustrated by Giovanni (a.k.a. John) Beroz 
from �N�e�r�e�~�i�a���a� on the Island of �B�r�a�
�.� In May 1871 he took leave of bis wife 
and position as proprietor of Hokitika's Swiss Hotel to lead a party up the 
Hokitika River with provisions for three months, intending to thoroughly 
prospect the area along the river. Unfortunately, floods prevented progress 
beyond the gorge about 25 miles (40km) from the township and impeded 
tests of the river bed, while examinations of a terrace and other sites (one on 
each side of the gorge) yielded no worthwhile traces of gold. At one stage, 
unable to light a fIre with wet matches, they were forced to live on 
un1eavened bread for almost a week. Disheartened by the cold wet weather 
(and no doubt the privations of shelter under sheets of canvas or in tents) the 
party returned to Hokitika after six weeks believing they could do better by 
starting earlier in the season.41 

Giovanni and his party did do better the following year (February to May) 
prospecting behind Woodstock in the Kanieri district. They drove a tunnel 
into a terrace struck' a lead" (source) and for some time carefully disposed 
of their gold without disclosing its origin or lodging a claim. Officially their 
reason for secrecy and a delayed claim was a desire to test the lead 
thoroughly before occasioning what m·ght have pro ed adelusive rush' . 
Unofficial1y they were probably protecting themselves against inter10pers -
and an ine itable gold-rush - until they were sure of the claim they would 
apply for. E ents justifIed their caution. When Giovanni applied successfully 
for a prospecting claim at the end of May 1872 a rush immediately set in. 
Ovemight a mile (1.6km) of ground was taken up as claims were pegged out 

40 M . 
. artm Macale probate file (DAFG/9068/ 101/514) Archives New Zealand Regional 

Office Dunedin. For loss ofmortgage see Welford (2000:31). 

4 1 
Otago Witness 24 June 1871 p.] 6. Note that his name here is spelt as ' Berez not Beroz. 
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Giovanni and his party did do better the following year (February to May) 
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40 M . 
. artm Macale probate file (DAFG/9068/ 1Ol/S14) Archives New Zealand Regional 

Office Dunedin. For loss of mortgage see Welford (2000:31). 

4 1 
Otago Witness 24 June 1871 p.] 6. Note that his name here is spelt as ' Berez not Beroz. 
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in the dark, fuelled by a belief that there was 'ground enough along the lead 
for two thousand men" . 42 

With their claim approved, another hurdie for Beroz and party was to secure 
an adequate and effective water supply for sluicing, perhaps the most 
important and troublesome matter among miners in Westland and Otago. 
Their application for a head race registration was opposed and the case 
Beroz and party v. J. Higgin, was heard in the Warden' s Court at Kanieri in 
June 1872. In essence, Higgin argued that the water source was situated on 
the Maori Reserve. However having admitted in another case that a dam he 
opposed in the same locality was not on the Maori Reserve the Warden 
decided there were insufficient grounds for refusal of the application by 
Beroz et �~�l�.� Their head race registration was therefore granted.43 Similar 
cases regarding water supply and/or damage to races and sluicing operations 
caused by tailings and sludge from adjoining claims have been identified for 
a number of others, including Paul Arnerich Andrew Baretich Vincent 
Popovich Raymond Poschich and Tripo Vucasovich.44 

Three problems that Beroz and party seemed to avoid were those of theft 
tampering with pegs marking their claim and accidental injury or death. 
Paolo Giovanni Arnerich who joined relations Paul and Simon Americh in 
Goldsborough in 1878, was less fortunate. In January 1891 a local resident 
returning home late at night heard a noise in a tailrace on Paolo s claim at 
Tunnel Terrace. Waiting until dawn he saw attacked and chased off two 
Chinese men busy washing black sand in their dishes.45 No arrest was made 
and the amount of any gold stolen was unknown. More serious was an 
incident in the same area during May 1895. Appearing on remand before the 
Magistrate Paolo initially faced a charge of threatening to shoot Timothy 
O'Brien, a charge the police replaced with a lesser one of assault. According 
to the evidence O Brien and his companion Michael Reddy were sitting 

42 West eoast Times 31 May 1872 p.2. Part of this newspaper report also appears in the 
Grey River Argus l June 1872 p.2. 

43 West eoast Times, 26 June 1872 p.2. 

44 See: West eoast Times l October 1875 p.2 15 April 1876 p.2 and 29 April 1876 p.2 (re 
Paul Arnerich)· West eoas! Times 15 January 1872 p.3 (re Andrew Baretich)· West eoast 
Times 9 April 1875, p.2 (re Vincent Popo ich)· Grey River Argus 22 o ember 1879 p.2 
10 December 1879 p.2 and 21 December 1880 p.2 (re Raymond Poschich)· and West eoast 
Times, 29 April 1876 p.2 (re Tripo Vucaso ich). 

45 West eoas! Times 19 January 1891 p.2. 
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talking together at Tunnel Terrace when Paolo appeared with a double­
barreled gun in hand. Reddy, indicating a bird in a dead tree said it was a 
good shot but Paolo, not seeming to hear hirn, stated that the ground was 
already pegged out - apparently referring to a previous quarrel with O Brien 
about pegs. O'Brien jumped up in response, used " forcible expressions' and 
moved forward in a threatening manner. Paolo raised his gun and threatened 
to shoot O Brien if he advanced any further but had sense enough to heed 
Reddy's cry for restraint, lowered his gun and walked away. The case was 
dismissed.46 Not all such quarrels between men determined to assert and/or 
defend their interests on the goldfields ended so welt" 

The third problem accidental injury or death would have urked in the 
minds of all but the least experienced miners and contractors especially in 
areas without emergency medical assistance. Common causes of injury 
maiming or death included slides of scree or boulders falls down open shafts 
or from narrow tracks, the collapse of earth or rocks loosened by digging 
and drOwning in rivers, water races or ponds behind dams.47 For Croatians in 
Westland, two cases provided graphic reminders of the risks involved. 

Details about the first case are sparse, but it involved a miner identified at 
different times as "Matto lick' ' George Martolitch" and Martolich ' who 
Was in fact Giorgio Matulich. Giorgio arrived in 1878 on the ship Duke of 
Argyll along with a group of four others that included Francisco (a.k.a. 
Frank) Gospodnetich and Paolo Giovanni Arnerich - all from the village of 
Dol on �B�r�a�
�.� In January 1879, Giorgio was admitted to hospital suffering 
from severe spinal injuries, caused by a fall of earth' in a claim he was 
Working on at the Big Dam near Waimea. A newcomer to Westland, his lack 
of experience may have been a contributing factor. Initially he was reported 
to be improving slowly , but it was noted that the case would be "a tedious 
one his lower extremities being paralysed" .48 As it tumed out Giorgio was 
disabled for life and remained a patient at Westland Hospital Hokitika, for 
three years until a public call for charitable subscriptions enabled his return 
to Dalmatia. Paul Americh, a member of the Hospital Committee played a 
significant role in his repatriation.49 

46 
West Coast Times 31 May 1895 p.2. 

47 
For further details and discussion see Eldred-Grigg (2008:313-314). 

48 
West Coast Times 31 January 1879, p.2 (re injury to 'Mattolick ). 

49 
See: West Coast Times 22 December 188 I p.3 (public notice To the charitable' ) and 24 

December 1881 p.2 (re public appeal for George Martolitch a native of Dalmatia ). 25 
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For the second case, much more information is available on the accident the 
identities of those involved, their injuries and the subsequent life of one 
victim in particular. One morning in May 1884, brothers Louis and John 
Lousich, John Stanich and Carl Carlssen were working on their claim at 
Hayes Terrace (known as the Austrians ) near Kumara. Louis Lousich and 
John Stanich were preparing to blast a large stone with dynamite but while 
they were putting in the cartridges and driving them home the charge 
exploded. Both men were severely injured. John Stanich was blinded in his 
right eye, had his face, neck and chest perforated by small bits of debris, and 
the soft parts of his right fore-arm were bad.ly torn. Louis Lousich s injuries 
were more serious: he lost his right eye and could only tell light from 
darkness with the other his nose was almost irreparably smashed and torn' 
the soft parts of his left fore-arm were badly tom; and the right fore-arm left 
hang in g. by a sinew from below the elbow had to be amputated.5o With 
treatment provided at the Kumara Hospital John Stanich made a steady 
recovery and was transferred into the convalescent ward in June. Progress 
was slower for Louis as he suffered: 

... from delirium tremens caused no doubt partly ... [by] the accident, 
but, in the doctor 's opinion accelerated through the excitement caused 
by swarms of visitors, who take no denial and slip in as opportunity 
occurs.5 l 

Later that year, Louis Lousich and his wife consulted leading specialists in 
Melbourne who were unanimous in concluding that nothing could be done to 
restore his sight.-2 

April 1882, p.2 and 22 May 1882 p.2 (re injury and repatriation of Martolich ). For further 
details see the biography for Paul Arnerich (Chapter 2). Another incident reported in the 
Thames Star (12 September 1899 p.2) concerned a man named Sarich who suffered 
injuries 'to the lower parts of his bod while working in a mine at Karangahake south of 
Paeroa. lt is unknown if this was Antonio Sarich or his eldest son. 

50 Grey River Argus 28 May 1884 p.4 and 29 Ma 1884 p.2. 

51 Grey River Argus, 4 June 1884 p.2. 

52 Grey River Argus 10 October 1884 p.2. Gi en this verdict from experts in Melbourne 
Louis and his wife were reported to be intending to go to Sydney to see if anything could be 
done for him there. 
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Louis Lousich with two sons (Rudolf and Jack) and his barrelorgan 
Source: Seffano Webb Collection, Alexander Turnbull Library, Wellington 

Born in Trieste Louis arrived in New Zealand c.1875 and married Sarah 
Chisnall in 1883. Their first child born in 1884 added weight to a key 
question. How could a blind, one-armed man support a wife and child? 
Aside from a limited ongoing interest in the Hayes Terrace claim the initial 
solution was a store that Sarah managed with whatever help Louis could 
give. However the demands placed on her by a growing family (four more 
children born 1885-1889) probably forced them to sell the store to Louis s 
brother in November 1888, less than three years before tragedy again struck 
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the family with Sarah's death in 1891.53 Louis, turning to a venture reli ant on 
public sympathy and charity now demonstrated qualities of commitment and 
selfless determination to provide for his family. Often accompanied by one 
or two of his children at public events in Kumara and other nearby 
townships, he solicited donations wi th a barrelorgan displaying a notice 
explaining his injuries and domestic circumstances. 

Around the turn of the century he moved further afield visiting Nelson 
(1897), Wellington (1899) Auckland (1901), Dunedin (1902) Christchurch 
and New Plymouth (both in 1903) in what had become a well organised 
business. A newspaper advertisement or small notice would announce his 
arrival in a particular area, local contacts would exhibit his photograph(s) 
vouch for his character, collect donations of clothing etc. and sometimes 
another aavertisement would appear thanking members of the community for 
their kind treatment during his stay. -4 Naturalised in 1900 when he was 
again a storekeeper in Kumara Louis Lousich died in 1912 aged 63. 

Publicans 

About one in ten of the pioneers listed in Table 1 (and a few sojoumers) tried 
their hand in the hotel business. At least three of them - Thomas Carina, 
Thomas Pavletich and Jerome Bacovich - remained in the industry and 
proved to be more successful than the others (see Chapter 2). Of the rest 

53 See: West Coas! Times 18 June 1886 p.2 and 8 October 1887 p.2 (for reports concerning 
Louis Lousich and party re applications for renewal of water-race in 1886 and for a dam in 
1887 at their Hayes Terrace claim) and West Coast Times, l December 1888 p.2 (re sale of 
store to J. Lousich). It may also be noted here that a concert and ball held at Kumara a few 
months after the accident for the benefit of Mr Louis Lousich ... [raised] about f40 ' (West 
Coast Times 28 August 1884 p.2). 

54 For visits to various centres see: The Coloni t 28 June 1897 p.2 (Nelson)' Evening Post 
5 July 1899 p.6 (Wellington)' ew Zealand Herald 16 August 190 l p.l (Auckland)' 
Otago Witness 24 December 1902 p.29 (Dunedin) Star 30 July 1903 p.3 (Christchurch)' 
and Taranaki Herald 9 December 1903 p.4 ew Plymouth). Each introductory notice was 
strikingly similar suggesting a prepared statement that was used time and time again. 
Suspicions regarding the veracity of Louis account of his misfortune appear to have led in 
the case of a visit to Christchurch to the inclusion of an additional concluding sentence that 
stated: 

The same authority adds that inquiry o/ the Premier resulted in a verification 
o/ every detail o/what has been stated above, and Mr Seddon states that Mr 
Lausich is in every way desel ing o/ public generosity as well as sympathy 
(Star 30 July 1903 p.3). 

For an example of his note of thanks upon lea ing an area see: Evening Post 16 October 
1899, p.1. 
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typically engaged in the business for three to five years some (e.g. Giovanni 
Beroz Francisco Violich, Tripo Vucasovich) combined their role of publican 
with work as a miner or contractor, leaving the hotel to be managed from 
time to time by their wife or a business partner. Although hotels could be 
very profitable - especially in ports and mining areas with rapidly growing 
populations dominated by young men seeking liquor, prostitutes and short­
term accommodation - success could not be guaranteed. For example the 
hotelkeeper careers of John Scopinich (at Fox's near Waimea, 1870-72) and 
Tripo Vucasovich (as owner of O'Donoghue's Hotel Waimea, 1873-75) 
both ended in bankruptcy, with Tripo losing not jus·t a fully furnished hotel 
but also his share in a mining claim. 55 

Hotels like other businesses, were not without problems all of which could 
quickly erode profits. These problems included bad debts when guests or 
lodgers failed to pay their accounts, staffing difficulties, potential clients 
deterred by the nature of particular "guests" whose presence tarnished a 
hotel s reputation, and the hurdles presented by various licensing and other 
local authority requirements. Faced with such difficulties, Mitchell 
Covancevich could be forgiven if he had doubts about the wisdom of being 
the proprietor of the Swiss Hotel one of 200 hotels along RevelI Street in 
Hokitika in the 1860s that catered along with billiard and dancing saloons 
to the needs of a fluctuating population of diggers.s6 During May 1868 he 
called the police and charged an employee (Catherine Beban the wife of his 
fellow countryman Stephanus Beban) with the theft of wearing apparel and 
sheets identified as hotel property. The charge was dismissed after the 
hearing of evidence.s7 In January 1870 another dispute arose with an 
�~�m�p�l�o�y�e�e� over the discovery and contents of a purse found under a mattress 
ln a recently occupied room. The police were again involved and each party 
Used a newsraper advertisement to acquaint the public with their position in 
the dispute. 5 

55 
For bankruptcy notices concerning these two publicans see: West Coast Times 28 Jul 

1871 p.l (re John Scopinich); and West Coast Times, 24 February 1875, p. I and ] ° March 
1875 p.3 (re Tripo Vucasovich and his assigned estate). 

56 
Waratah (1998:21) who provides a useful account of Westland s early settlement and 

personalities. 

57 
West Coast Times 22 May 1868, pA (re case against Catherine Beban). 

58 
West Coast Times II January 1870, p.l (re letters to the editor from Mitchell 

Covancevich and his former employee Bridget McCormick). 
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These two staffmg difficulties however were trivial in comparison 
with the potential impact when the licensing authority objected in December 
1869 to an annual licence renewal application on the grounds that: 

... the premises [the Swiss Hotel] were dilapidated ... the house was 
frequented by women of ill-fame who 11 ere allowed to stop, and [that] 
more than one robbery had been committed in the house.59 

With 14 days to renew his application, Mitchell' s lawyer organised a 
memorial signed by neighbours and se eral merchants. The memorial was 
presented to the next meeting of the authority when witnesses were cross­
examined about a robbery the presence of prostitutes, Mitchell s character 
and business conduct. With regard to a particular woman "on whom some 
imputation had been cast' Mitchell s lawyer stated that: 

... his client would admit that the woman had been in the house. She 
was the wife of a countryman 11 ho had sent her to the Swiss Hotel to 
stay, and had also sent mone to keep her. The applicant, on hearing 
that she was of loose habits, had given her the money and turned her 
out.60 

The outcome was that a licence was granted on condition that the applicant 
conducted his hotel properly kept it clean and if he failed to meet these 
requirements his licence would be cancelled. It seems however, that 
Mitchell Covancevich had had enough. Scarcely a month later at the end of 
January 1870 ownership of the Swiss Hotel passed to gold-miner Giovanni 
Beroz (a.k.a. Berez) who in turn sold the business in December 1873.61 

It must be emphasised here that the example of Mitchell Covancevich and 
the Swiss Hotel was not unique. Another Croatian pioneer John Vincent at 
the Terminus Hotel, was refused a licence at the same meeting and on the 
same grounds as Covance ich but failed to appear with a renewed 
application. Similarly when Francisco Violich applied for a hotel at 
Wallsend near B runner in 1877 the Licensing Court deplored the 
disreputable condition of the area s hotels and stressed the need to conduct 
business in a respectable manner. Why? Prostitution was not illegal but 
owning or keeping a brothel was prohibited under many city and provinciai 

59 West Coast Times 8 December] 869 p. _. 

60 West Coast Times 25 December 1869 p.4. 

61 See: West Coast Times, 24 January 1870 p.3 and 18 December 1873 p.3 (re purchase and 
sale of Swiss Hotel by Giovanni Beroz . 
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1. Pioneers 

by-laws. In the face of a keen demand, however, bars were often run as 
fronts for brothels by hotelkeepers aware that they could make as much (if 
not more) money from the sale of sex as from alcohol. 62 

Finally among the other difficulties encountered by publicans, problems 
with guests failing to pay their dues are known to have been dealt with by 
Francisco Violich and Thomas Pavletich the latter also incurring local body 
charges in Dunedin for failing to keep his premises free of rubbish. In later 
years Jerome Bacovich and his wife were in court for dismissing a' staff 
member because he had joined a union, and for �b�r�e�~�c�h�i�n�g� regulations on the 
serving of liquor. 63 On balance the hotel business presented an enticing 
?Pportunity for independent employment and a good refurn on one s 
InVestment but anyone who expected to make a fortune without due care and 
attention was sadly mistaken. 

Contractors, fishermen and farmers 

Jerome Bacovich claimed that after working in a variety of other jobs 
including gold prospecting, his big break came with two contracts; the first 
to supply a huge quantity of timber and the second to build a road. Another 
pioneer whose later business career may have been funded by a profitable 
timber contract was Thomas Carina. The difficulties and bankruptcy 
experienced by contractors Francisco Violich Antonio Sarich and others 
however suggest that the successes of Bacovich and Carina were 
exceptional. 

In a young colony facing economic difficulties during the second half of the 
1800s most contract work (often for small projects) came from local 
government bodies with limited resources. With little other work available 
on the goldfields men scrambled to submit tenders for contracts that could 
Supplement their small mining incomes, provide funds needed to bring 
claims into production (e.g. with dams and water races for sluicing) or to put 
food on a family 's table. Competition could therefore be intense and 
Contracts were typically awarded to the lowest tender, sometimes less than 
half of an engineer's estimate with little chance of a profit. As such it was a 
system prone to disaster; many contracts were abandoned or inadequately 

62 
See Eldred-Grigg (2008:383-385 387-399) for a vi vid account of prostitution and the 

careers of whores on the goldfields. 

63 
For the hotel careers of Francisco Violich , Thomas Pavletich and Jerome Bacovich see 

Chapter 2. 
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carried out, a contractor's employees could [md themselves unpaid and local 
storekeepers were left to pursue bad debts. 

To illustrate the pitfalls of the contract system one has only to look at the 
experience of Antonio Sarich who worked as a miner and sometimes a 
contractor in the Thames district. In 1893 he won a contract from Thames 
County Council for a track with a tender. of f45, well below the price 
specified in other tenders received (f65-f87). He successfully completed this 
contract but ran into difficulties in 1894 when his tender of f79 lOs for a 
contract on the Tapu Creek Road was accepted against two other tenders of 
f125 and f165.64 Upon completing the contract, which turned out more 
difficult than expected Antonio wrote to the County Council as follows: 

... I was not acquainted with the intense hardness of the stone at the 
bluf! in my contract on the Tapu Creek road. However, in spite of all 
difficulties, I carried out the workfaithfully, but after paying the men I 
have not a penny left for m self, and m son only received [3 for 11 
weeks work. I would therefore respectfully ask that something be 
allowed me to enable me to pay m store-keepers' bills, as I am a poor 

6-
though I trust an honorable man. 

The Council was sympathetic' its engine er declared he could find no fault 
with the quality of the work performed and one councillor remarked that 
when the tender was accepted he had said it would be impossible to make 
one shilling a day out of the contract. Nevertheless Counci decided that 
because it would establish 'a dangerous and undesirable precedent no 
money could be voted over and abo e the original tender. To signal its 
appreciation of the manner in which the contract had been carried out 
however, the Council instructed its engineer to gi e Antonio Sarich 
"employment when possible .66 It was asurprising gesture given concern 
about setting precedents but offered little immediate comfort to a man 
struggling to provide for a family that in 1894 still included at least five 
dependant children. Three years later Antonio was adjudged bankrupt67 

- a 
sad end to over three decades of hard work. 

64 See: Thames Star, 7 December 1893 p.2 and 22 February 1894 pA (for 1893 and 1894 
contracts ). 

65 Thames Star 7 June 1894 p.2. 

66 Ibid. 

67 Thames Star 23 September] 897 p.3. 
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1. Pioneers 

Other pioneers found employment as labourers, stevedores or harbour board 
employees while a few ventured into retailing (e.g. as fishmongers or 
storekeepers) and some took up or resumed traditional occupations as sail 
makers mariners and especially as fishermen. Often suchjobs would provide 
a supplementary source of income and perhaps funding for ongoing mining 
activities. For example, Stephanus (a.k.a. Stephen) Beban, was still a miner 
when naturalised in 1901 (35 years after his arrival) and became a 
storekeeper for an indeterminate period, no doubt assisted by his wife. ,"Mr 
Beban s Store' in Goldsborough was identified as the principal booth for the 
election of members of the Arahura Road Board in December 1871.68 As a 
point of contact with others in the community it was a business ell-suited to 
a man believed to have a good education and to be fluent in several 
languages. According to his descendants, Stephen acte d as an interpreter an 
unofficial lawyer for matters such as property transactions and filing gold 
claims and served as a scribe for illiterate miners (presumably fellow 
Croatians and Italians) wishing to write to family and friends overseas.69 

Among those who made a living as fishermen, on either a short-or long-term 
basis were Joseph Darby Samuel Lisa, Paul Lupis Florius Lupis Romolo 
Scopinich John Stretz Frank Thian, Mariano Vella and Simeone Vitaglich. 
Of these Romolo Scopinich (from the Island of Lošinj) was the most 
sUccessful. Romolo is believed to have spent a number of years engaged in 
milling kauri timber working as a bushman and digging for kauri gum 
before turning to fishing and in the mid-1890s opened the Zealandia Canning 
Company at Batley on the Kaipara Harbour, where he employed a number of 
his compatriots. 70 Fishing could be a rewarding but also an uncertain 
dangerous livelihood constrained by regulations and sometimes difficult 
partnerships. Around the tum of the century for example over-fishing 
depleted mul1et stocks in Kaipara Harbour with a negative impact on the 
local fishing fleet and canneries including the Zealandia Canning Company. 
Declines also occurred in the size and quality of catches around Lake 
Ellesmere (in Canterbury) directly affecting the livelihood of fishermen like 
!ohn Stretz and Frank Thian at Taumutu as well as leading to the 
�~�n�t�r�o�d�u�c�t�i�o�n� of net size regulations. Additional problems for Frank Thian 
Included: a dispute in 1886/87 over the division of catches that ended a 

68 
West eOaS! Times, 29 November 1871 p.3. 

69 

Personal communication from Colleen Douglas Palmerston North who made available a 
draft ofa history of the Beban family and descendants in New Zealand. 

70 

For a full er account ofRomolo Scopinich's life , see lelicich (2008:222-223). 
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partnership with an Italian fisherman' and at the end of 1897 he was fmed for 
the use of illegal nets (let out to others in a partnership on receipts 
agreement) and had his nets confiscated.71 

Farming was a less popular vocation than might have been expected for men 
born on the Adriatic coast where a hunger for land increased sharply from 
the 1850s onwards. Aside from a sometimes obsessive devotion to the dream 
of gold, a key factor among the pioneers would have been their initial lack of 
capital. In order to save enough to lease make a deposit on or to purchase 
outright a block of land a man needed to be single-minded in his 
determination for up to a decade or more. It might also entail: a progression 
from farm worker to farm owner a shift from some other type of work (e.g. 
mining or fishing) into farming once savings were in hand; a transition 
period wherein an earlier source of income was maintained or another source 
found to support or facilitate the de elopment of a new property' or some 
combination of these scenarios. 

As noted earlier, Martin Macale did well enough in mining to eventually 
shift to farming. Frank Thian on the other hand, followed a different path. 
Shortly after his arrival about 1879 he was a fisherman at Taumutu and in 
1884 married 17 year-old New Zealand-born Johanna (a.k.a. Joanna) 
Franco. By the end of 1893 they had five children, a strong incentive for 
Frank to think seriously about how he would provide for his growing family 
(three more children were born by 1901). It was a situation similar to that of 
Martin Macale and Mariano Vella. The solution in Frank s case was not to 
rely on fishing alone. In 1894 when a ballot was held for lands at Lake 
Ellesmere he obtained, for lease in perpetuity a 27 acre property and in the 
same year took on a mail contract running a coach between Leeston 
Lakeside and Taumutu. Apart from two short breaks Frank ran the mail as 
well as passengers and goods on th!S well advertised route until 1921 when 
�h�~� �g�~�v�e� up the. �c�o�n�t�r�a�c�~� �d�u�~� 'to failin9 health and the �d�e�~�a�n�d�s� made upon 
his tIme by h1s farm1ng 1nterests . - Although the mall contract over­
shadowed his earlier occupation as a fisherman and his parallel farming 
venture the farm would have accounted for the bulk of his estate (valued at 

71 See: Star 22 March 1887 p.3 (r partnership dispute)' and Ellesmere Guardian 4 
December 1897, p.3 (re use of illegal nets. 

72 See: Star 21 September 1894 p.4 (re land ballot)" and Ellesmere Guardian 13 April 
1921, p.3 (re mail contract and failing health). For e ampJes of his mail coach ser ice 
advertisements see: Ellesmere Guardian 5 February 1896 p.2· 31 Ma 1905 p.3; and 23 
August 1916, p.l. 
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fl 085 5s) when he died in 1924.73 Examples of other paths to farming can 
be seen in the biographies of Nicolo Radove Giorgio Vucetich and Mariano 
Vella (see Chapter 2). Except for Nicolo Radove, who lost everything the 
outcome was usually a comfortable life with the means to assist children as 
they reached adulthood and a sound if not substantial estate at the end of a 
pioneer s life. 

Marriage and Family 

In all but a handful of cases the pioneers were typically young unmarried 
men upon arrival here a common feature of early Croatian irninigrants in the 
United States Canada, Australia and southern Africa as well. Although the 
evidence available is far from complete, up to one fifth of these young men 
Who settled in New Zealand remained unmarried. As for the rest when their 
thoughts turned to marriage half the world away from their homeland and 
living in a British colony, it was only natural that they found partners who 
Were themselves immigrants, usually from Ireland Scotland England and 
Australia. New Zealand-born partners - such as Johanna Thian (nee Franco) 
- Were rare until the late 1870s and 1880s. Even rarer with only three 
identified to date were brides either born in Croatia (Maria Lupis nee 
�P�e�r�v�a�n�
�i���·� and Elizabetta Vella, nee Tarabochia) or New Zealand-born of 
Croatian descent (Maria Stani ch, nee Americh). In other words out-group 
rather than in-group marriages (or de facto relationships) were normal rather 
than exceptional even for the New Zealand-born children of Croatian 
pioneers reaching adulthood during the 1880s and 1890s. 

In most cases the marriages appear to have worked to the satisfaction of both 
partners despite differences in language and culture. The evidence available 
suggests that the brides generally became devoted wives and mothers often 
raising large families (4-11 children) stoically enduring the grief of 
sometimes high infant and childhood mortality rates and managing 
households while also assisting with the operation of a business or some 
other venture. For example, Catherine Beban (nee MacDonald, born in 
Scotland in 1848) 18 years old when she married Stephen (aged 34) gave 
birth to II children and raised all but two of them in their home at Tunnel 
Terrace Goldsborough. It is a measure of Catherine s character - perhaps 
during a period of hardship and/or with an eye to future opportunities for the 
Children - that after the birth of her seventh child she relinquished two 

73 
Frank Thian probate file (CAHXJ2989/CH 171 1270lCH 12659/1 924) Archives New 

Zealand Regional Office, Christchurch. 
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(George aged ten, and Mary two years old) to the care of her husband's 
brother (Rocco) when he returned to the United States after a visit to New 
Zealand. 

Any doubts about Catherine s matemal devotion are dispelled by the close, 
supportive relationship with her first child (John a.k.a. Jack) who suffered 
some degree of disability (possibly intellectual) never married lived at 
home all of his life and is believed to have died of grief soon after his 
mother's death.74 Nor can there can be any doubt about the devotion 
commitment supportive strength and resilience of women like: Sarah 
Lousich (nee Chisnall) whose husband - as described above - was 
accideritally blinded disabled and disfigured only a year after their marriage' 
Mary Jane Creer who married Jerome Bacovich in 1893, just as his failing 
eyesight culminated in total blindness at age 37 and played an active role in 
his boardinghouse and hotel businesses' Ellen Fleming who during her 10-
year marriage to Nicolo Radove coped with the loss of both of their children 
in infancy, her husband's loss of his sheep station (due in part to his 
mismanagement) and then his failing health and death from a liver disease' 
and Anne Pavletich (nee ConnelI) who lost six of her nine children in 
infancy or childhood but still assisted her husband Thomas in their Dunedin 
hotel and other business activities. T 

As could be expected however some other wives proved to be less 
admirable and a few marriages are known to have ended with a separation or 
divorce. For example during 1875 Tripo Vucasovich s wife Agnes was fmed 
by the Magistrate in Goldsborough for using abusive and insulting language 
against Matteo Dedovich (a sojoumer) but gained sureties of peace against 
Andrew Baretich for his threatening gesture with a knife and calculated use 
of irritating language.76 Eliza Beroz (nee Barnes) exhibited similar feistiness: 
in June 1876 she was fined in Hokitika for her public use of abusive and 
insulting language' and at the end of July was adjudged the victim of an 
assault in a public fight with another woman.77 More serious was a charge of 
theft in 1892 against Ellen Duimovich (nee Hawthorn). Ellen was placed on 
probati on for six months for her theft of clothing narrowly missed a gaol 

74 Persona] communication from Colleen Douglas Palmerston North (see note 67 above). 

75 For further details concerning the wi es and marriages of Jerome Bacovich Thomas 
Pavletich and Nicolo Rado e see Chapter 2. 

76 West Coast Times 12 March 187 �~� p.2. 

77 See: West Coas! Times 3 June 1876 p._ and 29 Jul 1876 p.2. 
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term in 1895 for using obscene language but in 1897 was sentenced to 14 
d . . 78 ays unpnsonment for her third offence of drunkenness. 

Two marriages ending in divorce because of the wife's misconduct were 
those of Clara and Charles Simich in 1907 and Ada and John Bonashic in 
1916. The latter attracted more than the usual public attention given to such 
matters. John Bonashic (a.k.a. Bonasich) arrived ip. New Zealand in' 1880 
and at age 30 married 18 year-old Ada Bond in 1885. Ada gave birth to fi e 
children and then around 1912, suddenly deserted the family home. A hard­
Working wharfie, John eventually decided that enough - was enough. 
Sentenced to three days imprisonment in 1915 for disobeying a maintenance 
order he hired a detective agency to find his wayward wife. Ada was soon 
traced and identified as "the principal charmeuse de serpents ' of a house of 
il1-repute.79 

Like the wives, all but a handful of the known married pioneers appear to 
have been devoted hard-working husbands who sought to provide for 
grOwing families. In some cases they did so despite setbacks with the death 
of a child unexpected failings in their personal wellbeing, employment or 
finances. The sudden death of a young wife could also test a man s mettle as 
well as the support of kith and kin, especially if he was left to raise young 
children, as Andrew Cuiss, Louis Lousich and Mariano Vella found. But 
among these men there were still those - such as Giovanni Beroz William 
Jacob Marsh and Frank Stigley - whose conduct sometimes left much to be 
desired. 

�~�e�r�o�z� a gold-miner and hotel proprietor was apparently too fond of his 
lIquor and too ready to threaten violence or use his fists when drunk. In 1870 
he was fined in the Magistrate s Court Hokitika for being drunk and 
disorder1y and also charged with having threatened to kill his wife Eliza. 
:'-Ccording to Eliza, when her hus band 'was the worse for drink he 
lllvariably threatened to take her life" but on this occasion was more violent 
than usual and she therefore asked that he be bound over with sureties to 
keep the peace toward her until the case was heard. Eliza later decided not to 

78 
See: Bay of Plenty Times, 31 August 1892 p.2 (re theft of clothing)' Auckland Star 5 

June 1895 p.2 (re use of obscene language)' and Auckland Star 29 September 1897 p.4 (re 
cirunkenness) . 

79 
See: Evening Post 8 November 1915 p.2 (re maintenance order)' Evening Post 19 Ma 

1?16 p.8 and New Zealand Truth 27 May 1916 p.S (re marriage history, misconduct and 
d1Vorce). 
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press the charge.8o As no further incidents were reported they must have 
resolved their differences and learned the marital arts of compromise and 
adjustment. Nevertheless, this particular incident illustrates quite well the 
kind of life that women often faced in New Zealand's rough tough, gold­
mining townS.81 

Euphemia Marsh (nee Elliott born c.1825 in Scotland) had a completely 
different problem to deal with. William Jacob Marsh, introduced earlier as 
one of the first two known arrivals married Euphemia at Teviot Otago, in 
1867. Their marriage was without issue. Working as a miner in the area 
William 'played a part in the establishment of the Teviot Presbyterian 
Church was one of two elders ordained in September 1870 and served as the 
first Sunday School superintendent throughout the 1870s.82 Falling prey to 
mental illness in 1879/80 however William was confined in Dunedin s 
lunatic asylum for eight years but when he was discharged (officially cured) 
Euphemia found him unbearable to li e with. Perhaps under pressure from 
her husband she paid for his passage to San Francisco around 1889/90.83 

Because William was never seen or heard from again (and was presumed 
dead in 1908 to facilitate administration of Euphemia s estate) the situation 
was, in effect one where they had pri ately agreed to a separation. A similar 
separation arising perhaps because of ongoing financial difficulties and 
gradual estrangement as contracting work took him away from home seem s 
to have been accepted by Francisco Violich and his Australian-born wife 
Helen, in the late 1880s (see Chapter 2 . 

Married in 1871, Frank Stigley s domestic problems invol ed both his wife 
(Mary) and their six children (born 1878-1890). It was a large family to 
support on a labourer s wage especially when the growing family lost 

80 West eoast Times 7 November 1870 p.2 and 8 November 1870 p.2. 

81 Eldred-Grigg (2008:367-421) pro ides a particularly good account of the li es of women 
on the goldfields ranging from camp follo wers, grog sellers and whores to storekeepers, 
entertainers, wives and other women who took charge of their own li es in the face of 
daunting odds against success. 

82 Career details as reported b Don (1 936:227 -228). 

83 The details of William s illness treatment etc. are as presented in a sworn statement 
(dated 20 March 1908) made b James Elliott (nephew of Euphemia). This statement is 
included in the probate file for William Jacob Marsh (DAAC/9078/878/l3 8) Arch i es New 
Zealand Regional Office Dunedin. A short biograph of Euphemia Marsh (nee ElIio can 
be found in Thomson (2008). 
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everything in a fire that destroyed their cottage in 1885.84 Matters came to a 
head in 1897. Mary asked the Magistrate in Ashburton for a summary 
separation and custody of three children under 16 years old, because of her 
husband's persistent cruelty towards her. lt was reported that, unlike Frank 
she was denied good bedding and furniture in her separate bedroom. When 
the eldest daughter bought furniture for her �m�o�t�h�~�r� Frank threatened to 
destroy it unless it was removed. More important although not a drinker, he 
was reported to have had aviolent temper and continually growled nagged 
and used abusive language toward his wife. Because of his temper and abuse 
Mary had twice left Frank and on other occasions took refuge with 
neighbours. Their eldest son left home on account of his father s behaviour 
While another reported a fight with him. But could a separation be granted on 
the basis of such evidence? The Magistrate thought not and refused to do so 
concluding that Frank was not a drunkard, used no personal violence toward 
his wife and that his temp er rather than persistent cruelty was the cause of 
unhappiness in the home. Less than five years later, with the support of two 
sons Mary made another unsuccessful attempt to secure a separation on the 
grounds of persistent cruelty. 85 Mary died in 1906 and Frank in 1924 (aged 
83) leaving a small estate (less than f400) to be divided between his four 
surviving children.86 

Without excusing Frank Stigley s behaviour a contributing factor should be 
acknowledged. Attempting to explain his position Frank was reported to 
have said: 

'" he had not the bad temper attributed to him. He wanted the boys 
and girls all home at nine o 'clock at night, and they came home just 
when they like d His wife always took their part in this against him, 
and this was all the trouble. He had no control of his boys and girls 
owing to his wife 's conduct.87 

It appeared to be a difficulty not unfamiliar among immigrants with spouses 
from different cultural backgrounds. Vincent Duimovich could no doubt 

84 
. Star 10 December 1885 p.3. According to this report the inmates only escaped in their 

nIght dresses . 

85 
See Ashburton Guardian 16 September 1897, p.3 and (for Mary s second attempt with 

the support of son s William and Arthur) Ashburton Guardian 27 March 1902 p.3. 

86 
Probate file Francis [a.k.a. Frank] Stigley (CAHY/3155/CH145/40ITU2221 11 924) 

Archives New Zealand Regional Office Christchurch. 

87 
Asburton Guardian 16 September 1897 p.3. 
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have argued along similar lines with regard to the poor role model that his 
wife (guilty of repeated drunkenness and theft) provided for their nine year­
old son in 1890 and 13 year-old daughter in 1897. Guilty of theft, the boy 
was sentenced to a beating with a birch rod while his sister was committed to 
St. Mary' s Industrial School Ponsonby as ajuvenile vagrant. 88 

A child s behaviour, however could also be affected by other factors such as 
the death of a parent innate personality characteristics and peer group 
associates. One or more of these factors may have affected Adolphus Cuiss 
eide st child of Andrew Cuiss a Dunedin fishmonger from Vis and his wife 
Catherine' Cuiss (nee Walsh). Married in 1863 the couple had three children 
(born 1864-1870) before Catherine s untimely death in 1871. Adolphus did 
well at school in the early 1870s despite his mother s death but came to the 
attention of police in 1879 when he his brother Augustus and a companion 
were convicted but discharged without penalty (because of insufficient 
evidence) for damage to Dunedin s Pelichet Bay baths.89 In July 1883 
Adolphus was again in trouble. Arrested as a ringleader of a band of larrikins 
called the Skeleton Army who assembled for a demonstration against the 
Salvation Anny he was charged for behaving in a manner calculated to 
provo ke a breach of the peace as streets were blocked pebbles thrown and a 
tumultuous noise created before police lntervened. Adolphus was lucky to be 
fine d just ES (which he paid) or six weeks imprisonment.9o One imagines his 
father, with another son and daughter to care for was pleased that Adolphus 
had left home to li e with other bachelors before his third appearance in the 
Police Court in 1886 this time for the theft of fruit during a drunken spree 
that incurred a fine of 40s plus half the alue of the fruit. 91 

Fortunately the above examples of disrupted relationships and misbehaviour 
appear to have been uncommon. Indeed when children were believed to be 
unjustly treated parents leapt to their defence sometimes at a cost to 
themselves. In June 1902 for example when the rights and treatment of 

88 See: Auckland Star 7 August 1890 pA (re son)· and Thames Star, 1 October] 897, p.l (re 
daughter). 

89 See: Otago Daily Times 28 Decemb r 1872 p.S, 19 December 1873 p.2 and Otago 
Witness 26 December 1874 p.S (success at school)· Otago Daily Times 4 February 1879 
p.8 (re baths damage). 

90 Otago Daily Times 10 July 1883, pA an e tended report on the disturbance at Moray 
Place). 

91 Otago Witness 6 March 1886 pA re theft of fruit ). 
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school pupils were of less concern than today, Martin Macale brought a 
charge of assault against the head teacher of a Lumsden school for allegedly 
striking his son Arthur on the face with a book causing his nose to bleed. 
Widely reported in newspapers, the charge was dismissed (with costs) after a 
hearing which found that the boy had not been stru ck over the face and that 
the degree of force used by the defendant "to rouse an inattentive pupil was 
justified.92 The following month in Thames, Leo Sarich was charged for 
drunkenness and his father (Antonio Sarich) for obstructing a .police officer. 
When the officer arrested Leo Antonio objected, arguing that as he was 
taking his son home the police officer had no right to interfere. Not so 
concluded the Magistrate, who would tolerate no inference with a constable 
performing his duty even if Antonio, being a foreigner was ignorant of the 
law. Leo was convicted and discharged for drunkenness but Antonio was 
fmed 20s [fl] and costs or, in default seven days imprisonment.93 

Cases such as those involving the children of Frank Stigley Andrew Cuiss 
and Vincent Duimovich were simply those that came to the public s 
attention. Like other parents most of the pioneers seem to have enjoyed 
sound familial relationships and gave whatever support they could to their 
children. Fathers provided children with long-term interest free loans for 
special purposes such as vocational training etc. (e.g. Martin Macale) 
Worked with sons as business partners (e.g. Raymond Poschich and sons in 
mining Antonio Sarich and a son engaged in contract work) supported sons 
With advice or gifts for the purchase and development of properties as 
beginning farmers (e.g. Giorgio Vucetich) or arranged for the transfer of a 
farm lease to a son when the day of retirement fmally arrived (e.g. Mariano 
Vella).94 

At The End of Life 

Like other elderly people some pioneers encountered problems or 
?ifficulties associated with ageing. These problems included: feelings or 
Incidents of insecurity or threats to their well being when they were perceived 
as easy targets for the antics of larrikins or those with more serious crimes in 
mind· deteriorating health; and for widowed or unmarried older men without 

92 
South/and Times, 12 June 1902 p.4 (re the hearing on the charge of assault). 

93 
Thames Star 21 July 1902 p.3. 

94 
For further details see biographies of Raymond Poschich Giorgio Vucetich and Mariano 

Vella in Chapter 2. 
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close social support, the loneliness or depression that could lead to suicide. 
Examples of such difficulties were found for only a small number of the 
pioneers, but there were probably other cases that for various reasons 
escaped official notification and/or public attention. 

Samuel Caro (born in Zadar) described as an old man living by himself 
complained to the Port Chalmers police in 1894 that he was being 
continually annoyed by boys throwing stones onto the roof of his small 
house and was "afraid of his life. When he was pelted with snowballs the 
police charged three boys with throwing missiles but because Samuel 
declared he was mistaken as to their identity the case was dismissed.95 In a 
similar vein, Francis Superina (born in Rijeka), an old gold-miner in 
Westland, was greatly annoyed at various times by larrikins who stole his 
marble clock and hens cut his well-rope and removed his dinner. Once 
during a temporary absence from his cottage they even drove a horse inside 
and closed the door. Deciding that he had put up with enough, two of his 
friends announced in 1902 that they would each give a fl re ward for 
information on anyone playing practical jokes on Francis in the future.96 A 
final and far more serious example of insecurity was a case of brutal assault 
by two drunken miners. 

At about 9pm on Saturday 16 October 1909 Vincent Duimovich and his 
wife Ellen were disturbed by a knock at the door of their home in 
Neavesville east of Thames. When Vincent (aged 81) opened the door he 
was met by men demanding 'a feed . Refusing the demand he was 
repeatedly struck on the face knocked to the floor and dislocated his 
shoulder. In the course of subsequent e ents Ellen was struck on the head 
fell to the floor bleeding profusely from a head wound and her assailant 
attempted to rape her. The affair attracted considerable attention during an 
initial hearing at the Thames Police Court which determined that a prima 
facie case of assault with intent to do grie ous bodily harm had been 
established. On that indictment two men were committed to the Supreme 
Court for trial. One offender was e entually sentenced for his assault on 
Vincent to three months imprisonment with hard labour and the other was 
sentenced to nine months with hard labour for assaulting Ellen.97 

95 Ot ago Daily Times 15 September 189 , p.7. 

96 Grey River Argus 25 October 1902, pA. 

97 See: Thames Star 28 October 1909, p.2 and 29 October 1909 pA (for initial hearing; and 
Thames Star 17 November 1909 p.2 for sentences imposed). 
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1. Pioneers 

Turning now to health, the process of age ing has always been accompanied 
by the onset of difficulties some more serious than others for an individual's 
well being and quality of life. However decades of hard physical labour and 
various injuries - especially for miners, contractors and settlers developing 
new farms - accentuated the normal debilitating effects of osteoarthritis in 
old age. Nor should we ignore the long-term debilitating effects of 
tuberculosis diphtheria, scarlet fever, scurvy, dysentery, diarrhoea and 
typhoid produced by inadequate shelter, close living conditions, poor food 
and primitive sanitation on the goldfields. 98 Particular occupations and 
individuallifestyles were also likely to be reflected in more specific diseases. 
As noted earlier for example Antonio Obuglien's price for his success as a 
gold-miner was the development of a respiratory problem commonly known 
as 'miner s complaint" and for Giorgio Vucetich a history of chronic 
bronchitis probably stemmed from year round all-weather outdoor activity 
to develop and manage a farm. Along with pneumonia, bronchitis no doubt 
afflicted many miners living and working in harsh conditions throughout 
Otago and Westland as well. On the other hand one suspects that Nicolo 
Radove's lifestyle - he had a reputation for open-handed hospitality and 
heavy drinking - caused or contributed to his fatalliver disease. 

As illustrated by Frank Thian when he announced he was giving up his mail 
Contract ' failing health' was often cited as a reason for retirement or a 
reduction in one s hours of employment. Where a man had family members 
who could take over a business or farm had been reasonably prudent in 
saving for old age or had some other source of income (e.g. a pension) a 
reduction of working hours or retirement was not a problem. But not all 
families could afford the associated loss of income and action would 
sometimes be taken to secure a breadwinner's position pending a return to 
good health. The case of Simeone Vitaglich (born on the Island of Vis) and 
his son John pro ide s an interesting but tragic example. 

In November 1895 Simeone fell ill. He was then 58 years old a long-term 
employee of the Westport Harbour Board and his 19 year-old son John was 
engaged to act as a boatman on the harbour staff during his father s absence. 
All went well until the end of April 1896 when John set off in a small boat 
with charts for the captain of the departing barque Coromandel. It was 
reported that: 

98 
ee Eldred-Grigg (2008:300-308 314-316) for goldfield living conditions and health 

problems. 
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. .. [he} fastened his boat alongside the vessel with the object of 
bringing the harbour-master, Captain Leech who was aboard the 
barque, ashore. When the mouth of the river was reached, half a mile 
inside the bar, the boat seems to have swamped, and [John} Vitaglich 
was thrown into the water. The accident 11 as seen from the tug and the 
crew raised the alarm, which attracted the attention of those aboard 
the barque ... When Captain Leech looked over the side of the ship the 
boat was full of water, but nothing could be seen of Vitaglich .99 

John' s body was never recovered and no official inquiry into the 
�c�i�r�c�u�m�s�t�a�n�~�e�s� of his drowning was conducted during the months that 
followed. 

Grief stricken John's parents and five siblings served the Westport Harbour 
Board with a writ in late July claiming ESOO damages for their loss on 
account of the negligence of Captain Leech the Board s harbour-master. 
Unhappily, worse was to come. Simeone died from a complication of his 
illness at the end of September and when the case came before the District 
Court, the judge prompted by counsel for the Harbour Board entered up 
judgment for a nonsuit. Expressing his sympathy with the family the judge 
made it clear he had to administer the law which in this case stated that if 
two men were employed by the same employer and one wa injured, the 
injured man had no recourse against the employer except under the 
Employers' Liability Act. But as notice of an intention to claim under the 
Act had not been gi en within six weeks as required the matter r sted as if 
the Act had not been passed into law. Despite the circumstances (John s 
drowning and Simeone's death) the omission of a notice to claim under the 
Act could not be excused. 100 

Without the close support of his family and friends it is not too difficult to 
imagine that Simeone could ha e taken his own life rather than dying from 
natural causes given his illness and the tragic loss of his son. Much the same 
could be said for other elderly Croatian pioneers and members of the general 
population especially if handicapped by a significant physical or sensory 
disability such as blindness. One wonders for example what might have 
happened to Andrew Cuiss the widowed Dunedin fisbmonger blind from 
natural causes late in life and grie ing over the unexpected death of his 
younger son Augustus in 1895 without the attentive aid of Lucretia his 
married daughter. Li ing in Melbourne Lucretia took her father into her 

99 Timaru Herald 2 Ma 1896 p.3. 

100 For an account of the judge s decision see Olago Witness 12 November 1896 p.3. 
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home and attended to his personal needs and business affairs until his death 
(aged 78) in 1905.101 

By way of an answer to the thought of an alternative end to Andrew Cuiss 
life we should note the sad demise of: John Scopinich (born on the Island of 
Lošinj) who died in December 1907 aged 65· and Mark Beanovitch (born in 
Rijeka) who died in March 1897 aged 57. The Grey River Argus reported 
that John Scopinich: 

... was found dead this morning 1-1 ith his head in a basin of water on 
the floor and a heavy iron trunk on the back of his head. It was 
evidentl a case of determined suicide. Deceased was getting gradually 
blind and was to be admitted during the afternoon to the Old Men 's 
Home. 102 

The Pacific Lodge of Freemasons No. 29 English Constitution of which 
John had been an active member and office holder was the sole beneficiary 
of his meagre estate l 03 - a clear indication of his lack of close support by kith 
and kin. Mark Beanovitch described as a gumdigger residing at Te Kao 
(Northland) at the time of his death, also committed suicide hanging himself 
on board the SS Clansman while in police custody on his way to Auckland to 
stand trial for attempted rape. Like John Scopinich Mark appears to have 
had no immediate family or other close relatives in New Zealand and in his 
last will and testament bequeathed what little he had to family members (his 
father and seven siblings) he believed to be still living in the old country. 104 

10 1 
. Details of Andrew Cuiss' place of residence blindness and care-giving as presented b 

hIS daughter Lucretia Tarnme in a sworn statement (dated 11 December 1906) included in 
her father s probate file (DAACI9074/229IA319) Archives New Zealand Regional Office 
DUnedin. 

lOJ 
- Grey Ri er Argu , 19 December 1907 p.3. 

103 

John Scopinich probate file (CAIF/20702/CH300/56/HK218011 908) Archi es ew 
Zealand Regional Office Christchurch. The estate was assessed to be under f60. For 
repOrts on his role in the Masons see: West eoast Times 21 March 1889 p.2· 3 June ] 891 
p.2· and ] 4 February 1895, pA. 

104 

For details of Mark Beanovitch's death etc. see his probate file (AAOMJ60291104/5657) 
Archi es New Zealand Regional Office Auckland. Mistakenly identified in newspaper 
reports at the time as Mark Bionovich or ' Mark Bionovick it was also reported that in 
�~�r�e�v�i�o�u�s� ears he had sold his farm at Opotiki, returned to his homeland and then after a 
tIme had come back to New Zealand. He had been engaged in gumdigging at Kaipara and 
Mangonui for two ears before his death. See: Thames Star 19 March 1897 p.2 (re suicide 
and rape charge)· and Auckland Star 20 March 1897 pA (re suicide inquest and his 
background). 
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Being illiterate, Mark probably found it difficult to maintain regular contact 
with his birth family. 

It would, of course be foolish to assume that all of the older pioneers lacking 
the support of their own family or other close relatives and friends were 
equally at risk of suicide. Indeed the majority of such men appear to have 
been quite resilient, as illustrated by John Gargliecevich and Andrew 
Baretich both of whom were early arri als long-term miners unmarried and 
without any relatives in New Zealand. John Gargliecevich living 
independently in Goldsborough Westland was 77 years old when he passed 
away in November 1916 leaving his estate to nieces in South America. �J�O�~� 
And Andrew Baretich became the oldest survivor among the Croatian 
pioneers; a resident of the Old People s Home in Hokitika for the last six 
years of his life he was 102 years old when he died in March 1937. 106 

The Significanee of the Pioneers 

In an attempt to explain the distinct characteristics of immigration and 
settlement in New Zealand by Italians and other southern Europeans, Revel 
Lochore introduced the concept of migration chains. To illustrate just how 
a chain could begin and develop, Lochore used the hypothetical example of 
an Italian seaman put ashore with a broken leg. Recovering from his injury 
he found a job: 

... and did well. He booked a return passage to Italy, had a holiday in 
his home village boasted about the new land and brought his brother 
back with him. When the had earned enough they financed the 
passage for a cousin, and then a friend, and another friend ... Then 
(decisive step) someone per uaded his wife to come. The second 
woman to come was promi ed a home near the first ... And so ear 
after year people continued to mo e along the migration chain, until 
they built what was virtual! an Italian village in New Zealand ... 107 

The concept was refrned and successfully applied in 1963 by Charles Price in 
his classic study Southern European in Au tralia and a year later chain 
migration was defrned by other researchers as: 

105 See probate file of John Gargliece ich (CArF/20702/CH3 00/601HK2551 l 919) Archives 
New Zealand Regional Office Christchurch. 

106 Evening Post 23 March 1937, p.12. 

107 Lochore (1951 :24). 

so 

Foundations 

Being illiterate, Mark probably found it difficult to maintain regular contact 
with his birth family. 

It would, of course be foolish to assume that all of the older pioneers lacking 
the support of their own family or other close relatives and friends were 
equally at risk of suicide. Indeed the majority of such men appear to have 
been quite resilient, as illustrated by John Gargliecevich and Andrew 
Baretich both of whom were early arri als long-term miners unmarried and 
without any relatives in New Zealand. John Gargliecevich living 
independently in Goldsborough Westland was 77 years old when he passed 
away in November 1916 leaving his estate to nieces in South America. �J�O�~� 
And Andrew Baretich became the oldest survivor among the Croatian 
pioneers; a resident of the Old People s Home in Hokitika for the last six 
years of his life he was 102 years old when he died in March 1937. 106 

The Significance of the Pioneers 

In an attempt to explain the distinct characteristics of immigration and 
settlement in New Zealand by Italians and other southern Europeans, Revel 
Lochore introduced the concept of migration chains. To illustrate just how 
a chain could begin and develop, Lochore used the hypothetical example of 
an Italian seaman put ashore with a broken leg. Recovering from his injury 
he found a job: 

... and did well. He booked a return passage to Italy, had a holiday in 
his home village boasted about the new land and brought his brother 
back with him. When the had earned enough they financed the 
passage for a cousin, and then a friend, and another friend ... Then 
(decisive step) someone per uaded his wife to come. The second 
woman to come was promi ed a home near the first ... And so ear 
after year people continued to mo e along the migration chain, until 
they built what was virtual! an Italian village in New Zealand ... 107 

The concept was refmed and successfully applied in 1963 by Charles Price in 
his classic study Southern European in Au tralia and a year later chain 
migration was defmed by other researchers as: 

105 See probate file of John Gargliece ich (CArF/20702/CH300/601HK255/1919) Archives 
New Zealand Regional Office Christchurch. 

106 Evening Post 23 March 1937, p.12. 

107 Lochore (1951 :24). 

so 



1. Pioneers 

that movement in which prospective migrants learn of 
opportunities, are provided with transportation and have initial 
accommodation and employment arranged by means of primary social 
relationships with previous migrants. 108 

But this definition is not quite flexible enough to account for the numeJ0US 
migrants who learned of opportunities through village gossip (initiated by 
letters, successful migrants returning home for a visit or to resettle after some 
years abroad) and raised passage funds by loans or mortgages. Having 
arrived at their destination such migrants were indeed met and helped by 
fellow villagers with whom they were related or previously acquainted or to 
Whom they were recommended by other friends or relations. These 
'followers' in turn informed, encouraged andlor assisted others in 
progressively widening pools of prospective migrants. Given this flexibility, 
the above definition would be quite acceptable. 

Chain migration obviously has its roots in the careers of pioneer migrants 
Who wandered about the world in search of work wealth and adventure. 
Among Croatians from the Adriatic Coast this wandering was evident on the 
margins of the Pacific Ocean (California, Chile Australia and New Zealand) 
as early as the 1850s and in some cases possibly a decade or two earlier. As 
shown in Table l and discussed above, these men were typically mariners 
gold-miners fishermen or just plain labourers ready to tum their hands to 
Whatever came their way. Not all of them "did well as Lochore put it and 
not all of those who were successful initiated migration chains that drew 
others to New Zealand. Why? Some were adventurous souls who for one 
reason or another left home with no intention of returning maintaining 
Contact or sharing their good fortune. Some were illiterate and after a decade 
Or more abroad simply lost touch with parents siblings and friends. Some 
marrying a woman from Great Britain and raising their children as English­
speaking colonials had little incentive to maintain contact proc1aim their 
SUCcess or to actively encourage friends and relatives to join them. And 
Some though prosperous and eager enough to attract and assist other 
migrants competed unsuccessfully with siblings relatives and fellow 
vil1agers who had done well elsewhere in the world. The bottom line 
t?erefore, was that just a few pioneers and their immediate followers were 
hkely to initiate a migration chain between a given place of origin on the 
Adriatic coast and a particular destination abroad. 

-----------------------108 
Macdonald and Macdonald (1964:82). 
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Going one step further, there was no guarantee that a chain once started 
would continue to function with the passage of time. Consider for example 
an ephemeral chain from Kotor at the southern end of the Dalmatian coast 
possibly initiated by Peter Tomano ich (who arrived in New Zealand 
c.1863) but more likely by Andrew Vocassa ich. Peter enjoyed a measure of 
success as a gold-miner in Otago but by the time Andrew arrived (c.1866) a 
gold-rush was underway in West1and and he settled there to be followed 
(allowing for surname spelling variations) by Tripo Vucasovich (c.1868) and 
Thomas Vocasovitch (c.1873). On the e idence available there were no 
further arrivals as part of this chain possibly because Tripo lost everything 
when he was bankrupted in 1875 or because their kith and kin took 
advantage of more attract ive links to alternative destinations. 

On the other hand chains established by pioneers from central Dalmatia 
proved to be more enduring with long-term effects upon settlement in New 
Zealand. By the end of 1880 at least 20 pioneers from the islands of Vis 
�B�r�a�
� and Hvar had arrived along with seven others from the Pelješac 
Peninsula the coastal settlements of Split Makarska and either the village of 
�T�u�
�e�p�i� or Igrane (see Table 1). Two of the chains initiated by these arrivals­
those of Pavel (Paul) Lupis and Mariano Vella - provide solid illustrative 
examples. 

The Lupis Migration Chain 

Although discrepancies have been noted in the information available on his 
date of arrival Paul Lupis has been identified earlier in this chapter as one of 
the first three pioneer arrivals. Setting the discrepancies aside it is believed 
that Paul: deserted from an English immigrant ship at Lyttelton in 1858' 
prospected for gold in the South Island' moved to Auckland during the 
1860s working initially as a boatman ferrying passengers between Wynyard 
Pier and ships in the harbour was well established as a fisherman residing in 
Official Bay by early 1870]09. and that during the second half of the 1870s 
became a gumdigger in the Northern Wairoa. In the absence of an official 
marriage registration a public notice in November and December 1877 
wherein Paul declared I will not be responsible for any debts contracted by 
my wife Sarah Lupis suggests that he had also entered into a de facto 

109 In March 1870 a gold ring and mone was stolen from Paul s dwelling in Official Ba . 
The thief was later brought before the court and sentenced (Daily outhern eros 20 June 
1870 p.4). 
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1. Pioneers 

relationship of unknown duration. 110 Overall his life until the late 1870s was 
more or less unremarkable, but became much more interesting over the next 
two decades as revealed by Nicholas Sentch. 

Born in Kostrena Sv. Lucija near Rijeka, Nicholas Sentch had been aseaman 
for some years before arriving in New Zealand in 1 .. 864. In the �c�o�u�r�s�~� of 
evidence to the 1898 Royal Commission on the Kauri Gum Industry, in 
which he commented on the increasing presence of' Austrians" from central 
Dalmatia Nicholas stated: -

As far as l know, there is a person out here of the name of Paul Lopez 
[i .e. Lupis]. l am speaking of 18 years ago [about 1880J, he [LupisJ 
was gumdigging at Dargaville and made a little money. He went home 
to Austria, got married there and brought his wife back to New 
Zealand with him, and also some of his relations, and since then it 
seem to me that, by giving them the idea that money could be made in 
the country at gumdigging, they have been advancing money to each 
other to come out. III 

Nicholas Sentch was right, but Paul Lupis actually visited his home village 
Nakovan on the Pelješac Peninsula not once but three times and his 
influence soon extended beyond the Pelješac Peninsula as shown below.112 

110 

• Having made a little money" as Sentch put it Paul visited Nakovan 
for the first time in 1880. While there he married Maria Jakoba 
�P�e�r�v�a�n�
�i��� in May 1881 and their first child Šabo (Sebastian) was 
born before they returned to New Zealand in 1882 probably 
accompanied by Florius and John Lupis. For anyone living in the 
icinity of Nakovan interested in making a better life for himself 

The notices appeared in the Auckland Star 30 November 1877 p.3 and l December 
1877 p.S. What became of this ' wife' is unknown as no official marriage, death or di orce 
records have been found. 

III 
, Report and E idence of the Royal Commission on the Kauri Gum Industry in New 

Zealand Appendix to the Journals of the House of Representatives 1898 01. 3 H. 12 
Pp.34-3S. 

112 
. The stages and features of the Lupis migration chain as presented here are based on 
mfonnation pro ided by Jelicich (2008:35-36). Additional material on the date of arri al of 
?articular indi iduals and families (especially from �K�o�r�
�u�l�a�)� has been constructed from 
mfonnation in: the Register of A liens 1917 Government Printer Wellington' and Register of 
Persons Naturalised in New Zealand Before 1948, Department of Internal Affairs 
Wellington. 
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Foundations 

Paul's two-year visit was time enough to hear about New Zealand 
and its opportunities. 

• Only a few years later Paul and his family were back in Nakovan 
where Maria gave birth to another son Rajmondo (a.k.a. Rismondo 
or Mondo) in 1888. The family returned to New Zealand in 1889 this 
time probably accompanied by Antonio and Nicholas Lupis as well 
as friends from the village of Žrnovo on the Island of �K�o�r�
�u�l�a� just 
across the narrow Pelješki Kanal. The exact identity of these friends 
has yet to be established but they may have been members of the 
Jencevich and Sale (a.k.a. Salle) families. 

• With interest stimulated by Paul s visits and favourable reports from 
previous emigrants at least two other Lupis family members arrived 
on the gumfields in the early 1890s - Sam (c.1892) and Sebastian 
Antonio Lupis (c.1894). Furthermore, between 1894 and 1897 
follower arrivals from Žmo o included: Antonio Salle and 

Domenik Jericevich' plus the first members of the Bakalich Bilish 
Cebalo Segedin and Stanisich families' who were in turn followed 
by others from their extended families as well as the Grbin family 
over the years 1900-1913. ews of the success enjoyed by pioneers 
and followers from Žrnovo soon spread to neigbouring illages on 
�K�o�r�
�u�l�a�.� For example: Peter Batistich Ilija Dracevich Ivan 
Jurjevich and Mark Lipano ich made their way to New Zealand 
from the village of Lumbarda during the 1890s' and Mate Blitvich 
Jerry Farac and Jim Vlasich were early arrivals (c. 1905) from Pupnat. 

• Paul Lupis and his family made their fmal trip back to Nakovan in 
1898 and during the voyage another son (Ljubo) was born at sea. 
Coupled with letters and remittances from emigrants who had either 
accompanied or followed him after previous visits Paul s presence in 
Nakovan over the next three years (1899-1901) once more added to 
the all ure of New Zealand s gumfields firing the imagination and 
strengthening the migration intentions of families in nearby towns 
and villages on both the Pelje"ac Peninsula and �K�o�r�
�u�l�a�.� The Lupis 
family eventually returned to ew Zealand in 1902. 

No doubt the Lupis home at Mangawhai was a welcoming reception point 
for new arrivals and others seeking or xchanging news on the gumfields. 
While the flow of migrants from P ljesac was relatively small the number of 
arrivals from �K�o�r�
�u�l�a� (especiall Žrno o and nearby villages) grew quickly 
and became an important feature of roatian s ttlement in ew Zealand. For 
example migrants from �K�o�r�
�u�l�a� dominated th quarrying industry at Mt. 
Wellington in Auckland from the mid-1920s onwards. 
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1. Pioneers 

The Vella Migration Chain 

The Vella chain proved to be just as complex and far-reaching in its effects 
as the Lupis chain. A detailed account of Mariano Vella s life is provided in 
the next chapter so only a brief summary is needed here. Born in Makarska 
but probably raised in nearby Podgora village Mariano arrived in 1878 and 
settled initially at Paremata, north of Wellington. It should be noted here that 
he was not the first from the Makarska-Podgora district to arrive in New 
Zealand. John Lucich is known to have been in the Hampden �~�e�a� of Otago 
probably as a miner, where unclaimed letters were held for him in early 
1864. In 1871 he was an unsuccessful defendant in a court case for board and 
lodging.11 3 What is not known, however, is what influence (if any) John 
Lucich had upon the arrival of Mariano or others from the same district in 
Dalmatia. We are on much safer ground with Mariano Vella. 

Mariano lived and worked in Paremata for a number of years as a fisherman 
prospered and in January 1886 married Mary Ida Furse born in England. A 
few weeks later Mariano subleased Mana Island (8kIn from Paremata) and 
embarked on the demanding task of bringing it into production as a sheep 
farm. All went well until Mary died suddenly in December 1889 leaving her 
hus band with a young family of two sons and a daughter. It was against this 
background that the Vella chain developed with several key phases. 11 4 

11 3 

• First Mariano was joined (c.1885) by his cousin John (a.k.a. Ivan) 
Vella who worked with Mariano as a fisherman, maintaining the 
business as the Mana farm was developed to which he also lent a 
hand. 

• Second c. 1892 Mariano weIcomed his brother Peter Vella who may 
have been accompanied on the voyage by another young man from 
Podgora - Marino Pivac. Peter contributed to work on the farm and 
probably the fishing business as well before going out on his own as 
a sheep farmer. 

See Glago Dail Times 25 February 1864 p.6 and 17 May 1864 p.6 (re mail)' and Daily 
SOuthern Cross 29 July 1871 p.3 (re court case). 

114 

. In addition to Mariano s biography in Chapter 2 the stages and features of the Vella 
rtl1gration chain are based on informat ion provided by lelicich (2008:94-95). Additional 
Tnaterial on the date of arrival of particular individuals and families from Podgora has been 
constructed from information in: the Register of Ali ens 191 Government Printer 
Wellin gton' and Regi ter of Persons Naturalised in New Zealand Before 1948 Department 
ofIntemal Affairs Wellin gton. 
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Foundat ions 

Mariano Vella 
Source: Vella Cafe, Plimmer ton 

• About the time of Peter s arrival Mariano' s cousin John Vella 
returned to Podgora to marry Catherine Marino ich. Two children 
were born to them and several years passed before John again 
decided to mo e to New Zealand in 1899. His presence in the home 
village during this time allowed people in Podgora and neighbouring 
villages to get first -hand information about opportunities in that far 
away land and the success of his cousin Mariano. It comes as no 
surprise then that Antoni Dean and Jacob Vincent Kurta both from 
Podgora arri ed in e Zealand during the mid-1890s. 

• John Vella s example probably enhanced widower Mariano s sense 
of his own need for a wife and mother for his children. Having 
arranged for the care of his family and the farm therefore he set off 
for a short trip in 1894. Rather than a bride from Podgora or a nearby 
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1. Pioneers 

village however, he married Elizabetta Caterina Tarabochia from 
Mali Lošinj on the northern margins of Dalmatia. It was a match 
probably arranged' with the help of Thomas Tarabochia who resided 
in Wellington. For the return to New Zealand, Mariano and his bride 
were accompanied by two youngsters; an unnamed nephew of 
Elizabetta s and Antonio Tarabochia (unrelated), a nephew of pioneer 
gold-miner John Scopinich. On the last leg of the return trip their 
ship the SS Wairarapa was wrecked on Great Barrier Island. 
Mariano his wife and Antonio survived but Elizabetta s nephew was 
among those who lost their lives. 

• Early in 1899 Mariano's cousin John Vella returned to New Zealand 
with his family (wife Catherine and two children). They were 
possibly accompanied or closely followed by the first members of the 
Babich Ban, Borich Kokich, Letica, Marinovich Nola, Radojkovich 
and Sunde families from Podgora who are known to have arrived 
c.1899. John's return was marked by a career change' instead of 
again working as a fisherman at Paremata and/or assisting on Mana 
Island he settled at Otaki on the northern end of the Kapiti Coast and 
worked in a vineyard. Only a few years later in 1903 he moved his 
family north to Orati a, south of Henderson on Auckland s western 
outskirts where he and Catherine established a vineyard and orchard. 
Their home soon became a transit centre for new arrivals from 
Podgora heading for the gumfields. These arrival s may ha e 
included: additional members of families already working in 
Northland; and pioneers from the Beros Devcich, Gar ea, Garelja, 
lakich Juretich Kunac Lucijetich Milicich Radonich Rosandich 
S anko Sumich, Vodanovich and Vrsaljko families. As pioneer 
settlers in Oratia the family of John and Catherine Vella inevitably 
attracted other Croatian settlers keen to invest money saved from 
their labour on the gumfields. 

• In 1909 Mariano Vella 'retired' left the Mana Island farm in the care 
of his eldest sons and returned to Dalmatia with Elizabetta and at 
least one child for a visit that lasted six years. They resided at his 
wife s birthplace in the north but Mariano had ample time and good 
reasons to visit relations and friends in Podgora. In his mid-50s he 
was the epitome of success' the young sailor had become a wealthy 
nlan a man able to rest and travel while capable sons managed his 
land and stood ready to support him in old age. No one could fail to 
be impressed by this example and to hope for similar success by 
following in his footsteps. 
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Foundations 

By the late 1920s thanks to the success and example of the Vella migration 
chain, settlers from Podgora were strongly established in the orchards and 
vineyards of Oratia and Henderson in Auckland s fishing industry and as 
fish shop and restaurant proprietors in arious North Island towns and cities. 

Paul Lupis has long been perceived as the key to chain migration from much 
of central Dalmatia. Given the timing of Paul s visits to the Pelješac 
Peninsula events during those visits and Nicholas Sentch s statement, it is an 
�u�n�d�e�r�s�t�a�n�d�~�b�l�e� but mistaken perception. It underrates the role of Mariano 
and John Vella (with regard to Podgora and surrounding villages), Paul 
Arnerich (who initiated a migration chain from the Island of �B�r�a�
�)� and other 
arrivals who each played a part in establishing family-based migration chains 
from the islands of Hvar and Vis from towns and villages in the Vrgorac 
district and along the lower reaches of the Neretva River from �M�e�t�k�o�v�i��� to 
the sea. All of these men were in their own way pioneers - courageous risk­
takers who paved the way for relati es and friends. Among their ranks 
however there can be no doubt that pride of place goes to Paul Lupis 
Mariano Vella, Paul Americh and two or three others from H ar and the 
Vrgorac district who have yet to be positively identified and given the 
recognition they so richly des er e. 
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2 
Pioneers: Twelve Biographies 

The previous chapter identified the pioneers, their origins, general �f�e�a�~�r�e�s� 
that characterised their settlement and their influence upon Croatian 
migration to New Zealand. To do this, however, it was �n�e�c�e �~ �s�a�r�y� to step 
back to illustrate points made with brief examples rather than the rich 
integrated detail of individual life stories. In order to capture the intrinsic 
human interest and insights provided by such stories, this chapter presents 
twelve biographies, each of which has been constructed to trace key events 
in the life of the pioneer as he attempted to take advantage of opportunities 
available to those with the vision and determination to grasp them. In one 
way or another some proved to be remarkable men and successful settlers. 
Others were less so. For quite different reasons two of the twelve eventually 
left New Zealand and among those who stayed two were not survived by 
any children whereas others established families with numero us descendants 
in later generations. Needless to say, personal circumstances and reasons 
Were often (not always) predominant in shaping their lives and producing 
differences between them. 

The selection of the twelve pioneers featured here was determined in the 
end by two factors. Of these the most important was the scope and quality 
of information available from three sources: the National Library of New 
Zealand s digitalised ' Papers Past" newspaper resource' Archives New 
Zealand via its Archway" facility· and descendants who granted access to 
private material about their pioneer ancestors. The second factor influenced 
by available information was a desire: to gain recognition for pioneers 
Whose stories have so far been ignored (Carina Mikoz Pavletich Poschich 
Singer and Violich)' to provide more detailed accounts of those who have 
already gained a measure of recognition (Arnerich Bacovich V eli a, 
Vragnizan and Vucetich)' and to correct errors or misconceptions (notably 
about Bacovich Radove and Pavletich) arising from the work of previous 
Writers. 

There are of course, many other pioneers whose stories still remain to be 
toId. That said readers are reminded that in addition to the biographies 
presented below reliable accounts of the lives of Matthew Harlevitch (a.k.a. 
Harliwich) Paul Lupis and Nicholas Sentch can be found in Stephen 
Je1icich s book From Distant Village . 
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Foundations 

Giaccomo (a.k.a. James) Mikoz 

Born in "Buccari' (i.e. Bakar near Rijeka) c.1843 according to his marriage 
record or 1846 as indicated in his naturalisation file Giaccomo Mikoz was in 
his mid-teens when he landed in 1860. He may have been a sailor who 
jumped ship like others seeking their fortune in New Zealand, especially 
during the South Island gold rushes in the early 1860s. If he ventured into 
gold mining in Nelson Otago or Westland however it must have had little 
appeal for within a few years he was working as a boatman perhaps a more 
familiar occupation and less precarious source of income for a young man 
contemplating marriage. On 26 November 1867, Giaccomo married Sarah 
Ann West (born c.18S0 in Melbourne) at her mother's home in Greymouth. 
The marriage was performed in the presence of two witnesses one of whom 
was Simeone Vitaglich (born in Komiža on the Island of Vis). 

Employment as a boatman howe er turned out to be no more profitable or 
secure than many other goldfield occupations· debtors had to be brought to 
account (e.g. Mikoz v Nelson for f3) and creditors paid (e.g. Magoffin and 
Fraser v Mikoz for f9 1Ss plus costS).115 With expenditure exceeding 
income, Giaccomo was obliged to file an insolvency declaration in May 
1873. As a result a leasehold section with a small newly-bui1t cottage his 
main asset was put up for unreser ed sale during the following month. Once 
the sale was completed and a trustee had been appointed Giaccomo 
immediately applied for an order of discharge as a bankrupt. Although 
opposed by three creditors his application was granted after examination by 
the District Court. 116 No doubt chastened by this set back he thereafter 
shunned self-employment in favour of a job with the Greymouth Harbour 
Board a position he held until the end of his working life. 

His new job, as an assistant to the Harbour Master was not without danger. 
In June 1900 when someone tampered with the mooring of a small boat used 
to check beacon lights, he was lucky to escape any injury. He was less 
fortunate in October 1901· his foot was slightly hurt when a rope 
accidentally fouled his leg while th Harbour Master was attempting to clear 
a large snag alongside the Greymouth wharf. 117 Over a period of 30 years 

11 5 Grey River Argus 28 September] 871 p.2 and 14 Ma 1873 p.2 (re debtors and 
creditors). 

11 6 Grey River Argus 12 Ma 1873 p.3 ] 9 June ] 873 p.2 and 30 June 1873 p.2 (re 
bankruptcy estate sale and discharge). 

11 7 Grey River Argus 18 June 1900 p._ and 6 o ember 1901 p.2 (re work dangers). 
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2. Pioneers: Twelve Biographies 

however Giaccomo - now known as James - developed his harbour 
knowledge skills and expertise. These attributes came to the fore in 
incidents such as the recovery of accidental drowning victims. In 1885 for 
example responding to a report that a person he knew well had fallen into 
the Grey River James organised a search for the body: Using an impro ised 
grapnel he cast the line below the spot where the man was said to have fallen 
in hooking and retrieving the body on the third attempt. He pIa ed a similar 
role in 1900, recovering the body of a seaman who tripped and fell in the 
dark of night from the Greymouth wharf. 118 Together with the exemplary 
performance of his normal duties, such incidents earned him the respect of 
his employer and others in the community. It is not surprising, therefore, that 
his request for a salary increase " to lOs a day for 7 days a week was quick1y 
agreed to in April 1900.119 

James s talents were not limited to his place of work. He was a proud co­
patentee of a spur-gear bicycle which he believed could ' hold its own, if not 
outclass in many respects those in use upon the roads.' 120 A public 
exhibition of this bicycle was held in Greymouth on 18 November 1898. 

In the absence of complete birth registrations, the exact number and identity 
of children in the Mikoz family is open to question but it included at least 
two Sons (Alexander [a.k.a. Francis or Frank] and Patrick) and three 
daughters (Mary Norah and Ellen). Of these children one is known to have 
been troublesome and two the subjects of parental grief. Alexander was such 
�~�n� irresponsible spendthrift that James twice placed advertisements 
Informing shopkeepers and other creditors that he would not be liable for his 
son s debts.12 On the other hand the deaths of Mary (1895) and Ellen 
(1900) both of whom had suffered from ill health were times of parental 
grief. Unlike Ellen whose death at home before her twelfth birthday could 
be attributed to a severe ... inf1ammation of the lungs her sister s demise 
Was unusual. A blood vessel rupture was thought to be the cause of Mary's 
death but when her body was found one evening in Greymouth s Elmer 

118 

Grey River Argus II May 1885 p.2 and West Coast Times 22 May 1900 p.4 (reco ery 
of drowning ictims). 

119 

Grey River Argus, 26 April 1900 p.2 (re saJary increase). 

120 

Grey Ri er Argus 18 November 1898 p.2 and p.3 (re bicycle patent). 

121 

Grey River Argus 7 September 1891 p.2 and 8 March ]901 p.3 (re Alexander s debts). 
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Lane with blood about the face and no sign of injury public interest was 
naturallyaroused.122 

After a short illness Sarah Ann Mikoz died on 19 October 1902, barely 19 
months before the death of her devoted husband. In December 1903, James 
applied to the Harbour Board for a month s leave his first in 17 years. 123 

During this leave he felt unwell and spent time dangerously ill in Wellington 
Hospital, suffering from peritonitis. His return to Greymouth in April his 
inability to �~�e�s�u�r�n�e� work over the following six weeks, his death on 3 June 
1904 (aged 5 8 years) and his interrnent in the Greymouth cemetery were 
monitored by The Grey River Argus. 124 Announcing his death the newspaper 
reported that James: 

... was in the employ of the Harbour Board ... and was a trustworthy 
servant. He was well knOVl n and highl respected, and the geniaI 
'Jimmy" as he was familiarl called will be greatly missed. 125 

Survived by (at least) three children Giaccomo (James) Mikoz left his estate 
- a leasehold section with a six-roomed dwelling household furniture and 
effects - in the hands of trustees to administer for the sole benefit of his 
daughter Norah, a spinster in Greymouth. The estate fetched almost f260 at 
auction but after payment of funeral expenses and debts was reduced to f97, 
a sum that prompted his executors to ask the Harbour Board to make some 
compassionate allowance as his daughter was left rather badly off .126 

Francisco (a.k.a. Frank) Violich �[�V�i�o�l�i���]� 

In his oath of allegiance for naturalisation in March 1877, Francisco -
commonly known as Frank - stated that he was 34 years old born (e. 1843) 
in 'Callamotta" (i .e. �K�o�l�o�
�e�p� near Dubrovnik) and had arrived in New 

122 Grey River Argus 7 October 1895 p.2 and _4 Jul 1900 p.2 (re death of Mary and Ellen). 

123 Grey River Argus 16 December 1903 p.3 ( re lea e application). 

124 Grey River Argus, 27 January 1904 p.3 re illness)· 13 April 1904 p.3 (re retum to 
Greymouth)-7 May 1904 p.2 (re continued illness· 4 June 1904 p.2 (re death)· 6 June 1904 
p.2 (re funeral). 

125 Grey River Argus 4 June 1904 p.2. 

126 Probate file Giaccorno (James) Mikoz CAlF/20702/CH300/Bo 541HKI1231l904) 
Archives New Zealand Regional Office Chri tchurch (for will and estate alue)· Gre 
River Argus 15 June 1904 p.3 (re e ecutors' request). 
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2. Pioneers: Twelve Biographies 

Zealand in September 1860. If these personal details are correct he was just 
17 or 18 years old upon his arrival. However there is room for doubt here 
because his 1877 marriage certificate states he was 40 years of age (i.e. born 
c.1837 rather than c.1843) and therefore about 23 years old upon arrival. . 
Some of Frank's descendants believe that when he jumped ship he had been 
a ship' s cooper. 127 

Francisco (Frank) Violich 
Source: Kevin Violich 

Nothing definite is known about his life and activities during the 1860s but 
it is reasonable to assume that he tried his hand at mining in elson Otago 
and/or Westland and may also have ventured into the hotel business. The end 
result however was disastrous; a creditors meeting was called in September 
1870 in Greymouth to decide if proceedings for bankruptcy could be 
changed to one of arrangement. 128 Apparently the latter option was approved 
aS Frank was able to either form or continue a partnership with John 
Pa letich from Bakar near Rijeka, previously a gold-miner in Australia). 

----------------------127 
ome background and other information provided by Kevin Violich , personal 

communications February-March 20 I I. 

128 

West eoast Times 14 September 1870 p.1 and 19 September 1870 p.1 (re bankruptc ). 
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Foundations 

This partnership, trading under the name of Pavletich and Co. ran the 
Commercial Hotel at Upper Ford Little Grey Junction as well as a ferry 
service across the Grey River. It was dissol ed by mutual consent in March 
1872, the business thereafter being carried on by Frank with Peter Sacconi 
for at least another year until April 1873.129 His activities during the next 
three to four years are unknown but an unc1aimed letter at Greymouth s Post 
Office in late 1874 suggests that he remained in the region perhaps working 
as a miner andlor contractor. 

By early 1877 Frank was developing a relationship with Helen Bingham 
White (nee Campbell, born c.1845 in Melbourne), a widow with six children. 
Helen and her late husband Peter White (a.k.a. Pierre Le Blanc) had arrived 
in Hokitika in 1866. Ten years later in December 1876 Peter then publican 
of Greymouth s Commercial Hotel committed suicide; he and Helen were 
known to be living apart at the time as a result of domestic problems.13o 

Barely seven months later in July 1877 Frank married Helen at St. Patrick s 
Church, Greymouth, and six children were born over the next ten years -
Francis John (January 1878) Alic,-, (1879) Adelaide (1880) Albert (1881) 
Charlotte (1884), and Victor (1887).131 

Helen with Frank s assistance continued to manage the Commercial Hotel 
for several months until the new licensee took possession. During this time 
she began to sort out her late husband s estate but the newly married couple 
also considered their future options and made plans accordingly. By October 
1877 they had moved to Wallsend a rough frontier coal mining town 
adjoining Brunner some 15km east of Greymouth. Frank opened abilliard 
saloon there and in December 1877 applied to the Licensing Court for a new 
hotel.I32 His application was appro ed with a pro iso that if the business was 
not "conducted in a respectable manner the licence would be cancelled. The 
Court was signalling its dissatisfaction with: 

... the ... disreputable condition of hou es [L e. hotels) in that 
neighbourhood [where, with one exception}. .. there was not a housefit 

129 Grey River Argus 27 March 1872 p.3 24 April 1873 pA and 25 Januar 1875 pA (re 
partnerships with Pa letich and Sacconi). 

130 Grey River Argus 22 December 1876 p._ (re suicide inquest). 

13 1 The names and birthdates of children were pro ided b Kevin Violi ch February-March 
2011. 

132 Grey River Argus 8 October 1877 p.3 re Wall send billi ard saloon). 
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2. Pioneers: Twelve Biographies 

for respectable people to enter, or where proper and decent 
accommodation could be procured. I 33 

Two weeks after Frank's application was approved a setback occurred; 
noting that he had failed to comply with certain licence conditions the Court 
decided that it would withhold the certificate until accommodation shown 
upon the plan he submitted had been provided. 134 It appears Frarlk complied. 
But if he did so as the owner of the Empire Hotel, his status soon changed to 
that of a tenant who less than five years later was ordered by a magistrate to 
pay rent arrears (f15 lIs) and to vacate the premises within a week so that a 

Ir new owner could take possession. ) 

That said the years in Wallsend were busy and eventful ones with the birth 
of the couple s first four children, Frank's discharge in 1880 from the 1870 
bankruptcy arrangement I 36 (an event perhaps linked to the hotel s 
ownership) and his employment as a contractor. Leaving Helen to manage 
the hotel Frank worked either alone or in a partnership on a variety of 
Contracts including construction of a box culvert and road improvement for 
the Grey County Council (1881).137 Such work could be quite lucrative 
unless the profit margin was eroded by the demands of difficult terrain 
unfavourable weather and cutthroat competition for local body contracts 
Usually awarded to the lowest tender. Over a period of nine months in 
1880/81 for example Frank must have wondered if he could earn a living 
When three quarters of the tenders he submitted to the Grey County Council 
Were unsuccessfu1.] 38 

133 
Grey River Argus 5 December 1877 p.2 (re Wallsend hotel licence etc.). 

134 
Grey River Argus 19 December 1877 p.2 (re certificate being withheld). 

135 
Grey River Argus 3 May 1882 p.2 (re hotel tenancy termination). 

136 
Gre River Argu 27 July 1880 p.3 and 6 August 1880 p.3 (re bankruptcy discharge). 

137 
ln Jul 1881 Frank, in a partnership (Regan and Violich) , won a tender (f152) for 

construction of a box culvert and improvement of the main Grey Valley Road at Rock 
ISland. The tender ran into difficulties that resulted in a claim to the County Council for f25 
for extra work and a request for an extension of time. For details regarding this contract and 
�~�e� Overseer s report see: Grey River Argus 20 July 1881 p.2 22 October 1881 p.2 25 

ovember 1881 p.2 and 13 December 1881 p.4. 

138 
Grey River Argu , 7 October 1880 p.2 and 20 July 1881 p.2 (re contracting work). 
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133 
Grey River Argus 5 December 1877 p.2 (re Wallsend hotel licence etc.). 

134 
Grey River Argus 19 December 1877 p.2 (re certificate being withheld). 

135 
Grey River Argus 3 May 1882 p.2 (re hotel tenancy termination). 

136 
Gre River Argu 27 July 1880 p.3 and 6 August 1880 p.3 (re bankruptcy discharge). 

137 
In Jul 1881 Frank, in a partnership (Regan and Violich) , won a tender (£152) for 

construction of a box culvert and improvement of the main Grey Valley Road at Rock 
ISland. The tender ran into difficulties that resulted in a claim to the County Council for £25 
for extra work and a request for an extension of time. For details regarding this contract and 
�~�e� Overseer s report see: Grey River Argus 20 July 1881 p.2 22 October 1881 p.2 25 

ovember 1881 p.2 and 13 December 1881 p.4. 

138 
Grey River Argu , 7 October 1880 p.2 and 20 July 1881 p.2 (re contracting work). 
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Upon leaving the Empire Hotel at Wallsend in 1882 the family moved back 
to Greymouth, occupying a cottage in Boundary Street that Helen purchased 
in her name alone (probably drawing on funds from Peter White's estate). 
The couple's last two children were born there but the family experienced a 
number of difficulties and sorrows during the second half of the 1880s. In 
1885, two cases in the Magistrate s Court went against Frank as the 
defendant; the first for more than E77 plus costs and the second for a much 
smaller suni of almost E8 though the Court made no order for the latter 
given the absence of evidence that the defendant was able to pay.139 On the 
home front the sixth child (Victor) died within four months of birth in 1887 
and in 1889 Helen's eldest son (William White aged 20) died in a coach 
accident. 140 With Frank engaged on contracts at some distance from 
Greymouth, such events and fmancial difficulties may have contributed to a 
situation where he and Helen were living apart. In June 1890 less than three 
months after completing and paying off his men for a sub-contract at Ahaura 
(halfway between Greymouth and Reefton) Frank was adjudged bankrupt 
for the second time.141 Described as a bushman his place of residence was 
Tawhai near Reefton. 

Although this bankruptcy was closed in 1891 and the assignee released from 
his duties with Frank's estate at the beginning of 1892 142 Helen set about 
providing for herself and the children. Working with her eldest daughters 
(the Misses White) she operated the Fancy Repository and Art Needle Work 
Depot in Tainui Street Greymouth from late 1891 until 1898. They stocked 
a variety of fancy goods and toys performed machine knitting to order 
offered lessons in artwork and served as agents for clothing patterns and 
homeopathic medicines. 143 Details are scarce but Frank for his part appears 
to have continued employment as a contractor wherever there was work to be 
found. In 1893 for example he and a partner won a contract to supply 

139 Grey River Argus 2 April 1885 p.2 and _4 December 1885 p.2 (re defendant in court 
cases). 

140 Grey River Argus 12 September 1887 p.2 and 29 May 1889 p.2 (death notices Victor 
and William). 

141 See: Grey River Argus 21 March 1890 p. re Ahura contract· and lnangahua Times 4 
June 1890 p.2 (re second bankruptc ). 

142 lnangahua Times 8 Jul 1891 p._ and 8 January 1892 p.3 (re closing of bankruptc ). 

143 Grey River Argus 18 December 1891 p.3 and 4 April 1894 p.3 (re Art Needle Work 
Depot). 
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bridge piles for the Seaward Bush railway extension near Invercargill. 
Needless to say their tender for this project was the lowest received. 144 

ln late 1898/early 1899, following the sale of the leasehold business property 
in Tainui Street Helen sold the cottage in Boundary Street and moved to 
Wellington with the children.145 Living at 102 Molesworth Street she and 
her daughters took in boarders. Exactly when Frank moved north is unknown 
but at the time of Helen' s' death, l 7 September 1911 he was already residing 
in Dannevirke Hawkes Bay. He died there aged about 84 years on 8 
August 1916. Frank was survived by four of his own children (his eldest son 
Francis John died at Porirua in 1912) but made provision in his will for the 
division of his estate (valued at f261) between only two of these children 
(son Albert and daughter Charlotte, who were to receive one quarter each) 
and one step-daughter (Beatrice, who was bequeathed half of the estate). ] 46 

In accord with his instructions Frank was interred at Wellington s Karori 
Cemetery in the same plot as his late wife and eldest son. 

Nicolo Radove [Radovi or �R�a�d�o�v�i���?�]� 

Mistakenly identified as a Sicilian by the Timaru Herald in 1888 an error 
repeated by two later writers 147 Nicolo Radove - as shown in his 
naturalisation documents - was actually an Austrian citizen. He declared that 
his birthplace (e. 1834) was' Oulban near Trieste possiblyamisspelling of 
'Albona (known today as Labin) on the Istrian peninsula. Nicolo was 
illiterate using a mark to sign his naturalisation application and it seems that 
whoever filled in the papers made an error in translating his pronunciation of 
his birthplace s name. It may be argued that if his birthplace was Albona 
(Labin) it would more accurately have been described as being' near Fiume 
(i.e. Rijeka) rather than 'near Trieste . Under the dual monarchy of Austria 
and Hungary however, Fiume and its Croatian hinterland were controlled by 
Hungary whereas Trieste and Istria were administered by Austria and 

-----------------------144 
Evening Po t 20 February 1893 p.2 (re Seaward Bush contract). 

145 

Grey River Argus 17 June 1897 p.3 30 January 1899 p.3 and 3 February 1899 p.3 (re 
sales of lease property and cottage). 

146 
Probate fiJe, Frank Violich (AAOMJW3265/6029/Box 303119644), Archi es ew 

Zealand, ationalOffice Wellington (re Frank s will estate value and division among 
family members). 

147 

ee Vance 1980:35) and Pickering (20 l O: 150). 
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therefore consistent with Nicolo s declared Austrian nationality when he 
applied for naturalisation (1881). 

Although the details of his early life have yet to be verified especially as it 
has been suggested that some aspects were concocted in one of [Nicola 'sj 
imaginative moods,,148 it does seem that he was a bit of an adventurer. 
According t9 Vance, Nicolo started off as a cabin boy in coastal shipping and 
by age 20 was a sailor serving in the British navy during the Crimean War 
(1853-1856). ]49 Among the first to scale the fortress wall at the end of the 
siege of Sevastopol (a.k.a. Sebastopoi) in 1855 he was wounded in action 
and nursed back to health in one of the camp hospitals set up by Florence 
Nightingale. He is also thought to have been a seaman on the great clipper 
ships over the next few years (1856-1860) and to have tried his hand at gold 
mining in Australia. 

Nicolo arrived in New Zealand c.1860. Dark-haired and of powerful 
physique he became known throughout South Canterbury as "Big Mick . For 
most of the first seven years after his arri al he worked as a station hand and 
shearer in the Mackenzie Country on the Benmore Ben Ohau and Balmoral 
sheep stations and for a while managed Glen Lyon station. His strength 
diligence skills and good temp er together with his generosity and support 
for workmates made him a favourite wherever he went. He assisted Jock 
Fraser owner of Ben Ohau station with the task of driving the first mob of 
sheep over 500km from N elson to the Mackenzie Country and gained 
respect as a gun' blade shearer who could fleece 50 Marino sheep before 
breakfast.150 But life for Big Mick wasn t all work and no play' he was 
known to be a hard drinker when in town with workmates, and at a race 
meeting held on Benmore station in January 1867 was successful with two of 
his horses Phantom and Topsy the latter winning both the Shearer s Purse 
and Shepherd s Plate. 151 

By saving his wages and shearing cheques and calling in loans (including 
one for f50 reco ered ia a court case 1-2) Nicolo built up sufficient capital 

148 Pinney (1971 :58-59). 

149 Vance (1980: 144). 

150 Details on Nicolo s earlyears in ew Zealand are from ' A Mackenzie Country 
Pioneer" Timaru Herald 31 JuJ 1888 p.3, and Vance (1980:54 137 and 139). 

151 North Otago Times 5 February 1867 p._ (re the Benrnore races). 

152 Timaru Herald 20 Ma 1868 p.2 and 10 June 1868 p.2 (re court case for Joan reco ery). 
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to buy his own property. Accompanied by John Lloyd a fellow station hand 
with whom he had developed a close relationship, he took possession. of 
Birch Hill in 1868, a station of 12,000 hectares on the south bank of the 
Tasman River that included the southern spurs of Mt. Cook. It was here that 
Big Mick became a figure of legend. 

Believed to be the first European on the Tasman Glacier, his mountaineering 
exploits - as he clambered over his rugged property seeking out and 
mustering sheep - were often talked about. Among the stories told by 
neighbours and station hands were the following: that on one trip, his boots 
slung about his neck he walked barefoot to get over hillsides made like glass 
by an overnight frost' how he once stayed out so long that he had to eat 
snowgrass roots to overcome the pangs of hunger; and that Dr Julius von 
Haast on an expedition up what he believed to be the "unexplored" slopes of 
Mt. Cook was startled by the sudden appearance of Big Mick who 
announced that the area was part of his regular mustering beat. 153 Pickering 
Suggests that the latter story - befitting a legend - is nothing more than a tall 
tale because Haast was exploring the area in 1862 about six years before 
Nicolo took possession of Birch Hill. 154 Of course it is possible that the story 
stems from an incident which occurred when Nicolo was working not as a 
station owner but as a station hand in the area. There is no denying however 
that When Sir George Bowen Governor of New Zealand visited the area in 
1873 Nicolo provided provisions for a couple of nights pointed out various 
scenic features along a section of the Tasman Valley and lent replacement 
Ulouuts to some of the Governor's party for their retum journey. 155 

Nicolo could never have managed all f the mustering and other work 
Without the assistance of his close friend John Lloyd plus other station hands 
and shearers as required. It must therefore have been a double blow when 
after three years at Birch Hill John's health began to deteriorate. Finding it 
�~�o�r�e� and more difficult to work Lloyd consulted a Timaru doctor who 
dlagnosed an incurable disease. Refusing to be hospitalised he returned to 
Birch Hill where his care as he became weaker placed a mounting demand 
on Nicolo s time and energy. According to Vance: 

-----------------------------------------------------------
153 

For stories of Nicolo s exploits see: ' Mount Cook exploration' Timaru Herald 7 June 
1871 p.S (mistakenI identified as Reddoff') 31 July 1888 p.3· and Vance (1980:144). 

154 . 
PIckering (20 l O: 154). 

155 

Timaru Herald 10 February 1873 p.2 (re Govemor's visit). 

69 

2. Pioneers: Twelve Biographies 

to buy his own property. Accompanied by John Lloyd a fellow station hand 
with whom he had developed a close relationship, he took possession. of 
Birch Hill in 1868, a station of 12,000 hectares on the south bank of the 
Tasman River that included the southern spurs of Mt. Cook. It was here that 
Big Mick became a figure of legend. 

Believed to be the first European on the Tasman Glacier, his mountaineering 
exploits - as he clambered over his rugged property seeking out and 
mustering sheep - were often talked about. Among the stories told by 
neighbours and station hands were the following: that on one trip, his boots 
slUng about his neck he walked barefoot to get over hillsides made like glass 
by an overnight frost' how he once stayed out so long that he had to eat 
snowgrass roots to overcome the pangs of hunger; and that Dr Julius von 
Haast on an expedition up what he believed to be the "unexplored" slopes of 
Mt. Cook was startled by the sudden appearance of Big Mick who 
announced that the area was part of his regular mustering beat. 153 Pickering 
Suggests that the latter story - befitting a legend - is nothing more than a tall 
tale because Haast was exploring the area in 1862 about six years before 
Nicolo took possession of Birch Hill. 154 Of course it is possible that the story 
stems from an incident which occurred when Nicolo was working not as a 
station owner but as a station hand in the area. There is no denying however 
that When Sir George Bowen Governor of New Zealand visited the area in 
1873 Nicolo provided provisions for a couple of nights pointed out various 
scenic features along a section of the Tasman Valley and lent replacement 
mounts to some of the Governor's party for their return journey. 155 

Nicolo could never have managed all f the mustering and other work 
Without the assistance of his close friend John Lloyd plus other station hands 
and shearers as required. It must therefore have been a double blow when 
after three years at Birch Hill John's health began to deteriorate. Finding it 
�~�o�r�e� and more difficult to work Lloyd consulted a Timaru doctor who 
dIagnosed an incurable disease. Refusing to be hospitalised he returned to 
Birch Hill where his care as he became weaker placed a mounting demand 
on Nicolo s time and energy. According to Vance: 

-----------------------------------------------------------
153 

For stories of Nicolo s exploits see: ' Mount Cook exploration' Timaru Herald 7 June 
1871 p.5 (mistaken! identified as Reddoff"') 31 July 1888 p.3· and Vance (1980:144). 

154 . 
Plckering (2010: 154). 

155 

Timaru Herald 10 February 1873 p.2 (re Governor's visit). 

69 



Foundations 

Each evening Big Mick took care to .finish his work in time to carry 
Lloyd up the hillock at the back of the homestead to see the sunset. . .. 
When dusk changed the blue Mackenzie sky to violet, and a crisp wind 
from the Tasman Glacier gave warning of approaching night/all, Big 
Mick, wrapping a blanket around his mate, carried him down to the 
homestead. 

.. . It is· recorded that [when Lloyd died} Big Mick, in his grie/, "lay on 
the corpse and tried to breathe life into the lips of his companion ' 

, 156 

Lloyd was buried on the hillock behind the Birch Hill homestead and the 
grave is still marked by the original headstone which reads: 

John Lloyd who died 16 Sept. 1 _ aged 36 years. A token of respect 
erected by Nicola Radove. 157 

Because Lloyd died inte state without any known relatives letters of 
administration for his estate and effects were granted to Nicolo in January 
1873 by the District Court at Timaru. 1 �~�8� 

Thanks to his hard work thrift and the sound advice of a neighbour 
(probably Andrew Burnett of Mount Cook station) Nicolo did well at Birch 
Hill but sold the property in 1874. Although he may have been induced to 
sell by "prosperous times and rugh prices 159 another determinant was 
probably Lloyd s death. Looking for a new property Nicolo isited the 
North Island found nothing that suited him and returned to the Mackenzie 
Country where he purchased the Mistake station in 1875. Extending from the 
northwest shore of Lake Tekapo between the Cass and Godley rivers the 
Mistake station (later named Godley Peaks) covered an area of o er 48 000 
hectares of rugged terrain that was difficult to muster and required attenti e 
flock management. 

Big Mick started well on his ne enture but it ended in disaster a decade 
later. In 1876 to manage costs and maintain reasonable returns he joined 
other station owners and managers in setting and publisrung an ongoing 
agreement for shearing rates as well as an embargo on the employment of 

156 Vance (1980: 120). 

157 Pickering (20 l O: 157 -158). 

158 Timaru Herald, 10 January 1873 p.2 ad ert col. 4. 

159 Vance (1980: 145). 
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shearers refus ing work at the rate specified.16o Similarly he successfully 
applied to the Mt. Cook Road Board in 1877 for funding assistance. to 
improve access to his woolshed.161 Overall, times were good for the first 
three years, marked by extravagant parties that went on for a week at a 
time.162 Nicolo s marriage c.1878/79 to Irish-born Ellen Fleming was 
believed to have brought much needed order and restraint to life at the 
Mistake station but the couple almost immediately faced a succession of 
setbacks and tragedies. Severe winters with heavy snowfalls, often as late as 
spring lambing a well-known hazard in the Mackenzie Country were 
particularly bad in 1879 and 1884 with significant stock losses. To add to 
their woes in 1879 New Zealand was hit by the onset of a depression that 
lasted for o er a decade. Export prices for wool and other commodities fell. 
The outcome of these events, coupled with shortcomings in farm 
management the absence of business advice from his former neighbour at 
Birch Hill and the lack of friendly guidance from his new neighbour (John 
McGregor Glenmore station), was that Nicolo found himself in fmancial 
difficulties.163 Finally, in the midst of these troubles he and Ellen lost their 
only children' Anna Maria in 1880 (aged three months) and Catharine in 
1881 (aged four months). 164 

To resol e his financial difficulties Nicolo took out a couple of mortgages 
the first in November 1882 and another in August 1884. But this course of 
action only delayed the fateful day. In March 1885 the mortgagee (The 
British and New Zealand Land Mortgage and Agency Company) sold the 
property. Nicolo was enraged and stormed into the company s office 
demanding an explanation. Three months later arguing that the sale was 
unwarranted done in an improper manner and that it undervalued the 
property he took his case to the Supreme Court claiming ;(2 000 for 
damages. The mortgagee responded with a counter claim for ;(822 (the 
balance due on securities) asserting the plaintiff defaulted not only on 

--160 ----------

Timaru Herald, 16 November 1876 pA (re shearing rates agreement). 

161 

Timaru Herald, 8 December 1877 p.3 (re Roads Board funding). 

162 

Vance (1980:171). 

163 

t\r See: Timaru Herald 31 July 1888 p.3· and Vance (1980:171) for life and setbacks on the 
�~ �s �t�a�k�e� station. Finne (1971 :92) notes that McGregor was 'not on good terms with his 

nelghbour Nicolo Radove and that the two men never visited each other. 

164 
, Earl Mackenzie Country Graves - Musterers' htto:llwww.rootsweb.ancestrv.coml 

accessed February 20 l] re death and burial of daughters). 

71 

2. Pioneers: Twelve Biographies 

shearers refusing work at the rate specified.16o Similarly he successfully 
applied to the Mt. Cook Road Board in 1877 for funding assistance. to 
improve access to his woolshed.161 Overall, times were good for the first 
three years, marked by extravagant parties that went on for a week at a 
time.162 Nicolo s marriage c.1878/79 to Irish-born Ellen Fleming was 
believed to have brought much needed order and restraint to life at the 
Mistake station but the couple almost immediately faced a succession of 
setbacks and tragedies. Severe winters with heavy snowfalls, often as late as 
spring lambing a well-known hazard in the Mackenzie Country were 
particularly bad in 1879 and 1884 with significant stock losses. To add to 
their woes in 1879 New Zealand was hit by the onset of a depression that 
lasted for 0 er a decade. Export prices for wool and other commodities fell. 
The outcome of these events, coupled with shortcomings in farm 
management the absence of business advice from his former neighbour at 
Birch Hill and the lack of friendly guidance from his new neighbour (John 
McGregor Glenmore station), was that Nicolo found himself in fmancial 
difficulties.163 Finally, in the midst of these troubles he and Ellen lost their 
only children' Anna Maria in 1880 (aged three months) and Catharine in 
1881 (aged four months). 164 

To resol e his financial difficulties Nicolo took out a couple of mortgages 
the first in November 1882 and another in August 1884. But this course of 
action only delayed the fateful day. In March 1885 the mortgagee (The 
British and New Zealand Land Mortgage and Agency Company) sold the 
property. Nicolo was enraged and stormed into the company s office 
demanding an explanation. Three months later arguing that the sale was 
unwarranted done in an improper manner and that it undervalued the 
property he took his case to the Supreme Court claiming £2 000 for 
damages. The mortgagee responded with a counter claim for £822 (the 
balance due on securities) asserting the plaintiff defaulted not only on 

--160 ----------

Timaru Herald, 16 November 1876 pA (re shearing rates agreement). 

161 

Timaru Herald, 8 December 1877 p.3 (re Roads Board funding). 

162 

Vance (1980:171). 
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t\r See: Timaru Herald 31 July 1888 p.3· and Vance (1980:171) for life and setbacks on the 
�~ �s �t�a�k�e� station. Pinne (1971 :92) notes that McGregor was 'not on good terms with his 

nelghbour Nico)o Radove and that the two men never visited each other. 

164 
, Earl Mackenzie Country Graves - Musterers' htto:llwww.rootsweb.ancestrv.coml 

accessed February 201] re death and burial of daughters). 
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payment demanded but also on covenants for both the number and 
management of sheep on the property. In effect Nicolo lost his case. He was 
awarded fl ,600 damages but because of the counter claim it was decided 
that he was entitled to recover f840 from the mortgagee, while the latter 
could recover f779 7s 6d in respect of the counter claim. 16-

Nicolo Radovan and his wife Ellen (This i part of a larger photograph that is believed 
to show Nicolo (seated) with his wife Ellen (hand on his shoulder) 

Source: South Canterbury Museum 

Given the stringent economic conditions of the times Nicolo and Ellen were 
fortunate to secure employment at the Hermitage built at Mt. Cook during 
the previous year. Big Mick srputation and local knowledge were 
undoubtedly valued by his emplo er Frank HuddIeston) who was working 
hard to develop tourism in the area. Here as a guide for about two years 
Nicolo was reputed to be a great fa ourite with guests introducing them to 
the wonders and surroundings of th Tasman Glacier. Big Mick however 

165 Olago Daily Times 26 June 1885 p.3 and _9 June 1885 p.4 (re Rado e s The British 
and New Zealand Mortgage and Agenc Compan ). 
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was ill suffering from a liver disease that cut short what might otherwise 
have been a distinguished finale to his life. 166 

When the disease became worse he was brought on medical advice, to 
Timaru where he died, aged 54 years, on 29 July 1888.167 Interred in the 
Timaru cemetery, his o bituary noted among other points, that: 

He was a rough diamond ... but kind of heart, and when in a position 
to play the host, hospitable to a notable degree, even in a region where 
h . l" dd 168 osplta lty lS a sacre uty. 

urvived by his wife, Nicolo died intestate. Ellen remarried five years later 
but it was not until 1900 (with the consent of her new husband James Keane 
of Levels station) that she applied for and was granted letters of 
administration for Nicolo' s estate and effects, valued at less than fl OO .169 

Nicolo Radove s presence and role in the history of South Canterbury's high 
country is today marked by various topographic features including: Mt. 
Radove (2430m) the highest point at the head of Middle Gorge on Godley 
Peak.s-Mt. Sebastopol (l 468m) named by Nicolo in remembrance of his 
service during the Crimean War; the Zora (i.e. the Dawn) Glacier and nearby 
Zora Creek. 

Thomas Henry Carina 

Bom in March 1837 at Portore (i.e. Kraljevica, near Rijeka) Thomas 
Carina was 25 years old and possibly accompanied by two sons - Thomas 
and Joseph - when he arrived in March 1862. Nothing else is known about 
his life and acti ities prior to arrival and with two exceptions - his marriage 
and naturalisation - much the same can be said about his first 6 years in New 
Zealand. On 5 September 1867 Thomas married Catherine McLean (born 
1823 in Argyleshire Scotland) at the home of Hector McKay in Auckland. 

--166 ----------

Timaru Herald 31 Jul 1888 p.3 (re employment at the Hermitage and li er disease). 

167 • 

Ptnney (1971: 170 refers to a painful illness" makes no mention of a liver disease 
SUSpects that N icolo died of a broken heart and notes that his death certificate stated 
ruPture of blood essel in intestine . 

168 

Timaru Herald 31 Jul 1888 p.3. 

169 

N PrObate file Nicola Radove (CAHXl2989/CH1711Box 112/CH4003/1900) Arch i es 
ew Zealand, Regional Office Christchurch (re value of estate Ellen remarrying etc.). 
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Catherine had arrived in New Zealand c.1860. 170 A year after his marriage 
Thomas applied for and was granted naturalisation at which time he was a 
"settier" in Whitianga Mercury Bay on the Coromandel Peninsula. 

Thomas Henry Carina 
Source: Mercury Bay Museum, Whitianga 

Given his rapid rise to prominence in Mercury Bay the lack of information 
about Thomas s pre ious life and acti ities gi es rise to a key question. How 
did he get the capital required for hi business ventures and other activities? 
Assuming that his resources w re limited or non-existent upon arri al in 
New Zealand, there appear to b at least 3 possible answers or some 

170 Thomas s background details pro id d b Janet Rjddle personal communication 14 June 
2011' Catherine s details at http://ouraucklandstuff.freeservers.comJAuckDeathsC.htm 
accessed June 20 ll . 
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combination thereof) to this question. The first possibility is that Thomas in 
Partnership with Vincent Duimovich (who arrived c.1864), did well as a 
timber contractor supplying a Mercury Bay sawmill. Hearsay evidence'in 
support of such a partnership was provided in a Thames Star article se era! 
decades later when Duimovich died.171 A second possibility is that Thomas 
struck it lucky as a gold prospector in the Thames district or elsewhere on the 
Coromandel Peninsula in the mid-1860s. Finally it is possible that he very 
shrewdly courted and captivated an older woman of substance; he was 30 
and Catherine (Kate) 44 years old when they married in 1867. While nothing 
is known about Catherine' s means and social position, the evidence available 
suggests that she had no children of her own before marrying Thomas and 
that their union was also without issue. For an ambitious younger man, a 
non-British immigrant with two sons, it might well have been an ideal 
marriage. 

Whatever the source of his funds Thomas established himself as a business 
leader in Mercury Bay with a cluster of enterprises on parts of a block of 
land known as Karamuramu No.235N. His first venture here was the 
Whitianga Hotel (built c. 1867/68) of which he was the proprietor until 1888. 
By June 1871 he had also built a public hall (a.k.a. Carina s Music Hall ') 
that served the community as a venue for both entertainment and various 
social functions. Other Carina businesses or buildings in the same area 
eVentually included two stores stables, a blacksmith s shop a harness room 
a house and a cottage. In the last quarter of 1872 he completed (at a cost of 
;(250) a wharf nearly 400 feet (122 metres) long to enhance the strategic 
location of his property and to direct trade - especially that associated with 
local saw mills - toward his hotel and other business ventures. 172 Via a letter 
to the editor of the Daily Southern Cross 11 November 1872 Thomas 
proudlyad ised readers that as a service to seafarers and the general public: 

'" a bright light is shown from sunset to sunrise from the end of my whar/, at 
Which there is llft [3.35 metres} of water at ordinary high tides. An early 
gazette notice will particularise the nautical bearings. 

---171 ----------

T Thames Star, 7 Jul 1910, cited by Isdale CI 994: I O). Note that July 1910 issues of the 
names Star were missing from the National Library of New Zealand Papers Past' digital 

resOurce as at Ju! 2011. 

172 
Auckland Star 27 August 1888 p.8 advert col.4 (re land known as Karamuramu No.235 

�~ �~� buildings thereon)' Daily Southern Cross 19 June 1871 p.3 (article on launch of cutter 
ercury refers to ' Mr Carina s new music hall ), and 3 No ember 1874 p.2 (re length 

and cost of wharf). 
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Like other businessmen of his time Thomas was not immune to the 
attractions or potential value of both town and rurallandholdings. Aside 
from the site noted above for his hotel and other buildings, by the mid-1880s 
he was the owner of 12 freehold allotments in Mercury Bay and 31 adjoining 
the mill of the Kauri Timber Company in the locality known as Campbell 
Town. He also held title to 14 freehold blocks together amounting to about 
321 acres �~�1�2�9�.�9� hectares), situated in and around Gum Town (now 
Coroglen). 17 As frequent visitors to Auckland it is very likely that Thomas 
and Catherine had a property there as well. 

A willingness to support other local ventures, further evidence of his 
financial resources and commercial acumen was first demonstrated when 
Thomas commissioned two boats from shipwright William White who had 
set up a business at Ferry Landing around 1870. The first essel a yacht 
called the Contrabandiere (i .e. Smuggler) upon which 'no expense or pains 
were spared' was launched in October 1873 and offered for sale 18 months 
later.174 Better known was the second vessel the 60 ton Saucy Kate a fore­
and-aft schooner launched in 1876 and employed for some ears in the 
business of coastal shipping between Mercury Bay Auckland and other 
ports.17S No wonder therefore that Thomas was identified in 1884 as a 
provisional director along with seven other Mercury Bay residents 
(including William White as secretary pro tem) in a prospectus issued to 
form The Mercury Bay Co-operative Steamship Company (Ltd.).176 His 
willingness to assist and/or work with others no doubt accounted also for the 
arrival in 1883 of Marcello Carina (possibly a younger brother) who quickly 
became proprietor of the Mercury Bay Buffet in 1885/86 and a storekeeper 
when naturalised in 1887. Thomas ho e er was not always amenable to the 
interests and needs of tradesmen . in September 1884 a claim against him for 
f29 for tuning and correcting a piano-forte and rep air in g a billiard table was 

173 Auckland Star 24 November 1888 p.8 ad ert re sale of Carina allotments and blocks of 
land). 

174 Daily Southern Cross 14 October 1873 p.2. and 23 April 1875 p.l ad erts (re launch and 
saJe of Contrabandiere). 

175 Auckland Star 16 October 1876 p.2 ("Im ports re Auckland arri al of Saucy Kate). 

176 Auckland Star 6 August 1884 p.2 ad ert col. l (Prosp ctus of Mercury Ba Co-operati e 
Steamship Compan ). 
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decided at Auckland' s Resident Magistrate 's Court in favour of the 
plaintiff. l77 

Despite his other activities, Thomas still found time for local government 
serving as a Coromandel County Councillor representing the Mercury Bay 
Riding from January 1877 until November 1884178. The fact thati1e was one 
of three candidates returned unopposed for the Riding in 1881 suggests that 
he performed well, enjoyed the support of eligible voters and was respected 
by his peers. However, the job was not without its disappointments. In 
March 1877 for example, he was included in a deputation that 
unsuccessfuUy solicited Government s assistance to separate the Mercury 
Bay Tairua and Wbangapoua districts from the counties of Coromandel and 
Thames. On the other hand, Thomas would have been pleased to be a 
member of a deputation in 1882 that successfully brought to the Premier s 
attention issues affecting the County that were in need of urgent attention 
(e.g. charitable aid and hospital funding, the appointment of a resident JP 
and trunk road maintenance).179 But it was his performance of normal 
Council duties that probably yielded the greatest benefits to Coromandel 
County and saved him from an attempted murder. 

Returning home on 3 May 1878 after a trip on Council business, Thomas 
Was attacked and wounded with a gum spear by Patrick Noonan a 45 year 
?ld bushman. Was it as Noonan claimed just a momentary act of insanity 
Induced by excessive alcohol consumption or an attempted murder 
moti ated by a desire for revenge? Having previously gained a conviction 
against Noonan on another matter Thomas had no doubts about his 
assailant s moti ation state of mind or intention. 

The man ... was to all appearance as sober as a judge when he went through 
my hou e, searching every room to find me ... having a gum spear in his hand 
'" and uttering threats that he intended to kill me, and also told my rt ije she 
would be 'a widow in no time JJ. As it fortunately happened, I was away from 
home, looking after the road which is in course of construction from Mercury 
Bay to oromandel, and had Mr Luks [a fellow council/or l as m) 
companion. Upon my arrival at home, Mr Luks and myself, while on 
horseback had a glass of beer, and while returning the glasses to the 

-----------------------177 
e �~�u�c�k�l�a�n�d� Star, II September 1884 p.3 ( 'Resident Magistrate s Court re Reed vs 

anna). 

178 
ee Rhodes (1937:5). 

179 

. Auckland tar 27 March 1877 p.3 and 6 February 1882 p.2 (re membership and 
Objectives of first and second deputations, respectively). 
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b arm a id, the man ... made an onslaught on me with the determination of 
carrying out his threat to my wife ... Happily, hO"t1 ever, I was riding a 
spirited horse ... [which] swerved back, so that the gum spear only entered 
my clothes and glaneed along my ribs inflicting a serious VI ound.180 

In Auckland's Supreme Court two months later Noonan pleaded guilty to 
the charge of attempted murder and was sentenced to imprisonment with 
hard labour. . 

A way from work in business or local go ernment Thomas was no less 
active in pursuit of other interests. A member of the Masons he was invested 
as founding Treasurer for Lodge Whitianga consecrated by the Provinciai 
Grand Lodge, North Island of New Zealand Scottish Constitution when it 
held a meeting at Mercury Bay in December 1885.181 One suspects, however 
that he was more interested in horse racing and Mercury Bay s annual 
regatta. 

According to Janet Riddie 'races in Whitianga were held on Buffalo Beach 
at low tide until Thomas Carina had a course constructed near Taputapuatea 
Stream ... around 1867'. 182 Thomas successfulI y raced his horses in both 
public meetings and private matches well illustrated by the steeplechaser 
Whakahihi during the first quarter of 1881. In January the horse was second 
in the Handicap Hurdie Race at Tauranga won a private match for f25 in 
March at Coromandel racecourse and came second in the Handicap 
Steeplechase at Auckland s autumn meeting in April. Similarly as a 
foundation member of Mercury Bay s Jockey Club (formed in 1881), 
Thomas was Treasurer for the con1mittee organising the Club s 1883 
summer meeting where his horse Ko uth won the Malden Plate and Ladies 
Purse on the first and second days respectively. 183 He would ha e been well 
pleased with these results when the Club held its annual ball at Carina s 
Music Hall" on the evening of the second day. 

180 'Stabbing Case at Mercury Ba ' Bay of Pleno Times II May 1878 p.3. 

181 ' Masonic' Auckland Star 2 January 1886 p.6. 

182 RiddIe (1996:206). 

183 See: Auckland Star 31 January 1881 p.2, 19 March 1881 p.2 and 19 April 1881 p.3 (re 
race results for Whakahihi a.k.a. Whakahehe); 11 November 1882 p.l ad ert col.8 
(identified as treasurer for Mercury Ba Jocke Club summer meeting 1883)' Thames tar 
13 January 1883 p.2 (re Kossuth results. 
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180 'Stabbing Case at Mercury Ba ' Bay of Plenf} Times 11 May 1878 p.3. 

181 ' Masonic' Auckland Star 2 January 1886 p.6. 

182 Riddle (1996:206). 

183 See: Auckland Star 31 January 1881 p.2, 19 March 1881 p.2 and 19 April 1881 p.3 (re 
race results for Whakahihi a.k.a. Whakahehe); 11 November 1882 p.1 ad ert col.8 
(identified as treasurer for Mercury Ba Jocke Club summer meeting 1883)' Thames tar 
13 January 1883 p.2 (re KOSSllth results. 
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2. Pioneers: Twelve Biographies 

Whether out of personal interest, compliance with what was expected of a 
successful businessman his long friendship with shipwright William White 
or a combination of these and other (perhaps less f1atterip.g) reasons Thomas 
Was a generous supporter of the Mercury Bay Regatta on at least a couple of 
occasions. Of these the first was by far the most important. In late 1881 
after earlier talk of staging a New Zealand sculling championship at Mercury 
Bay between Heam of Wellington and local boy Albert White (for which 
Thomas offered a f50 prize and gold medal) fell through, Thomas offered an 
unspecified inducement to get two top scullers from Australia to come and 
race against White. This event took place at Mercury Bay on 27 December 
1881 as part of the annual regatta over a distance of 3.5 miles (5.63km) 
with White competing against Australians identified as Harry Floyd and 
Charles Carter. White had an early lead but was over-hauled by Carter who 
Won by several lengths. Carter also won a second race albeit by a narrower 
margin two weeks later.184 Toward the end of January 1882, Thomas 
accompanied the rival s to Auckland's regatta where White easily defeated 
Carter in a scullers race open to all corners for a prize of f20.l85 A 
faSCinating twist to this episode came when it was revealed shortly 
afterwards that 'Carter was actually an alias for the renowned Australian 
oarsman Charles Messenger. 186 This revelation must have posed an 
mteresting question for Thomas' s friends and foes alike a question for which 
�~�h�e�r�e� is still no definitive answer. Was Thomas - having offered an 
tnducement to attract the two rowers - aware of the deception and if so did 
he make side bets or some other arrangements to recover his investment? 

The second occasion on which Thomas demonstrated his largesse was when 
preparations were underway for the Dec mber 1885 regatta. He promi s ed 
flOO a subscription lauded in the Observer which pointed out that it was not 
t?e first time he had given such an amount, "having contributed f100 some 
tIme ago. 187 By the standards of the day he was generous indeed e en if he 
stood to recoup much of his outlay as a publican and music hall owner 
Catering to customers enjoying a day out. 

-184 �~�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-

Auckland Star 30 December 1881 p.2 and 26 January 1882 p.2 (re White s Carter 
Mercury Ba ). 

185 

Evening Po t 31 January 1882 p.2 (re White Victory at Auckland Regatta). 

186 

Evening Po , 10 F bruary 1882 p.2 ( A Boating Scandal ). 

187 

Observer 13 June] 885 p.22 (re donation for] 885 regatta). 
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Foundations 

Thomas Carina died at Whitianga in June 1888 aged 51 years. He had stated 
that he wished to be buried on the top of what was then called Lion Rock 
(now Carina Rock) in Coroglen southwest of Whitianga, but because no one 
could be found to carry him up there or the locals refused to do so his family 
had his body taken to Auckland and interred at Mount Victoria Cemetery 
Devonport. 188 Under the terms of his will his estate (val ued at under fl 000) 
was administered by non-family trustees instructed to pay annuities of E150 
to his wife Catherine and to each of his two sons (Thomas and Joseph).189 
Catherine died at Epsom Auckland in June 1905 aged 82 years and was 
interred with her husband. Their grave at Mount Victoria Cemetery, located 
in row 4 plot 122 is marked by a Wesleyan!Presbyterian tombstone. 190 

Thomas Pavletich [Tomislav �P�a�v�l�e�t�i���]� 

Thomas Pavletich was born at Buccari (i.e. Bakar near Rijeka) in 
December 1821. Arriving in Victoria Australia in 1853 he managed 
boarding-houses in Melbourne from 1856 until 1862 and was also in 
business as a general dealer.191 Thomas married Anne Connell (born c.1834 
County Kilkenny, Ireland) in Melbourne in July 1856. Recording her rank or 
profession as " servant' when they married Anne undoubtedly pro ided 
considerable support in her husband s boarding-house ventures. Their first 
child (Jerome) was born in July 1857 but died less than two months later. 
Two more children, a daughter (Caseimira) and a son (Bonaventura) were 
born in 1859 and 1861 respecti ely and accompanied their parents to New 
Zealand. The family arrived in Dunedin during November 1862 shortly after 
the Dunstan gold rush boosted Otago s economy.192 It seems that Thomas 
and his wife were responding to an opportunity for economic and social 
advancement at a time when prospects in Melbourne and Victoria in 
general were beginning to wane. 

188 Janet Riddie persona] communication 14 June 2011 (re Lion Rock burial desire etc.). 

189 Probate file Thomas Carina (BBAE/1 569/Bo l l /296) Archives New Zealand Regional 
Office, Auckland (re details of will , estate alue - full text of will later published in 
Observer , 14 September 1895 p.14 ad ert col.3. 

190 See http://testing.shorelibraries.govt.nz/fopic eritagelMtVicBurials.php#C (accessed 
June 20 ll) for burial details of Thomas and Catherine. 

19 1 Šutalo (2004:33). 

192 Marriage births and other information pro ided in personal communication b Bernard 
Pavletich. 
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2. Pioneers: Twelve Biographies 

A portrait of Thomas Pavletich 
Source: toitu Otago Settlers Museum, Dunedin 

In 1863 Thomas took out a lease for 14 years on a house and land in (what 
Was then) Walker Street, thereby qualifying for the electoral roll of Otago s 
Pro inci al Go ernment. This property wa his first New Zealand venture 
Pavletich s Boarding House advertising 'Lodgings with wood and 

Water ... [for] 4s per week .193 Building on its success he leased a property 
(Abbeyleix House) on Maclaggan Street which became the Universal Hotel 
Cafe and Restaurant in 1867. Claiming his hotel was unexcelled in Dunedin 
for comfort (and obviously seeking a better class of guest) he offered 
recherche suppers a reading room with the latest periodicals a billiard table 
and bowling saloon and full board and residence for f 1 per week. 194 In 1872 
he wa elected to membership of the Otago Licensed Victuallers 

------------------------193 
Olago Daily Time 21 April 1864 p.8 and 16 July 1864 p.3 (re lease of property and 

advert for boarding-house, respectively). 

194 
Information on the Uni ersal Hotel and Restaurant provided by Bernard Pa letich. See 

also: (even and Bartholomew's New Zealand Directory, 186 /6 , G. Stevens and D.H. 
Bartholomew Melbourne; and adverts at various dates in Otago Daily Times, Otago Witness 
and New Zealand Tablet. 
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Foundations 

Association, and in 1873 was appointed to the Association s management 
committee. 195 

Business success, however, was paralleled by both joy and tragedy in his 
family life. In February 1864 Thomas and Anne celebrated the birth of 
Leander, their fourth child but were plunged into despair only weeks later by 
the deaths of their surviving Australian-born children - Caseimira in April 
and Bonaventura in May. It was a pattern that must have tested the fortitude 
and faith of the grieving parents over the next 12 years. Of five additional 
children born in Dunedin - Esther (1866), Mary (a.k.a. Margaret 1867) Pia 
(1869), Leonard (1871) and Benedict (1873) - only Mary and Leonard 
survived to adulthood. Esther and Pia died within a year of their births and 
Benedict at age three. 196 E en by the standards of the time this mortality rate 
was abnormally high - especially for a couple who would be counted as 
members of Dunedin s prosperous middle class. 

Perhaps a welcome distraction from the care s of family life Thomas was 
often involved as a plaintiff or defendant in both the Ma or s and 
Magistrate s court. Most of these cases, not always resolved in his favour 
were related to his business interests. They included: boarders failing to pay 
their dues' rental arrears by tenants in properties other than the hotel' a 
dispute concerning the removal of a tenant occupying leased premises' 
failing to meet rental payments for a horse' and charges for neglecting to 
sweep his chimney keeping pigs within the city boundary and for allowing 
a nuisance (heaps of rubbish) to exist on his premises. On a number of 
occasions he also ser ed as an interpreter and/or translator in cases in 01 ing 
Austrians or Italians, a service he no doubt pro ided informally for foreign 
guests at the Universal Hotel. 197 Taken together the above cases would ha e 
assured him of a certain reputation in Dunedin s conser ati e social circles 
but business was business and recourse to the law in defence of one s 

195 Otago Daily Times 5 June 1872 pA and 4 June 1873 p.2. 

196 Information on birth and death of children pro ided b Bernard Pa letich and checked 
against details for Thomas at website http://ww.anzgenealogy.com/getperson. 

197 See: OI ago Daily Times 18 October 1870 p.3 10 October 1871 p.3 and 10 January 1873 
p.3 (re boarders owing dues)' l February 1872 p.2 horse rental)' 16 Ma 1871 p.3 9 
October 1875 p.2 4 March 1876 p.3 and 11 March 1876 p.5 (re tenant rental arrears' 10 
July 1874 p.3 (lease termination)' 22 Jul 1869 p.2 20 August 1869 p.2, 25 o ember 1871 
p.3 13 March 1875 p.3 and 15 October 1875 p.2 re charges re cleaning rubbish and pigs)' 
21 April 1875 p.3 21 June 1876 p.3' and Olago Witnes 5 February 1876 p.5 (re acting as 
Court interpreter or translator). 
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2. Pioneers: Twelve Biographies 

interests (or by a local authority for the public good) could be excused if not 
applauded. 

More serious was the notoriety arising from Thomas association with or his 
public expression of views on: Irish Catholicism and naJionalism' 
immigration' the needs of the working class; and a proposal to establish a 
marine store and piggery. As a practicing Catholic with an Irish wife, 
Thomas worked in 1870 for the inauguration of a St. Patrick s Society a 
benefit society that would have a national character similar to that of the 
Caledonian Society. J98 In 1875 possibly for similar reasons, he attended a 
centenary banquet in honour of Daniel O' ConnelI, an Irish politician who 
successfully campaigned for the right of Catholics to sit in the House of 
Common s at Westminster. Both were reasonable activities though some 
Presbyterians might have had cause to object especially upon reading a letter 
Thomas wrote to the Glago Daily Times. He made clear his displeasure with 
being unable to speak at the banquet particularly as he judged the speakers 
selected to be too conservative to do justice to O Connell's memory. J99 He 
Was no less outspoken on the matter of immigration. A known ad ocate for 
the quicker cheaper immigration of workers from Australia who were 
familiar with the difficulties of colonial life , he enraged a meeting at 
Dunedin s Temperance Hall in 1875 when he dismissed many of the recent 
assisted immigrants from Britain as ' rotten stuff .200 On the needs of the 
Working class Thomas: supported a petition in 1873 from workingmen to the 
Pro inciai Assembly seeking to compel contractors to pay their employees 
weekly wages in order to provide a measure of protection against fraud by 
�~�b�s�c�o�n�d�i�n�g� or insolvent employers' lamented an increase in the price of meat 
ln 1874 which pressed 'most severely upon the working classes . and in 
1876 spoke on behalf of the poor unemployed during a meeting at the 
Universal Hotel of frremen and seamen who gathered to protest against a 
proposed reduction of wages. 20J Such views with regard to the working class 
Would have been accepted as the liberal sentiments of a champion for the 
less fortunate were it not for both his pecuniary interests as an hotelier and 
landlord and his voluble promotion of a marine store and piggery. 

-198 ----------

Olago Dai! Times 30 May 1870 p.2 (re St. Patrick's Society). 

199 

Olago Dail Times, 27 August 1875 p.3 (re O'Connell centenary). 

200 
Olago Dail Times 27 October 1875 p.2. 

201 
On Thomas s iews r working class needs, see: New Zealand Tablet 24 Ma 1873 p.7; 

Otago Dail) Time 9 October 1874 p.2· and Olago Witness 4 March 1876 p.18. 
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Foundations 

Proposed at meetings called by Thomas and held at the Universal Hotel in 
September and October 1874 the marine store and piggery was envisaged as 
a source of income and employment for the poor who could collect 
discarded clothing and other material from the streets for processing abroad. 
Organic waste would also be collected and converted into quality meat at a 
piggery, rather than being left to rot in the streets or deposited elsewhere. An 
additional benefit was that the collection of wastes would clean up the city. 
Despite some initial interest among those attending meetings and support 
from the Gtago Daily Times - which anticipated savings on waste collection 
costs, as well as the removal of hazards to the health and comfort of citizens 
- the venture as originally proposed (with a capital value of f2 ,000 in shares 
of fl each) came to nothing. Regarded by many as a noisome project it 
aroused public debate for several weeks and fostered ridicule by larrikins 
intent on taking a rise out of old Pa letich . The last meeting ended in 
upro ar and confusion with Thomas standing on a table trying to restore 
order when someone turned off the gas lea ing those present in total 
darkness.202 

Thomas Pavletich died aged 53 years at his place of residence (the 
Universal Hotel) on 30 January 1877. The cause of death was peritonitis. He 
was interred in the Roman Catholic area of Dunedin s Southern Cemetery in 
a plot among the last line of headstones along the start of Eglinton Road.203 

Overall, the picture that emerges from available records is of a man who was 
energetic enterprising politically liberal and generally respected in the 
community. Often wearing a distincti e fur cap he was an exotic source of 
interest and sometimes amusement to journalists obser ing his unguarded 
public behaviour and enthusiasm. Thomas was survived by his wife Anne 
and three children (Leander MarylMargaret and Leonard). As the sole 
beneficiary of his estate (estimated net alue of fl 500) Anne took over her 
husband's business interests including the Universal Hotel (rebuilt in 
1880/81 in response to a threatened loss of licence because of its dilapidated 
condition)204 which she managed until 1890. When Anne died aged 84 

202 For newspaper coverage of the Marine Store and Piggery proposal and debate see: Olago 
Daily Times 18 September 1874 p.3 21 September 1874 p.2 22 eptember 1874 p.2 and 5 
December 1874 p.5· Olago Witnes 3 Octob r 1874 p.l3' and Tuapeka Times 10 October 
1874p.3. 

203 Olago Daily Times, 31 January 1877 p.2. and information from Bernard Pa letich re 
cause of death and location of gra e). 

204 Probate file Thomas Pa letich DAAC/9073 2391B0 28/553) Arch i es New Zealand 
Regional Office Dunedin (for will and estate alue)' Olago Dail Times 4 June 1879 p.5 
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December 1874 p.5· atago Witnes 3 Octob r 1874 p.l3' and Tuapeka Times 10 October 
1874p.3. 

203 atago Daily Times, 31 January 1877 p.2. and information from Bernard Pa letich re 
cause of death and location of gra e). 

204 Probate file Thomas Pa letich DAAC/9073 239180 28/553) Archi es New Zealand 
Regional Office Dunedin (for will and estate alue)' atago Dail Times 4 June 1879 p.5 
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years in July 1917 she was residing with the Little Sisters of the Poor 
(Andersons Bay Dunedin), a Catholic religious order which catered for the 
frail and unfortunate. 

Giorgio (a.k.a. George) Vucetich �[�V�u�c�e�t�i�
�]�2�0�5� 

Born in May 1836 at "Lesina" (i.e. Island of Hvar) Giorgio had been a 
seafarer before his arrival in Lyttelton in 1862. He was apparently 
accompanied to New Zealand by his brother Nicolo who left shortly 
afterwards to take up residence and make his fortune in Yokahama Japan. 206 

Nothing certain is known about Giorgio's early life but we can assume that 
he followed the tradition of other young Dalmatians who found berths on 
ships plying their trade around the world. A bush worker in the Rangiora 
district during his first three years after arriving, Giorgio accepted a position 
with Mrs Sarah O Connell, Mount Grey station in 1865. Exhibiting a desire 
for independence - plus the energy and drive he became known for in later 
years - Giorgio went out on his own in 1866, selecting a 50 acre (20.23 
hectare) holding in the Cust Valley. Finding the property too limited for a 
living he supplemented his income on some occasions by driving cattle for 
Sarah O ConnelI across the Southern Alps to the goldfields of West1and via 
the Teremakau Saddie. Giorgio is thought to have been the second man to 
dri e cattle on this difficu1t and risky route' good returns apparently provided 
the incentive and encouragement needed. He was naturalised in 1869. 

In 1870 Giorgio married Annie Peebles (born 1843 in Perthshire Scotland) 
the second daughter of Peter and Rebecca Peebles who had a property just 
north of the Cust Valley. The evidence av ilable suggests that he may have 
met the Peebles family during his voyage to New Zealand. If so this could 
explain his attraction to a holding in the Cu st Valley. Within seven years 

(re dilapidated state of Universal Hotel), and ew Zealand Tablet 15 April 1881 p.ll (for 
description ofnew/rebuilt hotel). 

205 
A ke source for this biography was a clipping titjed ' Mr George Vucetich Farmer of 

?hertse dated 23 Ma 1902 from an unidentified newspaper. Efforts to trace this item ia 
Papers Past ha e been unsuccessful. This item provided by John and Shona Vucetich 

was clearl written b someone who had interviewed Giorgio or knew hirn well. It includes 
a �~�h�o�t�o� of Giorgio information on his background as a seafarer bush worker employment 
;Ith Mrs O Connell his purchase of a property in the Cust Valley, marriage to Annie 

�e�~�b�l�e�s� and his subsequent land purchases. The article has been used here as a skeleton on 
whIch to hang and flesh out details of Giorgio s life using material from other sources. 
206 

Per onal communication from George Mihaljevich Auckland. 
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Foundations 

Giorgio and Annie had four children - Matteo (born 1870) Peter (1872) 
Francesca (1875) and Margaret (1876) - no doubt responsibilities that further 
fuelled a desire to better his position with the purchase of 400 acres (161.9 
hectares) of government land on the Rakaia River plains in 1877. While it is 
not clear if he was accompanied by his wife and family Giorgio and a 
couple of other young men (Peter Doig and John Gardiner) are believed to 
have lived in a whare for some time on this land. With two more children -
Ambrosia (a.k.a. Ambrose, born 1879) and Jessie (1882) - added to his 
duties as a provider he completed the purchase of another property of about 
249 acres (100.7 hectares) near Chertsey township in 1885. Barely a decade 
later, Giorgio's wife Annie passed away (aged 51 years) in March 1894, 
leaving a well-established family207 with Jessie the youngest aged 12. 

Giorgio was successful and innovative in mixed farming and act i e ln 
various local organisations. For example as a breeder he won awards in 
November 1903 from the Ashburton Agricultural and Pastoral Association 
for his exhibits of Shropshire sheep a flock he maintained to a very high 
standard with imported sires?08 During the following year he applied (via P. 
and D. Duncan Ltd. Christchurch) for a patent for an improved turnip-puller 
and supported a move to establish the Chertsey Co-operati e Machine 
Shearing Shed of which he became a director. 209 He was also attenti e to the 
needs of young farmers. In 1884 no doubt conscious of the assistance he 
would need to give to his sons he strongly supported a proposal for the 
reduction of mortgage interest rates for young men struggling to make ends 
meet as they developed their farms.210 These attitudes values and acti ities 
echoed the communal spirit of villagers in his homeland. Beyond ongoing 
work or other activities related to his properties Giorgio also served as an 
elected member of the Rakaia Road Board the Pendarves School 

207 lnformation on the birth and names of childr n and Annie s death was pro ided b John 
and Shona Vucetjch October 20 10. 

208 Ashburton Guardian 5 No ember 1903 p.2 and p.3 (re sheep). 

209 See: Evening Post 8 No ember 1904 p.2 r in enti on ; and Ashburton Guardian 18 
March] 904 p.3 and 11 October 1904 p. re machine hearing shed). 

210 Star 30 Ju1 1884 p.3 (assistance to young farmers). 
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Committee the Chertsey Cemetery Board, and was a member or an elected 
officer of the Chertsey Sports and Racing Club for a number of years. 211 

Giorgio (George) Vucetich 
Source: Vucetich family 

�~�t� his prime during the 1880s and early 1890s Giorgio would have been an 
Imposing figure and taskmaster to his eldest sons as he tended to his sheep 
�~�d� other stock harnessed and guided draught horses hitched to various farm 
Implements coped with weather-related crop damage or losses managed his 
aCCounts and still found time for off-farm activities. But he taught his sons 
Well and mindful of their future settled Matteo and Peter on farms of their 
oWn at Willowbridge and Studholme Junction respecti ely before the end 
of the 1890s. Young Ambrose was probably given similar assistance during 
the following decade. Emulating their father s eye for good farm land and 
prospects Matteo and Peter bought a 17S-acre (70.82-hectare) property at 

---211 ----------

M See: A hburton Guardian 14 June 1890 p.2 and 5 March 1892 p.2 (re Roads Board); 13 
ay 1890 p.3 re school committee)' 12 May 1897 p.2 (re cemeter board)' 18 January 

1904 p.2 and 29 March 1910 p.4 (re sports and racing club). 
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Foundations 

f15 5s per acre in May 1900 and disposed of it for a tidy profit just three 
years later at f20 per acre?12 

Nine years after Annie s death with his four oldest children already married 
and having celebrated the birth of his first two or three grandchildren 
Giorgio (at age 67) began to scale down his endeavours. He sold a 
substantial part of the Chertsey property stock and farm implements for 
satisfactory prices in 1903 and disposed of the remainder ten years later.213 

With a history of chronic bronchitis Giorgio died on 24 October 1918 aged 
82 years, at the residence of his son Peter. As recorded in his probate file a 
substantial estate of over f15 000 was left for the trustees (sons Matteo 
Ambrose and son-in-Iaw William Hood) to divide equally among his six 
children.214 Like his wife Annie Giorgio was laid to rest in the Chertsey 
Cemetery. 

Peter Vragnizan 

Peter Vragnizan was born c.1840 at 'Citta ecchia Lesina' (i .e. Starigrad 
Island of Hvar). He was a transient pioneer resident in New Zealand for only 
ten years but long enough to warrant attention given his activities and 
achievements. Nothing defmite is known about his background but it is 
possible that he was a sailor like other pioneers. 

Peter was about 23 years of age when he arrived in 1863 a tumultuous time 
in the history of the North Island as an increasing demand for land south of 
Auckland strained relations with Maori tribes and led to an outbreak of war 
in the Waikato region. He was swom into the Auckland Volunteer Militia as 
a private in 1863 and along with 219 other militiamen selected by the 
Imperial Transport Corps for service in the Commissariat Transport Corps. 
Between January and April 1864 perhaps because of some maritime 
experience, he served on the gunboat Koheroa. A gunboat pre-fabricated in 
Australia and assembled in New Zealand the Koheroa was a highly 
manoeuvrable iron stern-wheeler with ashallow draught ideal for service 
on rivers in the Waikato region. Like other gunboats the Koheroa was used 
for reconnaissance and to tow barges loaded with troops and provisions. 

212 Timaru Herald 1 May 1900 p.2 and AshburIon Guardian 27 April 1903 p.3. 

213 Ashburton Guardian 26 May 1903 p.2 20 June 1903 p.3 27 June 1903 p.2, 30 June 
1903 p.2, 15 July 1913 p.8 and 18 Jul 1913 p.7 re sale of property in 1903 and 1913 . 

214 Probate file , Giorgio Vucetich (CAHXI_989/CH1 71!Box 231/CHI014311918) Arch i es 
New Zealand, Regional Office Christchurch. 
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These boats played a decisive role in the Waikato campaign enabling the 
commander of British forces to more easily feed and equip his men to move 
them quickly through difficult terrain and to outf1ank Maori positions.21 5 rt 
was in the course of service on the Koheroa that Peter came under fire from 
Maori in engagements at Piko Piko and Pukerimu thereby meeting the 
criteria - as a member of a colonial military force - for the New Zealand 
War Medal. He had left the Auckland Volunteer Militia when he applied for 
the medal in 1869 and it was duly awarded in May 1871.216 

Peter s career path from 1865 until 1872 is intriguing and poses a question 
for which there is (as yet) no definitive answer. A brief newspaper item in 
May 1867 places him in Auckland reporting that he was co-superintendent 
for omamentation of the reception-room at the Brunswick Hall Queen 
Street, on the occasion of a major public banquet for Governor Sir George 
Grey?17 At about the same time, Peter was married and over the following 
years three daughters - Paulina (1868), Clorinda (1869) and Annetta (1872) 
- were born to his wife Anna. 2] 8 Each child was baptised at St. Patrick' s 
Cathedra!. When he was naturalised in June 1871, Peter identified himself as 
a 'storeman residing in Albert Street, Auckland, but he was also the owner 
of a farm at the Hot Springs' (probably near Helensville) and four 
allotments at Riverhead?19 A year later however he became Signor Pietro 
Vragnizan the new lessee of the Prince of Wales Theatre (previously 
known as Brunswick Hall), a position he held until April 1873. Extensively 
altered and renovated in 1868/69 this theatre was the equal of and in direct 
competition with the Theatre Royal Auckland' s other leading venue for 
dramatic and musical performances. Given the resources and experience 
required to be a credible theatre lessee the bvious question is how could a 
YOung private in Auckland's Volunteer Militia become a theatrical 
entrepreneur within 8 years? 

215 
For full details on the gunboats see Cowan (1922:Vol. I Chapter 33). 

216 M·I· l l tary personnel file Peter Vragnizan (AD/32/Box 3111537) Arch i es New Zealand 
Head Office Wellington for details of military service and medal application). 

217 
Dai! Southern Cro s 21 May 1867 p.5 (re public banquet) and 22 May 1867 pA (re 

Brunswick Hall ornamentation). 

218 
Recorded in the w Zealand Register of Births Deaths and Marriages Department of 

Internal Affair s Wellington. See https:ll www.bdmhistoricalrecords.dia.govt.nz 

219 
Auckland tar 17 April 1873 p.2 (for details of farm other property and their sale). 
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Foundations 

The evidence currently available permits no more than a tentative answer to 
this question. Bearing this in mind it appears that Peter was lured by the call 
of the Thames goldfields and that he worked there in the Karaka locality 
(May 1868-May 1869, and August 1869-August 1870) and with a relation, 
Vincent Vragnizan, at Waikawau.220 By late 1869 Vincent had become a 
listed shareholder for registration of the Tapu Evening Star Gold Mining 
Company.221 It was not until May 1871 howe er that Peter appeared as a 
listed shareholder (50 shares worth f12S) in an application to register the 
Eureka Hill Gold-Mining Company operating at the Kuranu i SpUT near 
Thames?22 Further evidence of Peter s experience and familiarity with the 
Thames goldfields was provided in March 1873 when the Italian steam 
corvette Vettor Pisani called into Auckland. A party of the ship s officers 
visited the Thames goldfields ' accompanied b Mr. P. Vragnizan who acted 
as guide and interpreter . A guide would at the very least have to know his 
way around and have contacts in the area to ensure a successful visit. And 
successful it was' the officers visited e eral of the principal mines ... were 
very courteously received at each '" [and were J highly pleased with their 
visit".223 Had Peter made his fortune and returned to Auckland where he 
became a farmer and storeman? Did he de elop his theatrical interests and 
skills via contact with the Prince of Wales Theatre or a group of amateurs, 
whilst maintaining a stake in gold-mining. This seems to have been the case 
but definitive answers to these questions depend on more evidence coming to 
light. 

Peter was a success as lessee of the Prince of Wales Theatre. Overcoming the 
causes of poor ticket sales experienced by his predecessor he was 
complimented in Auckland s newspapers for: introducing 'neV1 dramas and 
farces never before placed on the Auckland tage' engaging the be t 
possible talent as well as 'a good and full orche tra . and for his 
investment in new scenery and mounting for plays and other 
entertainments. Even the troublesome issues of entilation and female 

220 The locations and dates cited here are based on records for Miners Rights obtained b 
Peter on IS May 1868 and 5 August 1869 (for Karaka and 11 August 1869 (for Waikawau). 
A Miner s Right was a licence costing f.l effecti e for one ear from the date of issue that 
every miner had to obtain before he could begin work in a gi en area. 

221 Daily Southern Cross 2 o ember 1869 p. - re Vincent Vragnizan s shareholding. 

222 Daily Southern Cross, 29 Ma 1871 pA (re Peter s shareholding). 

223 Auckland Star 24 March 1873 p.2 and.) l March 1873 p.2 (re Vettor Pisani and isit of 
officers to Thames goJdfields). 
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comfort were addressed with "a special constable ... engaged to prevent 
smoking in the theatre ' .224 

Well known for his urbanity and willingness to oblige, Peter was atalented 
amateur singer. His first public performances took place while lessee of the 
Prince of Wales and he quickly became popular as demonstrated in August 
1872 during a benefit evening: 

Between the plays Signor Vragnizan sang 'fl Balen" from "fl 
Trovatore " o His vocalisation žs extremely good. He was encored, and 
after responding to the call was loudly applauded.22s 

Two months later he sang the same piece in a concert held at the City Hall in 
aid of improvements to All Saints Church. Encouraged by loud calls for an 
encore he: 

oo o came forward to the satisfaction of the listeners with the exquisite 
Tu che Dio Spiegasti from the Lucia di Lammermoor, whžch was 
effecth ely rendered. The singer 's mellow tender voice rang sweetly 
through the hall and elicited loud approval?26 

However in spite of his enterprise and talent, Peter found that theatrical 
lesseeship did not pay in Auckland and "that an outlay of [f500 or f600] per 
annum as rental for the Prince of Wales Theatre [was] not a profitable 
in estment .227 He therefore decided to withdraw sell his assets and move 
abroad. It is a measure of his popularity and the respect of peers that a 
complimentary benefit was held at the Prince of Wales on the eve of his 
departure. During this event Peter sang in Auckland for the last time: 

224 

"o judging from the applause with which Signor Vragnizan was 
greeted on comingforward to sing "Her bright smile haunts me still, " 
the pla;goers of Auckland are taking leave of him with regret?28 

For details on Peter as lessee and his innovations see: Daily Southern Cross 21 
September 1872 p.2 17 October 1872 pol and 4 November 1872 po2° Auckland Star 16 
October 1872 po2. 

225 D 
ail outhern Cross 24 August 1872 po2o 

226 
Auckland tar 20 December 1872 po2o 

227 
Auckland tar 16 April 1873 po2o 

228 
Dail outhern ro s, 19 April 1873 p.2o 
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Responding to loud calls at the end of the evening he appeared with a 
graceful bow and was reported to have spoken as follows: 

Ladies, gentlemen, and brother minstreIs I am grateful to you all for 
this practical expression of your s mpath . I hall leave your city with 
some regret in connection with memories of the past few years, and 
when I reach the scene of my future labours I hope to be able to sing of 
my Auckland supporters 'Your bright smi/es haunt me still ". And when 
in Chicago, a city brimful of vices and demoralization, I am told, I 
shall often revert with pleasurable f eelings to the Prince of Wales 
Theatre ... I have disposed of my country farm, with its happy family 
of sheep, pigs and cows. I have sold m household effects .. . to the 
best advantage, but it s of no use, ladies and gentlemen, talking of 
these things the thought touches m heart and brings tears into my 
eyes. I can say no more. Farewell. Farel1 eli . 229 

With his wife Anna and daughters, Peter Vragnizan departed from Auckland 
on 19 April 1873 bound for Chicago via San Francisco on the vessel 
N e bras ka. 230 

Paul Arnerich [Pavao �A�r�n�e�r�i���]� 

Born in 1835 in Dol, Brazza (i.e. Island of �B�r�a�
�) �,� Paul Arnerich was 31 
years old when he arrived in Westland during 1866. He had previously spent 
six years working on the goldfields of Victoria mainly in the Woods Point 
area northeast of Melbourne. During his time there he was a member of the 
No.1 East Champion Quartz Mining Con1pany and in 1864 formed the 
Austrians Amalgamated Gold Mining Company of which he was the largest 
shareholder. In 1864 also, Paul bought land in the area and built the Miners 
Hote1.23l Exactly why he chose to leave Australia is unknown but his 
decision may have been prompted by dec1ining prospects in Victoria and the 

232 death of a daughter. 

Shortly after his arri al in ew Zealand Paul married Catherine Munster 
(nee McManus born 1827 in Ireland on 25 July 1867 at Hokitika. 
Catherine, previously married with two daughters had resided in Victoria 

229 Auckland Star 19 April 1873 p.2. 

230 Daily Southern Cross 21 April 1873 p.2. 

23 1 Šutalo (2004:51-52 142). 

232 Šutalo (2004:66). 

92 

Foundations 

Responding to loud calls at the end of the evening he appeared with a 
graceful bow and was reported to have spoken as follows: 

Ladies, gentlemen, and brother minstrels I am grateful to you all for 
this practical expression of your s mpath . I hall leave your city with 
some regret in connection with memories of the past few years, and 
when I reach the scene of my future labours I hope to be able to sing of 
my Auckland supporters 'Your bright smiles haunt me still ". And when 
in Chicago, a city brimful of vices and demoralization, I am told, I 
shall often revert with pleasurable f eelings to the Prince of Wales 
Theatre ... I have disposed of my country farm, with its happy family 
of sheep, pigs and cows. I have sold m household effects .. . to the 
best advantage, but it s of no use, ladies and gentlemen, talking of 
these things the thought touches m heart and brings tears into my 
eyes. I can say no more. Farewell. Farel1 ell . 229 

With his wife Anna and daughters, Peter Vragnizan departed from Auckland 
on 19 April 1873 bound for Chicago via San Francisco on the vessel 
Ne bras ka. 230 

Paul Arnerich [Pavao Arneric] 

Born in 1835 in Dol, Brazza (i.e. Island of Brac), Paul Arnerich was 31 
years old when he arrived in Westland during 1866. He had previously spent 
six years working on the goldfields of Victoria mainly in the Woods Point 
area northeast of Melbourne. During his time there he was a member of the 
No.1 East Champion Quartz Mining Con1pany and in 1864 formed the 
Austrians Amalgamated Gold Mining Company of which he was the largest 
shareholder. In 1864 also, Paul bought land in the area and built the Miners 
Hote1.231 Exactly why he chose to leave Australia is unknown but his 
decision may have been prompted by declining prospects in Victoria and the 

232 death of a daughter. 

Shortly after his arri al in ew Zealand Paul married Catherine Munster 
(nee McManus born 1827 in Ireland on 25 July 1867 at Hokitika. 
Catherine, previously married with two daughters had resided in Victoria 

229 Auckland Star 19 April 1873 p.2. 

230 Daily Southern Cross 21 April 1873 p.2. 

23 1 Sutalo (2004:51-52 142). 

232 Sutalo (2004:66). 

92 



2. Pioneers: Twelve Biographies 

Australia before moving to New Zealand in 1860. Their only child Maria 
Antoniette, was born at Goldsborough in April 1868?33 

Most of Paul' s time in Westland was spent in and around the gold-mining' 
settlement of Goldsborough, 17km northwest of Hokitika. With claims 
pegged on the areas known as Tunnel Terrace and Austrian Terrace 
(suggesting the presence of fellow Croatian miners) his working life- - either 
on his own or in partnerships - was typically one of applying for claim site 
development rights hard labour and appearing in Court to defend his 
interests or actions in relation to miners on adjoining claims. In 1876 
Moretti and Tomasi complained in the Warden's Court Goldsborough that 
Paul had for se eral weeks "run sludge and tail water into ... [their} 
dam ... and head race'. Paul' s counter complaint that Moretti and party 
were in illegal occupation and possession" of the dam concerned, was 

judged to have (no merits at all " ." 234 Such disputes were not uncommon 
between goldfield miner s who also had to cope with often fatal accidental 
injuries rudimentary living conditions, mounting debts and other hazards. 

!wo other aspects of Paul s life merit attention: first he took an active 
tnterest in his community and the welfare of residents' and second he 
provided opportunities for relatives abroad. More specifically in the early 
1880s he served on the Hokitika Hospital Committee and as a member of 
this body called attention in 1882 to a need for additional funds 'to convey a 
patient named Martolich [Giorgio Matulich, from �B�r�a�
�)� to his home in 
Europe . The Committee' agreed to subsidise the amount raised by private 
subscription ... il for il. Martolich disabled with spinal injuries in a 
mining accident in 1879 left a month later.235 With regard to relatives 
abroad Paul s success as a miner attracted and facilitated the immigration of 
Simon Arnerich (1874) and Paolo Giovanni Americh (1878) both of whom 
may ha e had previous mining experience in New South Wales and Alaska s 
Yukon Territory respectively?36 All three of them (Paul Simon and Paolo) 

�~�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-
Details of Paul s marriage Catherine s background and the birth of their daughter have 

been drawn from information compiled in 1989 by Mrs L. Pivac for the West eoast Pioneer 
Family Register : 1990 Project Grey District Library Greymouth. 

234 
West oa t Times 29 April 1876 p.2. 

235 
West oa t Time 25 April 1882 p.2 (re Paul s request to Hospital Committee) and 22 

Ma 1882 p.2 (re patient s departure for Dalmatia). For further details see Chapter I . 

236 
Included in information on Paolo and Simon compiled by Mrs L. Pi ac in 1989 for the 

West oa t Pioneer Fami! Register : 1990 Project Grey District Library Gre mouth. 

93 

2. Pioneers: Twelve Biographies 

Australia before moving to New Zealand in 1860. Their only child Maria 
Antoniette, was born at Goldsborough in April 1868?33 

Most of Paul's time in Westland was spent in and around the gold-mining' 
settlement of Goldsborough, 17km northwest of Hokitika. With claims 
pegged on the areas known as Tunnel Terrace and Austrian Terrace 
(suggesting the presence of fellow Croatian miners) his working life- - either 
on his own or in partnerships - was typically one of applying for claim site 
development rights hard labour and appearing in Court to defend his 
interests or actions in relation to miners on adjoining claims. In 1876 
Moretti and Tomasi complained in the Warden's Court Goldsborough that 
Paul had for se eral weeks "run sludge and tail water into ... [their} 
dam ... and head race'. Paul's counter complaint that Moretti and party 
were in illegal occupation and possession" of the dam concerned, was 

judged to have (no merits at all " ." 234 Such disputes were not uncommon 
between goldfield miners who also had to cope with often fatal accidental 
injuries rudimentary living conditions, mounting debts and other hazards. 

!wo other aspects of Paul s life merit attention: first he took an active 
tnterest in his community and the welfare of residents' and second he 
provided opportunities for relatives abroad. More specifically in the early 
1880s he served on the Hokitika Hospital Committee and as a member of 
this body called attention in 1882 to a need for additional funds 'to convey a 
patient named Martolich [Giorgio Matulich, from Brat) to his home in 
Europe . The Committee' agreed to subsidise the amount raised by private 
subscription ... £1 for £1. Martolich disabled with spinal injuries in a 
mining accident in 1879 left a month later.235 With regard to relatives 
abroad Paul s success as a miner attracted and facilitated the immigration of 
Simon Arnerich (1874) and Paolo Giovanni Arnerich (1878) both of whom 
may ha e had previous mining experience in New South Wales and Alaska s 
YUkon Territory respectively?36 All three of them (Paul Simon and Paolo) 

�~�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-
Details of Paul s marriage Catherine s background and the birth of their daughter have 

been drawn from information compiled in 1989 by Mrs L. Pivac for the West Coast Pioneer 
Family Register : 1990 Project Grey District Library Greymouth. 

234 
West oa t Times 29 April 1876 p.2. 

235 
West oa t Time 25 April 1882 p.2 (re Paul s request to Hospital Committee) and 22 

Ma 1882 p.2 (re patient s departure for Dalmatia). For further details see Chapter I . 

236 
Included in information on Paolo and Simon compiled by Mrs L. Pi ac in 1989 for the 

West oa t Pioneer Famil Register : 1990 Project Grey District Library Gre mouth. 

93 



Foundations 

were miners resident in Goldsborough when naturalised in August 1884 
working together before the younger men went out on their own. 

Paul was 52 years old when his daughter Maria Antoniette married John 
Stanich on 7 February 1887. Residing initially in Goldsborough Maria and 
John moved to Kumara (where Simon Arnerich lived and worked) within 
three years and by June 1895 had completed their family of five children 
(four daughters and one son).237 lt was at Kumara employed as a water 
ganger", that Paul died intestate on 18 August 1899 in his 64th year. His 
estate, administered by the Public Trustee was valued at just f104.238 

Although the Trustee s document filed 13 October 1899) makes no 
reference to Paul's family members he was sur ive d by his wife Catherine 
(who died on 9 May 1900) and their daughter Maria Antoniette. 

Raymond Poschich [Rajmund �P�o�a�
�i���]� 

Born in 1825 at Volosca' (i.e. Volosko near Rijeka) Raymond was 28 
years old when he and Fortunato Poschich deserted the shij Europa in 
Sydney in 1853 and headed for the goldfields of Victoria.23 He made a 
living there until news of good returns on the goldfields of Westland lured 
him across the Tasman Sea in 1867. Then about 42 years of age Raymond 
was one of the oldest pioneer arri als. 

Within a year or so of landing Raymond entered into what was probably a 
de facto relationship with a much younger woman called Anastatsia (a.k.a. 
Anastasia, born 1841 possibly in or near Barrytown New Zealand). O er 
the next II years either six or se en childr n wer born - four sons (Anthony 
[a.k.a. Antonio] c.1869· John [a.k.a. Gio anni] c.1870· Raymond William 
[a.k.a. Ranie] 1875' and Michael Thomas 1878) and three daughters 
(Catharina Anna, c.1867· Joanne c.1870 · Mary c.1873).24o Because the birth 
and baptismal records are neither complete nor entirely consistent it is 

237 Details on Maria Antoniette s marriage to John Stanich and their children have been 
drawn from information compiled in 1989 b Mrs L. Pivac for the West Coa t Pioneer 
Family Register: 1990 Project Gre District Library Gre mouth. 

238 Probate file Paul Arnerich (AAO 3265/60291B0x 12016679) Archi es New 
Zealand National Office Wellington (for details of Paul s death and his estate). 

239 Šutalo (2004: 171). 

240 Details of Raymond s marriage, the name and birthdates of children were pro ided in 
personal communications b Bemie Po chich. 
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possible that John (a.k.a. Giovanni) and Joanne each born c.1870 are either 
twins or one and the same person. 

In November 1878 Raymond was on the electoral role for the Brunnerton' 
Riding as a resident of Canoe Creek, and less than two years later in July 
1880 he was elected a member of a school committee for the Seventeen-Mile 
Beach district near Barrytown. 241 We can therefore assume that he" was not 
only reasonably successful, but well known and respected in the area. 
Raymond s community interests and activities extended also to local and 
national politics: in 1881 he was among those who put up a candidate for the 
Cobden Riding of Grey County· and in 1908 he was appointed to a 
supporters committee at a meeting called to secure the re-election of 
Westland s sitting MP.242 On a lighter note, it appears that Raymond shared 
an interest in horse racing with his sons. In March 1899 for example a 
pri ate match was arranged between Mr. W. Frankpitts s Waiwhero and the 
Poschich s Lady to be run on the Barrytown Beach over a distance of 1 'li 
miles 2.4km) for r5 a side.243 The race winner has not been identified. 

Throughout his working life in Westland Raymond was self-employed as a 
miner. By late 1879 if not earlier he had staked a claim not far from the 
Canoe Creek Terrace at Seventeen-Mile Beach. A report in the Grey River 
Argu described the Poschich and Sons claim as: 

'" one of [those] .. . showing large boulders anywhere that the surface 
is broken. As he [Poschich] puts a high value on his claim he must be 
fully aware of the payable nature of it?44 

Over the next few years Poschich and Sons were engaged in the development 
of their claim and related litigation. First despite an objection lodged by 
another party a successful application was made in the Warden s Court for a 
head race to bring water to the claim. Second in December 1880, Raymond 
and his eldest son Antonio were successful as plaintiffs against the owners of 
an adjoining claim. Consequently under a warrant issued from the Warden s 
Court all the right title and interest of the defendants in and to the claim 
adjoining that of the Poschich s was put up for sale by auction. Finally in 
-----------------------24 ) 

Grey River Argu 2 November 1878 p.2 (re electoral roll) and West eoast Times 13 Jul 
1880 p.2 (re school committee). 

242 

Gre River Argu 15 October 1881 p.3 and 26 October 1908 p. l. 

243 
Grey River Argu 15 March 1899 p.2. 

244 
Grey River Argu ,22 o ember 1879 p.2. 
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April 1884, they were granted rights for a dam and water race the dam being 
necessary for both water security and the olume required for effective 
sluicing?45 A newspaper article in 1885 noted that construction of a water 
race entailed a considerable outlay of money and that the claims of Poschich 
and others were all on ground that required a good deal of labour before 
success is ensured or otherwise' .246 By the mid-1880s the boom days of the 
1860s had clearly passed the population of Barrytown and its district had 
declined considerably (just two hotels two stores and several small 
businesses were sufficient to meet the needs of local residents) but a living 
could still be made with hard work. 

Naturalised in 1899 Raymond passed away on 18 September 1912 aged 87 
years, and was laid to rest in the Barrytown cemetery. He was survived by 
Anastatsia and (at least) five of their children. Named the sole beneficiary of 
three freehold sections (valued at f220) in Raymond s will Anastatsia died 
during her 76th year in February 1917 at the home of one of her daughters in 

247 Barrytown. 

Bela Singer 

Bela' s background characteristics set him apart from other Croatian pioneers 
featured here. Born c.1845 at Vuko ar on the northeastern border of Croatia 
his birthplace was far removed from the usual places of origin along the 
Adriatic coast and his parents were probably of Hungarian ethnic origin and 
members of Vukovar s Jewish community. About 25 years old upon arri al 
in 1870 he wasted no time gaining citizenship via naturalisation in August 
1874. Clearly a fellow with an eye to the future Bela moved quick1y from 
employment as a warehouseman to a middle-class position as a grocer with a 
small chain of retail outlets before a widely reported bankruptcy put an end 
to his career in New Zealand. 

Beginning with f200 Bela commenced his grocery business with the Co­
operative Store on George Street, Dunedin. Recognising the need to cater for 
a broad range of customers even if it meant a1ienating some supporters he 

245 For details on their claim de elopment and litigation see: Grey River Argus 10 
December] 879 p.2 21 December 1880 p.2 ad rt., and 1 April 1884 p.2. 

246 Grey River Argus 13 January 1885 p.4. 

247 Probate file Raymond Poschich AAO 3265/6029180 261116107) Archi es ew 
Zealand National Office, Wellington re details of Ra mond s death and estate alue)' Grey 
River Argus 22 February 1917 p.2 re Anastat ia' death. 
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successfully applied for a bottle licence in March 1876. Backing for his 
venture was provided by a silent partner - Bendix Hallenstein.248 A leader of 
the Jewish community, Hallenstein was a prominent businessman respected 
for his experience and success in retail activity, manufacturing and' 
fanning.249 Thanks to Hallenstein' s backing Bela seemed to be above 
reproach and his prospects bright. 

When Hallenstein bowed out in May 1878 he lent Bela f500, and his place 
Was taken by a new partner, William Dickson, who put in another f500. The 
finn s value at that point was about f2,400 and it began a three-year period 
of expansion? o Apart from a small hiccup in October 1878, when Bela was 
fined for having had unstamped (i.e. illegal) weights in his possession for 
several months, the frrm seemed to prosper. Indeed by the time the 
partnership with Dickson was dissolved in January 1881 (Bela thereafter 
trading on his own) the frrm had branches in Dunedin Oamaru, Timaru and 
Waimate.25l Taken at face value such growth would have encouraged the 
finn s creditors rather than giving them any cause for concern. 

Behind the scenes however, the firm's financial position was becoming e er 
more difficult. When matters eventually came to a head Bela asserted that: 
he had worked at a loss since commencing business in Dunedin . Dickson left 
With f250 when the partnership was dissolved in January 1881 while the 
balance of his initial f500 investment was written off (by Bela) as lost· and 
finally as a measure of the firm s difficulties that he had offered Dickson 
E250 just to take the business off his hands. Dickson declined the offer. 
Balance sheets dated May 1881 October 1881 and February 1882 revealed 
further losses of fl 482, fl 789 and f2 886, respectively. Seeking to remedy 
the situation he sold the original George Street store for fl 400 in June 
1882. Unfortunately this sale failed to relieve much less resolve the firm s 
financial problems. In November 1882 estimating his overall loss at f4 575 

�~�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�- �-�-�-�-�-�-
Olago Daily Time 8 March 1876 p.3 (re bottle licence application)' Otago Witness 18 

November 1882 p.2 (re BeJa's start-up capital and backing by HalIenstein). 

249 
Parry 20 10). 

250 
Olago Witnes 18 o ember 1882 p.2 (re Hallenstein lea ing Dickson joining and the 

finn s capital alu e . 

25) 

Otago Dai! Time 5 January 1881 p.3 (notice re partnership dissolution and list of 
branches). 

97 

2. Pioneers: Twelve Biographies 

successfully applied for a bottle licence in March 1876. Backing for his 
venture was provided by a silent partner - Bendix Hallenstein.248 A leader of 
the Jewish community, Hallenstein was a prominent businessman respected 
for his experience and success in retail activity, manufacturing and' 
farming.249 Thanks to Hallenstein' s backing Bela seemed to be above 
reproach and his prospects bright. 

When Hallenstein bowed out in May 1878 he lent Bela £500, and his place 
Was taken by a new partner, William Dickson, who put in another £500. The 
firm s value at that point was about £2,400 and it began a three-year period 
of expansion? 0 Apart from a small hiccup in October 1878, when Bela was 
fined for having had unstamped (i.e. illegal) weights in his possession for 
several months, the firm seemed to prosper. Indeed by the time the 
partnership with Dickson was dissolved in January 1881 (Bela thereafter 
trading on his own) the fmn had branches in Dunedin Oamaru, Timaru and 
Waimate.25I Taken at face value such growth would have encouraged the 
firm s creditors rather than giving them any cause for concern. 

Behind the scenes however, the firm's financial position was becoming e er 
more difficult. When matters eventually came to a head Bela asserted that: 
he had worked at a loss since commencing business in Dunedin' Dickson left 
With £250 when the partnership was dissolved in January 1881 while the 
balance of his initial £500 investment was written off (by Bela) as lost· and 
finally as a measure of the firm s difficulties that he had offered Dickson 
£250 just to take the business off his hands. Dickson declined the offer. 
Balance sheets dated May 1881 October 1881 and February 1882 revealed 
further losses of £1 482, £1 789 and £2 886, respectively. Seeking to remedy 
the situation he sold the original George Street store for £1 400 in June 
1882. Unfortunately this sale failed to relieve much less resolve the firm s 
financial problems. In November 1882 estimating his overall loss at £4 575 

�~�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-�-
Olago Daily Time 8 March 1876 p.3 (re bottle licence application)' Otago Witness 18 

November 1882 p.2 (re BeJa's start-up capital and backing by HalIenstein). 

249 
Parry 20 10). 

250 
Olago Witnes 18 0 ember 1882 p.2 (re Hallenstein lea ing Dickson joining and the 

firm s capital alue. 

25) 

O/ago Dail Time 5 January 1881 p.3 (notice re partnership dissolution and list of 
branches). 

97 



Foundations 

Bela finally called a meeting of creditors presenting a statement indicating 
debts of almost f15,000 and assets of f7 �0�0�0�?�~�2� 

About 30-40 creditors attended the first and subsequent meetings. 
Responding to Bela' s statement they requested he file his schedule for 
insolvency and appointed members of their group as interim trustees 
instructing them to examine the books and accounts for a report to the next 
meeting.253 Ac.ting on legal advice Bela dec1ined to file for insolvency until 
after the second meeting of creditors but he did give up his property and 
assisted the trustees with their investigation. 

The trustees' fmdings failed to ease creditor concerns and exposed maj or 
shortcomings in Bela' s business skills and practices. In particular a balance 
sheet prepared by the trustees revealed assets of f4 809 divisible among 
unsecured creditors to the extent of 8s in the fl. How this situation arose 
could not be determined because the trustees were: 

... [unJable to .find any books dealing 11 ith the accounts for the.firstfew 
years Mr Singer was in business; ... [moreover] when books were kept 
they were not kept by double entr and although Mr Singer s position 
was stated from time to time ... the statement merely consisted of a 
jotting of assets and liabilities, and failed to record the causes of his 
losses.254 

It was also found that Bela had made no pri ate settlements or asset transfers 
and, contrary to a belief that he had a finely-furnished house he lived in 
his brother-in-Iaw s house with only the bedroom furniture being his own. 

Rather than accept an implicit settlement of 8s in the fl Bela sunsecured 
creditors supported a motion for lOs in the fl (to be arranged within a few 
days), failing which bankruptcy proceedings would be initiated and Singer 
prosecuted for fraud. However Hyam Hart a friend of Bela s persuaded a 
later meeting of his fellow creditors to accept the original proposal of 8s in 
the fl - half to be paid in cash and half in bills guaranteed by persons that 

252 Otago Witness 18 ovember 1882 p.2 for all details on Bela s financial situation); 
Evening Post 3 November 1882 p.3 (re Bela s call for meeting of creditors). 

253 Otago Witness II No ember 188_ p.15 re first meeting of creditors). 

254 'Meeting of creditors Otago Witnes , 18 o ember 1882 p.2, presents a er detailed 
account of the trustees' findings as pre ented at th second meeting of creditors, discussion 
of the findings and actions proposed b the creditors. A similar length report was also 
published in the Otago Daily Time II o ember 1882 p.2. 
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2. Pioneers: Twelve Biographies 

the trustees approved.255 On 12 December 1882 the Dtago Daily Times 
reported that the Supreme Court had granted an application to annul 
bankruptcy proceedinfs, and for declaration of the complete execution of a 
deed of bankruptcy. 25 .. 

The speed with which the matter was resolved could be attributed to a desire 
to avoid the costs and further delay that a court case would entail. 'fhat said 
an Otago Witness co l umni st - under the nom de plurne ' Civis' - claimed, 
without rebuke that the creditors themselves were not without fault and 
would do well to repent. These merchants and other creditors according to 
'Civis" used Bela s finn to dispose of surplus stock (at a profit or to avoid a 
heavy loss) and did so without regard to the livelihood of other traders 
(some of whom were their customers) who complained that Bela was then 
able to sell goods at prices below those at which they themselves could 
obtain them.257 From this perspective, Bela was less the culprit and more of 
an accessory to a practice which reflected poorly upon the business acumen 
perspicacity and virtues of men who wished to be regarded as business and 
Community leaders. Would they welcome the publicity associated with a 
court case? Probably not. 

No doubt some of his former creditors we1comed the news in October 1885 
that Bela had left the Colony. He arrived in Australia in the same year and 
took up residence as a merchant in Sydney.258 

Jerome Bacovich [Jero �B�a�k�o�v�i�
�]�2�5�9� 

Born c.1856 at �N�e�r�e�~�i�a���e� on the Island of �B�r�a�
� Jerome Bacovich told 
Journalist Mathew Ferri (during a meeting in Wellington) that he was 18 
years old when he left home in 1874. Eventually landing in Auckland 

255 
Tuapeka Times 2 December 1882 p.2. 

256 
Bankruptc file Bela Singer (DAACI1 8118!D256IBox 55711 137) Archives New 

Zealand Regional Office Dunedin. 

257 
The slaughter of the innocents" Otago Witness 25 November 1882 p.18 (a critique b 

Civi s ). 

258 Š 
utalo (2004:255). 

259 
Jerome identified himself in his naturalisation documents and signed his last will and 

testament as Baco ich . ln newspaper reports he and his wife usuall appeared as 
Baco ich and sometimes as Baco itch , but journalist Matthew Ferri (in Napredak 22 

April 1908) mistakenI identified him as 'Bakotich . 
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an accessory to a practice which reflected poorly upon the business acumen 
perspicacity and virtues of men who wished to be regarded as business and 
Community leaders. Would they welcome the publicity associated with a 
court case? Probably not. 

No doubt some of his former creditors welcomed the news in October 1885 
that Bela had left the Colony. He arrived in Australia in the same year and 
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